
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

for the meeting 
on 

1 March 2023 at 
6.30 pm 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 

2

1. Stuart Collins 
2. Manju Shahul-Hameed 
3. Ellily Ponnuthurai 
4. Catherine Wilson 
5. Mohammed Islam 
6. Appu Srinivasan 
7. Clive Fraser 
8. Kola Agboola 
9. Patricia Hay-Justice 
10. Eunice O’Dame 
11. Christopher Herman 
12. Matthew Griffiths 
13. Patsy Cummings 
14. Humayan Kabir 
15. Sherwan Chowdhury 
16. Tamar Nwafor 

       17. Stella Nabukeera 
       18. Esther Sutton  
       19. Ria Patel 
       20.  
       21. Claire Bonham 
       22. Adele Benson  
       23. Luke Shortland 
       24. Endri Llabuti 
       25. Mark Johnson 
       26. Tony Pearson 
       27. Helen Redfern 
       28. Gayle Gander 
       29. Simon Fox 
       30. Holly Ramsey  
       31. Joseph Lee  
       32. Nikhil Sherine Thampi 

33. Enid Mollyneaux 
34. Chris Clark 

 

35. Amy Foster 56. Nina Degrads 
36. Brigitte Graham 57. Janet Campbell 
37. Mike Bonello 58. Callton Young 
38. Louis Carserides 59. Stuart King 
39. Sean Fitzsimons 60. Rowenna Davis (Scrutiny Chair) 
40.Leila Ben-Hassel 61. Richard Chatterjee (Scrutiny Vice-Chair) 

       41. Maddie Henson 62. Michael Neal 
42. Karen Jewitt 63. Andy Stranack 
43.   64. Scott Roche 
44.  65. Jeet Bains 
45. Fatima Zaman        66. Yvette Hopley 
46. Jade Appleton        67. Ola Kolade 

       47.Danielle Denton        68. Maria Gatland 
       48. Ian Parker        69. Jason Cummings 
       49. Simon Brew        70. Mario Creatura 
       50. Margaret Bird 
       51. Samir Dwesar 
       52. Lara Fish 
       53. Alasdair Stewart 
       54. Robert Ward 

55. Chrishni Reshekaron 

Notes etc. 
M – Civic Mayor  Councillor Alisa Flemming 
DM – Deputy Civic Mayor – Councillor Sue Bennett 
EM – Executive Mayor Jason Perry 
DEM – Deputy Executive Mayor – Councillor Lynne Hale 
Please note that the numbers relate to microphone numbers.  



 
 

 

3

To: To All Members of the Council 
 
Date: 21 February 2023 
 
 
A meeting of the COUNCIL which you are hereby summoned to attend, will be held 
on Wednesday, 1 March 2023 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX  
 
Stephen Lawrence-Orumwense 
Monitoring Officer 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Marianna Ritchie, Democratic Services 
Democratic Services 
Marianna.ritchie@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
21 February 2023 

 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, or you can view the 
webcast both live and after the meeting has completed at 
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk 
 
If you would like to record the meeting, we ask that you read the guidance on the 
recording of public meetings here before attending. 
 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact officer as detailed above.  
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings
http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
https://croydonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13507&path=0
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
  

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 To receive any apologies for absence from any Members. 

 
  

2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 26) 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 12 December 

2022 and 1 February 2023 as accurate records. 
  
 
  

3.   Disclosure of Interests  
 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 

provisions of the Localism Act, Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council are reminded that it is a requirement to register disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs) and gifts and hospitality to the value of which 
exceeds £50 or multiple gifts and/or instances of hospitality with a 
cumulative value of £50 or more when received from a single donor 
within a rolling twelve month period. In addition, Members and co-opted 
Members are reminded that unless their disclosable pecuniary interest 
is registered on the register of interests or is the subject of a pending 
notification to the Monitoring Officer, they are required to disclose those 
disclosable pecuniary interests at the meeting. This should be done by 
completing the Disclosure of Interest form and handing it to the 
Democratic Services representative at the start of the meeting. The 
Chair will then invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3. Completed disclosure forms will be 
provided to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion on the Register of 
Members’ Interests. 
  
 
  

4.   Urgent Business (if any)  
 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 

opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
 
  

5.   Announcements  
 To receive Announcements, if any, from the Mayor, the Leader, Head of 

Paid Service and Returning Officer. 
 
  

6.   The Croydon Debate  



 

 

5

 It has been proposed, in consultation with the Chair of Council, that, as 
it is in the public interest, the following petition be debated at this 
Council meeting: 
  
‘We the people of Croydon reject the imposition of a 15% council tax 
rise. 
  
We should not be asked to pay more to get less. 
  
Funding for Croydon Council from central government has been cut 
dramatically over the past 13 years, and we receive far less funding per 
person than neighbouring Lambeth. 
  
We note that the Conservative Council that left office in 2014 handed 
over around £1 billion in debt. This was increased by 50% by the Labour 
group which ran the council from 2014-22. 
  
Successive councils and successive governments are to blame for the 
current financial situation in Croydon Council. The one group that is not 
to blame is Croydon’s residents.  
  
We call on the Croydon Mayor to withdraw plans for a 15% hike in 
Council Tax in the middle of the worst fall in living standards on record.  
  
And we call on the Government to give Croydon Council the same 
funding per person as neighbouring Lambeth.’ 
 
  

7.   Review of Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 (Pages 27 - 112) 
 The Council’s Constitution: Part 4A Council Procedure Rules paragraph 

1.15 allows a Member to move a motion or amendment to the same 
effect as one rejected within the previous six months where not less 
than fifteen Members have signed a notice in support of such a motion. 
Such a notice has been received by the Monitoring Officer and as a 
result the item is required to be placed on the council agenda. 
  
 
  

8.   Croydon Pay Policy Statement 2023/24 (Pages 113 - 158) 
 To ensure that the Pay Policy Statement complies with the decision-

making requirements within the Constitution in accordance with the 
statutory guidance and the Localism Act 2011 for dealing with 



 

 

6

severance packages and Special Severance Payments and in particular 
with regard to urgency.   
 
To comply with the legal requirements for the Council, in accordance 
with sections 38 and 39 of the Localism Act 2011, to prepare and 
publish an annual Pay Policy Statement. 
 
  

9.   Scheme of Members' Allowances (Pages 159 - 204) 
 Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 

Regulations 2003, Councils each year, must approve the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme for the next financial year.  
  
 
  

10.   Council Tax and Budget Report (Pages 205 - 490) 
 The Cabinet decision on the Budget will be made at the meeting on 

Wednesday 22 February. The decision notice will be published as 
Appendix A to this report following that meeting.  
 
 

 
 
 



 
 

MINUTES of the EXTRAORDINARY MEETING of the COUNCIL, held on Monday, 12 
December 2022 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 

1NX 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Sue Bennett (Vice-Chair) 

 Councillors Kola Agboola, Jade Appleton, Jeet Bains, Leila Ben-Hassel, 
Margaret Bird, Claire Bonham, Mike Bonello, Simon Brew, Janet Campbell, 
Louis Carserides, Chris Clark, Jason Cummings, Patsy Cummings, 
Nina Degrads, Rowenna Davis, Danielle Denton, Samir Dwesar, Lara Fish, 
Sean Fitzsimons, Amy Foster, Simon Fox, Gayle Gander, Maria Gatland, 
Brigitte Graham, Griffiths, Lynne Hale, Patricia Hay-Justice, Maddie Henson, 
Christopher Herman, Yvette Hopley, Karen Jewitt, Mark Johnson, 
Humayun Kabir, Stuart King, Ola Kolade, Joseph Lee, Endri Llabuti, 
Enid Mollyneaux, Michael Neal, Tamar Nwafor, Ian Parker, Ria Patel, 
Tony Pearson, Jason Perry, Ellily Ponnuthurai, Holly Ramsey, Helen Redfern, 
Chrishni Reshekaron, Scott Roche, Manju Shahul-Hameed, Luke Shortland, 
Andy Stranack, Stewart, Esther Sutton, Catherine Wilson, Robert Ward and 
Callton Young 
 

Apologies: 
 
 
 
 
Election of 
Chair: 

Councillor Alisa Flemming, Adele Benson, Richard Chatterjee, 
Sherwan Chowdhury, Stuart Collins, Mario Creatura, Clive Fraser, 
Mohammed Islam, Stella Nabukeera, Eunice O'Dame, Nikhil Sherine Thampi 
and Appu Srinivasan 
 
Before commencement of the meeting, it was MOVED by Executive Mayor 
Jason Perry, SECONDED by Councillor Stuart King, and RESOLVED 
unanimously that Councillor Sue Bennett, Deputy Civic Mayor of Croydon, 
be appointed as Chair for the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 

  
PART A 

  
38/21   
 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 19 October 
2022, be agreed as a correct record, subject to the following amendment: 
  
That, at Minute No. 28/21 (Disclosures of Interests), it be noted that it was 
Councillor Esther Sutton that had declared an interest in respect of being a 
resident of Oval Road and not Councillor Claire Bonham as recorded. 
  
  

39/21   
 

Disclosure of Interests 
 
 
There were no declarations of interest received from Members. 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

 
 

  
40/21   
 

Section 114 (3) Report and Response 
 
 

  
  
  

Council considered a report, which set out the details of the Section 114(3) 
report issued by the Council’s Corporate Director of Resources and Section 
151 Officer (The S151 Officer).  
  
Members were asked to; a) consider the views stated in the Section 114(3) 
report; b) decide whether to agree or disagree with the views; c) consider the 
response by the Chief Executive to the S.114(3) report; and d) decide on 
proposed action to enable the Council to deliver a balanced budget for the 
2023/24 financial year and beyond and return to financial sustainability. 

  
The Deputy Civic Mayor (Vice-Chair) stated that the meeting was being held 
in accordance with Section 114 (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988, which stated that the Section 114 Reports must be considered by 
Members at a meeting of the Council within 21 days of the report being 
issued.   
  
She added that it was a further requirement that the Council must decide 
whether it agreed or disagreed with the views contained within the report and 
what action it proposed to take as a consequence. 
  
The Deputy Civic Mayor (Vice-Chair), having discussed with Members, and 
advised in the agenda of the proposed format for tonight’s main item of 
business, moved (which was duly seconded and agreed by Council) that the 
matter commence with a presentation on the report provided by the Corporate 
Director of Resources, for up to ten minutes, after which Members would have 
up to 30 minutes to ask factual questions regarding the report. Then, she said, 
the Council would move to up to 30 minutes of Member questions to the 
Executive Mayor and Executive. The meeting would, she said, conclude with 
a debate and vote on the recommendations contained in the officer’s report.  
  
The Section 151 Officer said, by way of introduction that following the serving 
of the Notice, the Council should focus on understanding its overall financial 
position, today and for the future and that the Opening the Books Project had 
been an important aspect of this. 
  
She said that although much work had also been done on identifying potential 
savings for future years and developing the Transformation Programme 
(£44m in 2023/24 – 15%), the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement had made it 
very clear that the Council was not going to be able to balance its budget in 
2023/24 or beyond.  
  
The Section 151 Officer summarised the significant issues that faced the 
Council.  She said that the Council’s current General Fund debt was £1.3bn 
and the annual cost of servicing this debt was £47m.  She said that the 
Provision for Bad Debt currently had a shortfall of at least £20m and that 

Page 8



 

 
 

parking and traffic income budgets had been overstated, which meant that 
expectations of a further increase next year, was not achievable. 

  
The Section 151 Officer went on to say that whilst Housing Benefit overspend 
had crystallised at £9m per annum, charges to the Housing Revenue Account 
had been overstated by £10m per annum.  She warned that the Council still 
had three years of outstanding accounts awaiting external audit – 2019/20, 
2020/21, 2021/22. 
  
In respect of the global and national issues that faced local government, the 
Section 151 Officer said that significant inflation pressures were continuing 
and that interest rates had increased significantly (in November 2021, the 
Bank of England base rate was 0.1% and 3% by November 2022) and 
Croydon needed to refinance up to £300m of short-term debt by April 2023). 
  
She went on to say that there was some good news in that as cost-of-living 
pressures were impacting demand, this had been recognised by the 
Government and the Chancellor’s recent budget had provided unexpected 
additional funding for 2023/24 and 2024/25 (an estimated extra £16m was 
expected next year plus additional £9m in 2024/25).  Unfortunately, this fell 
short of fixing the Council’s Budget gap. 
  
In respect of historic balance sheet issues, the Section 151 Officer pointed out 
that, in three years (2017/18 – 2019/20), the Council had borrowed £545m, 
very little of which was contributing a return on investment.  The toxic negative 
equity was estimated at £320m (the level of spend that did not create a 
physical asset) and the Council had drawn on its one-off reserves to balance 
its books until, by 2019/20 it had no reserves left and needed to start setting 
aside funding annually each year to rebuild them.  It was noted that there was 
a need for a total of £74.6m in additional Capitalisation Directions to address 
historic issues from 2019/20 to 2022/23 and that there was no clear line yet 
on Croydon Affordable Homes/Tenures (CAH), which papers were based on 
the assumptions the Council was making, of £9m charge for CAH but this 
could be £70m. 
  
The Section 151 Officer went on to provide a summary of future budget gaps. 
  
In respect of the issuing of the S114 Notice, the Section 151 Officer stated 
that the detailed work on the Medium-Term Financial Strategy had also 
identified further pressures that were detailed in the full MTFS Update report 
that went to Cabinet on 30 November.  She said that her conclusion was that, 
against this backdrop of legacy issues and future pressure, she had no choice 
but to issue a S114 Notice in respect of 2023/24 and beyond.   
  
She said it was crucial for the Council to begin negotiations with the 
Government on the options available for balancing the Council’s budget for 
future years but, most importantly, to return the Council to ongoing financial 
sustainability. 
  

Page 9



 

 
 

With regard to the impact of continuing to use capitalisation, the Section 151 
Officer said that there were not enough capital receipts to pay for 
Capitalisation Directions, therefore would require some borrowing.  She 
pointed out that debt payments were currently £47m (16% of net budget) but 
would rise significantly over next four years to between 21%-24% (typically 
the guide for Councils would be 5-10%). 
  
With regard to options being discussed with Government, the Section 151 
Officer detailed the following: 
  

         Write off or deferral of current debt 
         Spreading any MRP for the capitalisation directions over a longer 

period 
         Reducing the interest rate charged by the Public Works Loan Board on 

the Capitalisation Directions  
         Permission to increase Council Tax beyond the national cap 
         Capitalisation Directions to deal with legacy issues 
         Capitalisation Directions to smooth the transition 

  
In conclusion, the Section 151 Officer said that, with regard to the timescale 
with Government, that a high-level request had already been made to the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) setting out 
assumptions and there was a clarification period with DLUHC and 
Improvement and Assurance Panel (IAP) up to Christmas. 
  
She said that efforts were being made to try to finalise adjustments with Grant 
Thornton by Christmas and that the Provisional Local Government Settlement 
was expected on 21 December.  The finalisation of the request for support 
was due early in January and finalisation of figures from DLUHC were 
required by early February to set the Council Tax and withdraw the S114 
Notice. 
  
As agreed, there then followed a period of up to thirty minutes to put factual 
questions about the report to the Section 151 Officer. 
  
a)            In response to a question on whether the Government would permit the 

Council to raise Council Tax above 5% and what minimum and 
maximum level increase would the Administration propose, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance said that it was impossible to say now, in isolation 
and that it depended upon debt write-off and waiting to see what the 
Government’s financial package for the Council was. 

  
b)            In response to a question as to the meaning of “toxic debt” it was 

explained that the term was an analogy with banks when they had 
crashed or health services that had no assets and where the 
Government wrote-off bad debt since there was no other way of 
clearing it. 

  
c)            In response to a question as to how the directorate transformation 

project would mitigate service provision to the Borough’s most 

Page 10



 

 
 

vulnerable residents, it was advised that this would need to be 
monitored by Cabinet and CMT to make sure it was working i.e., 
reducing costs, keeping community resilience, working with partners 
across Croydon to get better outcomes for individuals and residents. 
  

d)            In response to a question as to whether the Council had the right staff 
and capability to deal with this, it was advised that the Cabinet report 
set out the programme and the support needed to deliver services.  It 
was noted that money was coming from Capital this year, £10m next 
year, reducing to £5m moving forward.  It was recognised that the 
Council did need additional resources to ensure it delivered and that, in 
future years, would need to have that capacity built in. 
  

e)            In response to a question as to why there was no itemised list or 
breakdown given re £100m savings, it was advised that this had been 
done for commercial confidentiality reasons as the Council was going 
out to market at that time.  It was further advised that it was not clear 
what assets were going to be sold and therefore did not have a full, 
item-by-item list.  With regard to what was considered as commercially 
sensitive, Members were referred to Appendix E to the Cabinet report. 
  

f)             In response to a question as to when those Council accounts, which had 
not been signed-off, were to be finalised, it was advised that, hopefully 
the 2019 accounts would be finalised by the end of March 2023; 2020 
accounts by the end of calendar year 2023 latest and that a good team 
of auditors were on site to get the job done. 
  

g)            In response to a question as to why a flat profile had been adopted as 
opposed to using the £100m in the first year of the MTFS, to being of 
greater benefit, it was advised that the profile started in 2022/23 and 
the reason why the flat profile had been chosen was because there 
had been some large numbers where it was unclear whether these 
would fall into this year or next year.  The Section 151 Officer said that 
by the time the Council was due to set its Council Tax, she would have 
a better idea but, at this moment in time, given there was a lot of 
shifting between this year, next year and the year after, she had opted 
for the flat profile. 
  

h)            In response to a question as to what legacy would this have on the 
Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA), it was advised that the 
Council required to collate those numbers as it was difficult to know 
what had happened in previous years.  It was recognised that some 
backpay would need to be paid back into the HRA reserves by way of a 
lump sum. 
  

i)             In response to a question as to how much money had been collected 
through capitalisation, it was advised that those figures were not to 
hand but there had been a mix of capital receipts and borrowing. 
  

Page 11



 

 
 

j)             In response to a question as to what effect the Notice would have on 
core services, it was advised that all core services were contracted 
because they supported vulnerable people.  It was further advised that, 
even under S114, a minimum level was always covered to protect core 
services for residents and vulnerable people and that transformation 
work was also allowed under S114 because the outcome was to 
improve the Council. 
  

k)            In response to a question as to whether there would be any impact on 
contracts, it was advised that these would have to go through that 
same control process and would be tested against 115 criteria.  It was 
noted that these were unlikely to be rejected as to do so would make 
the Council’s position worse.  It was further advised that others could 
be paused under S115. 
  

l)             In response to a question as to how much of the £10m charged to the 
HRA had been identified, it was advised that the figure was for the 
current year but was required still to be tested.  It was further advised 
that this was a very detailed piece of work but would be included in 
budget papers in February 2023. 

  
m)          In response to a question as to whether the Council was still able to 

recruit to vacant posts, it was advised that the Council was able to 
recruit to vacant posts, however these required to be tested against 
S115 criteria to make sure they fitted-in with what was required.  
  

n)            In response to a question as to whether the Opening the Books project 
would cover the £43m spent by the Council’s previous Chief Executive 
under Gold Command during the pandemic and which had not yet 
been returned to Croydon by Central Government despite promises 
made, it was advised that the Opening the Books project had not 
identified this, and officers had not yet got to the bottom of the matter.  
As the history to the matter pre-dated the arrival of the current Section 
151 Officer, she said that a response clarifying the position would be 
provided to Members by the February meeting. 

  
o)            In response to a question in respect of any impact on pensions, it was 

confirmed that there would be no impact because of the S114 Notice.   
  
p)            In response to a question as to what access Members would have so 

they could assure themselves that any new spend had been authorised 
properly, it was advised that this was a matter that would not normally 
be reported back to Members in detail since it was largely 
administrative and that the report set out the rules as to how officers 
make those decisions. 

  
q)            In response to a question as to which of the statements in the report 

was correct and which one was the Council being asked to agree, it 
was advised that the Corporate Director of Resources and Section 151 

Page 12



 

 
 

Officer would need to reach a view to be able to lift the S114 and would 
then inform the Executive Mayor to move that forward. 
  

Some supplementary questions were put and responded to accordingly. 
  

As agreed, there then followed a period of up to thirty minutes to put 
questions to the Executive Mayor and the Executive. 
  
i)             In response to a question as to whether the Executive Mayor agreed 

that residents would expect him to put differences aside as the Council 
sought a fair and sustainable future in the months to come, the 
Executive Mayor said that is Administration would, of course, listen to 
constructive proposals from Members of other parties and reminded 
the Member that his party did not support the previous administration’s 
budget and had voted against it. 
  
He added that the Council was moving forward and had initiated the 
Opening the Books project due to the failings of the previous 
administration. 
  
The Cabinet Member for Finance added that Members had been 
deceived by what had been put before them, which was why his party 
had voted against the last budget.  He echoed the sentiments of the 
Executive Mayor by welcoming positive suggestions moving forward. 
  

ii)            In response to a question as to whether there would be any action taken 
towards the toxic legacy left by the previous administration, the 
Executive Mayor said he was determined to bring to bear those 
responsible through proper channels and backed-up with the 
necessary evidence.   
  

iii)           In response to a question as to how the Council would prevent cuts to 
services etc. the Executive Mayor said that the Council’s community 
assets were important and that he was keen for the Council not to sell 
these off but instead, to reassess these and how they might be used 
moving forward. 
  

iv)          In response to a question as to whether the Executive Mayor would 
commit to a cross-party review of the Council’s governance structures, 
including scrutiny, the Executive Mayor responded by saying that he 
pledged that the political opposition would run and Chair the Council’s 
scrutiny and overview function and that a cross-party Constitution 
Working Group had been established. 
  

v)            In response to a question as to whether poor judgement had been 
shown by the Council’s officers, the Executive Mayor asked that the 
question be withdrawn and added that the budget that had been left by 
the Party to which the questioner was a member of, was not a 
balanced budget. 

  

Page 13



 

 
 

The Cabinet Member for Finance added that anyone could create a 
balanced budget when putting figures together that would never be 
achievable, and that the Administration had corrected mistakes made 
by the previous administration. 
  

vi)          In response to a question as to whether the Executive Mayor had 
agreed with the issuing of the S114 Notice, the Executive Mayor said 
that he did agree with the issuing of the Notice and entirely supported 
the Council’s statutory officer for doing so. 
  

vii)         In response to a question as to whether the relocation, nationally, of 
asylum seekers and ex-offenders made the Executive Mayor seem 
uncaring, the Executive Mayor said he was not sure he fully understood 
the question and that this matter was about other bodies putting 
additional costs on the Council.  He said that Croydon had had other 
London Boroughs place more people in Croydon over the past few 
years than it had, and that the Council could not continue to support 
wider London in this matter. 
  

viii)        In response to a question as to whether the missing £43m had been 
looked into, the Council’s Corporate Director of Resources and Section 
151 Officer said she would look into the matter since the whole process 
was about getting the Council’s finances back under control.  She said 
she hoped that Councillor Campbell could shed some light on where 
the £43m had come from. 
  

ix)          In response to a question in respect of how the Council was managed 
and what progress had been made by the Council in 2020/2021, the 
Executive Mayor said that a lot of work had been done over past two 
years, to help the Council resolve the issues, but many were still to be 
dealt with. 
  

x)            In response to a question as to what the Assurance and Improvement 
Panel thought about all of this, the Executive Mayor said that the Panel 
was working with the Council and was feeding back into Government. 

  
 Some supplementary questions were put and responded to accordingly. 

  
As agreed, Council now moved to the debate on the recommendations 
contained within the report. 
  
Executive Mayor Perry moved the recommendations in the report. 
  
He said that the S114 Notice referred to next year (not this year) and 
highlighted the scale of the challenge faced in the financial restructuring of the 
Council.  He stressed that the level of damage that had been done to the 
Council was not to be underestimated.  He said that most Local Authorities 
never had to serve a S114 Notice, yet Croydon had had three since it had 
been allowed to rack up millions of pounds in debt by playing Monopoly and 

Page 14



 

 
 

failing miserably. He said that for those who had been found to have done 
wrong should be brought to bear and as Executive Mayor, he wanted to bring 
sustainable local government back to Croydon and rebuild pride in the 
Borough. 
  
Councillor Jason Cummings (Cabinet Member for Finance) seconded the 
motion and reserved his right to speak. 
  
Councillor Stuart King, Leader of the Opposition Group, said that the Council 
was now going backwards.  He said that 12 years of austerity and the impact 
of COVID had had an effect on the Council’s finances.  Nationally, he said, 
the Government’s crashing of the economy had led to sky high inflation rates. 
  
Councillor King acknowledged that this was a shared problem and needed a 
shared solution in the interests of Croydon’s residents, who were in the middle 
of a crisis.  He said that the Council had been underfunded by £10m since 
2014 and that it was time the Council got a fairer deal from the Government in 
the settlement due later this month.  In conclusion, he said that his party was 
committed to working together in the interests of all who called Croydon 
“home”. 
  
Councillor Janet Campbell (Shadow Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care) 
said she was still deeply concerned about the Executive Mayor’s plans to help 
residents.  She asked the Executive Mayor not to close libraries and to open 
these as warm hubs.  She also asked if the Executive Mayor would chase the 
£43m due to Council and would he seek fair funding for 1,000 asylum seekers 
in hotels in Croydon.   Councillor Campbell also asked how the Executive 
Mayor would support residents through treacherous winter?     
  
Councillor Lynne Hale (Deputy (Statutory) Executive Mayor and Cabinet 
Member for Homes) said that the previous administration had also left 
housing in a terrible state and an absence of key data, with poor stock and 
maintenance etc.  She said there had been a lack of any priorities and the 
lack of respect for residents had been staggering.  Councillor Hale said it had 
been good to hear from the Housing Improvement Board about the new 
housing transformation programme.  In terms of temporary accommodation, 
she said that administration had spent millions of pounds and that the serving 
of the S114 Notice was inevitable. 
  
Councillor Callton Young OBE (Shadow Cabinet Member for Finance) said 
that he was keen to see all Members working together as this was in the best 
interests of the people of Croydon.  He said that the Conservative 
Government had cut the Council’s core grant by £81m and owed the Council 
£43m.  He said the Council would play its part and hoped that Central 
Government would do likewise. 
  
Councillor Jason Cummings (Cabinet Member for Finance), who had reserved 
his right to speak, said that it was a grave affair to have a S114 Notice 
imposed, yet alone three as was the case with Croydon.  He said that the 
issuing of the Notice was the right thing to do and the Council’s S151 Officer 

Page 15



 

 
 

had his full support for doing so.  He said the issuing of the Notice had nothing 
to do with Covid and that the Labour Group had used this as a smokescreen 
to cover its failings. 
  
Councillor Cummings went on to say that, about government funding, 
Croydon had had a raw deal but that it was not alone. 
  
Councillor Cummings went on to say that it is was not all officers’ fault and 
that there was once a code, which stated responsibility lay with Councillors.  
He said that the Labour Group should stop blaming officers as it was 
shameful and had only begun since the Group lost control of the Council. 
  
Councillor Cummings said that, in February 2020, and in the presence of 
Councillor King, he had questioned the figures and predicted a crash for this 
Council.  He said that former Leader, Councillor Newman had mocked him as 
a result.  He went on to say that the Labour Group had the opportunity to work 
together but did not offer it and said that if suggestions were brought to him, 
he would listen to them. 
  
In conclusion, Councillor Cummings said that the Council could turn this 
around and that a deal would be struck.  He warned it would be a painful 
process, but the Council would see it through. 
  
The Chair then moved to the vote on the recommendations as contained in 
the report.  She said that Council would vote on recommendations 1.1, 1.2, 
1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.6 as one and, once prompted, Members would have 20 
seconds to cast their vote via the microphone base in front of them.  
  
At the end of the vote, the Chair declared that the ayes had it and accordingly, 
it was RESOLVED that the recommendations 1.1 to 1.6 in the report, be 
approved. 
  
  
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at Time Not Specified 
 

 
Signed:   

Date:   

 

Page 16



 
 

Council 
 
 

Meeting held on Wednesday, 1 February 2023 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX 

 
MINUTES 

 
Present: 
 

Councillor Alisa Flemming (Chair); 
Councillor Sue Bennett (Vice-Chair); 

 Councillors Kola Agboola, Jade Appleton, Jeet Bains, Leila Ben-Hassel, 
Adele Benson, Margaret Bird, Claire Bonham, Mike Bonello, Simon Brew, 
Janet Campbell, Louis Carserides, Richard Chatterjee, Chris Clark, 
Stuart Collins, Mario Creatura, Jason Cummings, Patsy Cummings, 
Nina Degrads, Rowenna Davis, Danielle Denton, Samir Dwesar, Lara Fish, 
Sean Fitzsimons, Clive Fraser, Amy Foster, Simon Fox, Gayle Gander, 
Maria Gatland, Brigitte Graham, Matt Griffiths, Lynne Hale, Patricia Hay-
Justice, Maddie Henson, Christopher Herman, Yvette Hopley, 
Mohammed Islam, Mark Johnson, Humayun Kabir, Stuart King, Ola Kolade, 
Joseph Lee, Endri Llabuti, Enid Mollyneaux, Stella Nabukeera, Michael Neal, 
Tamar Nwafor, Eunice O'Dame, Ian Parker, Ria Patel, Tony Pearson, 
Jason Perry, Ellily Ponnuthurai, Holly Ramsey, Helen Redfern, 
Chrishni Reshekaron, Scott Roche, Manju Shahul-Hameed, 
Nikhil Sherine Thampi, Luke Shortland, Appu Srinivasan, Andy Stranack, 
Stewart, Esther Sutton, Catherine Wilson, Robert Ward and Callton Young 
 

Apologies: Councillor Sherwan Chowdhury and Karen Jewitt 
  

PART A 
  

14/21   
 

Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 December 2022 were agreed as an 
accurate record. 
  
  

15/21   
 

Disclosure of Interests 
 
 
There were none. 
  

16/21   
 

Urgent Business (if any) 
 
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
  
  

17/21   Announcements 

Public Document Pack

Page 17



 

 
 

  
 
The Chair MOVED the suspension of Council Procedure Rules. This was 
SECONDED by Councillor Creatura and, 
  
RESOLVED, to: 
  

1.     Reduce the amount of time allocated to Mayor and Cabinet questions 
from 1 hour 45 minutes to 1 hour 20 minutes; 

2.     Direct questions to the Mayor who would be afforded the opportunity to 
call on other members to support answering questions where 
necessary; and, 

3.     Reduce the amount of time allowed for each of the Maiden Speeches 
to a maximum of two minutes to make parity with previous meetings. 

  
18/21   
 

The Croydon Debate 
 
 
Council received a petition from the public that had achieved just under 2,000 
signatures by the deadline for submission to the meeting. Charles Barber, the 
lead member of the petition group, attended Council to put forward the case 
for the petition, and told the story of a resident who had volunteered at the 
garden centre for 31 years. Charles Barber explained that closing the garden 
centre would take away the livelihoods and sense of purpose of so many 
people, and that he hoped Council could share the vision he had of the 
garden centre, and of the place it could be for the people of Croydon. 
  
Councillor Jason Cummings, Cabinet Member for Finance, responded 
describing the financial position of the council, and stated that closures such 
as these were the personal consequences for a lot of residents. Councillor 
Cummings explained that the marking of the centre for closure was not a 
reflection on the work of the centre itself, but that the council had no choice. 
Councillor Cummings explained that more decisions like this would need to be 
forthcoming, thanks to the mistreatment of council finances by the previous 
political occupiers of the council, but that the council would try to mitigate the 
impact of the closure on the volunteers and members of the centre.  
  
Councillor Mohammed Islam thanked the resident for their passionate speech 
and recognised that they were speaking on behalf of the borough’s most 
vulnerable. Councillor Islam expressed the opinion that closing the centre 
would be to contravene members’ duty of care to those residents. Councillor 
Islam suggested thinking creatively about the use of the centre and its 
relationship with the Cherry Hub to continue to provide services that were 
needed. Councillor Islam called upon the Mayor to investigate whether there 

Page 18



 

 
 

were opportunities for the garden centre to be self-funded, rather than closing 
it. 
  
Councillor Yvette Hopley, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care, 
clarified that the Cherry Hub Day Centre was not up for closure, and assured 
residents that the excellent services for those with disabilities and autism 
would continue, and that an impact assessment on whatever decision was 
made would be undertaken.  
  

19/21   
 

Croydon Question Time 
 
 
The questions and answers were printed in the agenda ahead of the meeting. 
The first questioner did not attend, and so the Chair invited the next resident 
to ask their question, to which Mayor Jason Perry responded thanking them 
for their commitment and care to the Cherry Orchard Garden Centre. The 
Mayor also stated that a final decision had not been made on the matter. 
Charles Barber then asked why volunteers had been prevented from selling 
Christmas trees during the festive season, to which the Mayor explained he 
was not involved in the day to day running of the centre. 
  
Carolyn Kellaris asked whether Mayor found it acceptable that residents had 
been issued fines from Low Traffic Neighbourhood (LTN) schemes that were 
not fully implemented and that the Mayor did not support. The Mayor 
explained that there would be engagement with residents later in the month 
on the LTNs that had just gone live.  
  
The Chair explained that the next question, as printed in the agenda, 
breached the rules of questioning as laid out in the Constitution (Part 4A, 
Council Procedure Rules), and would therefore not be responded to at this 
meeting. 
  
The next question from Mark Samuel was followed by a supplementary 
question, in which Mark Samuel asked whether the Mayor would make a 
request to HM King Charles III to visit Croydon during the coronation year, to 
which the Mayor responded that he always welcomed a royal visit, and that 
the council was making great progress making the town centre of Croydon 
cleaner and brighter.  
  
Members of Council then asked questions of the Mayor and Cabinet 
Members, the first of which concerned the government’s plans to end 
Windrush remedy measures, to which the Mayor responded that the 
Conservative group had appointed Windrush Champions the previous year 

Page 19



 

 
 

but that the Labour group did not appoint and so the council did not run the 
scheme. 
  
In response to a question regarding the plans by Transport for London (TfL) to 
implement the Ultra Low Emissions Zone (ULEZ) into Croydon the Mayor 
expressed that he had objected to the plans and that he did not believe that it 
tackled air pollution. 
  
In response to further questions regarding the costs of running the Cherry 
Orchard Garden Centre the Mayor stated he was happy to share a breakdown 
of the costs if they were requested following the meeting. 
  
In response to a question the Mayor expressed his disappointment at seeing 
shops closing in Crystal Palace, and that the council was looking at having a 
shared prosperity fund and potentially a Business Improvement District (BID) 
in the area. The Mayor also agreed to raise the issue that ending the energy 
discount caused to businesses with the Borough Commander. 
  
In a question regarding the refusal for Levelling-Up funding that had come 
from Central Government, the Mayor confirmed that the Labour group, when 
in power, had not applied for the first round of funding. However, the Mayor 
had begun a Town Centre Advisory Board that was doing work with Westfield 
and other providers to bring skills and investment into Croydon. 
  
In response to a call for the Mayor to apologise to staff for the late 
implementation of Low Traffic Neighbourhoods (LTNs) which had seen some 
failure of the scheme, the Mayor explained that it was not the fault of council 
staff that the schemes had failed and so no apology was necessary. 
  
In response to a question about tackling homelessness the Mayor explained 
that the council was conducting a multi-agency approach and that it had re-
established the Safer Streets group to improve the situation. 
  
In response to a question about the Council Tax Support Scheme Councillor 
Jason Cummings, Cabinet Member for Finance, assured members that any 
potential increase in Council Tax payments had been modelled against the 
necessary increase in support. The Mayor added that a hardship fund was 
available for residents in need of it. 
  
In response to a question about waste management on housing estates the 
Mayor explained that a number of initiatives were going ahead to make 
improvements, such as the Housing Improvement Board, the Housing 
Transformation Panel, the Residents’ Charter, and that the new repair 
contract was being assembled in consultation with residents.  

Page 20



 

 
 

  
In response to a question about encouraging footfall in district centres the 
Mayor stated he was listening to residents on this matter, working with BIDs, 
fulfilling a key election pledge of reopening Purley Pool, and trying to improve 
the resurrected graffiti removal service. 
  
In response to a question about community funding the Mayor confirmed that 
he did not terminate the Community Fund but that it was a three-year long 
programme that had expired. The Mayor also explained that the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) existed to deliver infrastructure and development in 
the borough but could not be used to fund projects outside of this. 
  
Regarding traffic safety in Waddon Ward, the Mayor stated that TfL had 
provided funding to look at the Five Ways junction, and that the Mayor was 
putting pressure on TfL to deliver the scheme. The Mayor also expressed that 
he would be happy to meet with Waddon Ward councillors to discuss how to 
make progress. 
  
Regarding planning applications the Mayor stated that the council was 
working on a design guide that would respect the character of places in the 
borough to make residents proud of where they lived.  
  
In response to a question about what will be done with the Cherry Orchard 
Garden Centre once closed, the Mayor confirmed that assets were up for 
disposal as the council needed to offset its debt. Only once that had 
happened would the council have money to spend on more services. 
  
Regarding the negative effects of the Cost-of-Living Crisis on residents’ 
mental health the Mayor explained that lots of effort was going in to dealing 
with this. Councillor Yvette Hopley, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care, explained that the Public Health team was dedicated to this and 
that a strategy would be reviewed by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
  
In response to a question about tackling anti-social behaviour, knife crime and 
drug dealing the Mayor confirmed that he was working with the Public Space 
Protection Officers and Police, and that he was happy to meet with street 
traders to discuss their concerns.  
  
In response to whether the Norbury Library café could be leased short-term 
the Mayor explained that it was difficult to provide a service such as that 
short-term. 
  
The Mayor explained that the council was committed to improving the housing 
offer for care leavers. 

Page 21



 

 
 

  
In response to a question regarding Council Tax the Mayor explained that the 
Hardship Fund was in place to help residents who needed support but who 
fell outside of the benefits system. 
  
When asked what the Mayor was doing to ensure that the Borough of Culture 
celebrations truly reflected the diversity of Croydon the Mayor supported by 
Councillor Andy Stranack explained that there had been over 60 responses to 
the call for bids for funding to take part, and that there would be an all-
member briefing happening which members were encouraged to attend.  
  

20/21   
 

Recommendations of Cabinet or Committees to Council for decision 
 
 
The Chair of the General Purposes Committee, Councillor Amy Foster, 
introduced the report to members, asking them to note the dates that the 
committee had agreed for Council in the year 2023-24, and to approve the full 
schedule of meetings as contained in the report.  
  
It was MOVED by Councillor Foster, SECONDED by Councillor Mario 
Creatura and RESOLVED: 
  

1.     To approve the full schedule of council meetings for the municipal year 
2023-24 (Appendices A & B); and,  

2.     To note the dates of Council approved by the General Purposes 
Committee. 

  
  
  

21/21   
 

Recommendations deferred for Debate 
 
 
Mayor Jason Perry then introduced the report on the Council Tax Support 
Scheme to members. 
  
Councillor Callton Young MOVED that the recommendations be deferred for 
debate. This is SECONDED by Councillor Leila Ben-Hassel, who reserved 
her right to speak. 
  
Councillor Young stated that the recommendations proposed making financial 
savings by causing detriment to the most vulnerable, and asked how non-
working residents would be able to make ends meet if they could not work 
additional hours.  
  

Page 22



 

 
 

Councillor Jason Cummings, Cabinet Member for Finance, responded that the 
removal of the minimum income floor created a net benefit change for 
claimants. Councillor Cummings also pointed out that last year the Council 
had voted that all members of a household must contribute towards Council 
Tax, which now the same members wanted to vote against.  
  
Councillor Leila Ben-Hassel responded that difficult decisions had had to be 
made, but that residents were experiencing a cost-of-living crisis and that this 
would be too great a difficulty to add to their current financial pressures. 
Councillor Ben-Hassel also explained that, as a disabled person, she 
personally would not want to be dependent upon others under her roof to help 
pay Council Tax. 
  
Councillor Andy Stranack then spoke for the motion, explaining that those with 
disabilities should not be used as tokens for others in their households to 
benefit financially, and that the change to Council Tax would tackle the root 
causes of disabilities and enable people to display their true abilities and 
talents.  
  
The Chair then put the motion to the vote.  
  
RESOLVED, with 34 votes for and 35 against, the Chair having used their 
casting vote, to reject the proposed changes to the Council Tax Support 
Scheme and retain the existing arrangements.  
  
  
  

22/21   
 

Maiden Speeches 
 
 
Council then heard the Maiden Speeches from the following members: 
  

-        Councillor Gayle Gander, Kenley ward; 
-        Councillor Tamar Nwafor, Thornton Heath ward; 
-        Councillor Samir Dwesar, Purley and Woodcote ward; and, 
-        Councillor Elily Ponnuthurai, Waddon ward. 

  
  
  

23/21   
 

Appointments 
 
 
There were no proposed changes to appointments.  
  

24/21   Council Debate Motions 

Page 23



 

 
 

  
 
The Chair read out the Conservative Group Debate Motion, and Mayor Jason 
Perry spoke first, outlining that the Executive had objected to the proposals on 
the grounds that they were a hammer-blow to businesses and residents in 
Croydon. The Mayor argued that it would be unfair to carers and the elderly, 
and that there would be no health or environmental benefits to extending the 
ULEZ into Croydon.  
  
Councillor Mario Creatura seconded the motion and reserved his right to 
reply. 
  
Speaking in opposition to the motion Councillor Amy Foster argued that the 
benefits of extending the ULEZ would tackle health inequalities across the 
borough. Councillor Foster demonstrated that the most deprived of children 
living with asthma were 2.5 times more likely to be admitted to hospital due to 
the condition, and that chronic health problems kept children off school and 
that this had long-term economic effects on poor families. 
  
Also speaking in opposition Councillor Stuart King argued that the 
Conservative members were only in opposition to the ULEZ because the 
Mayor of London was a Labour member. Councillor King argued that 4,000 
Londoners died prematurely each year due to pollution, and that the ULEZ 
scheme had reduced pollution levels be almost half in Central London. 
Councillor King also explained that 85% of road vehicles were already ULEZ-
compliant, and so there should not be a huge financial burden put on most 
residents.  
  
Speaking on behalf of the motion Councillor Creatura explained that an 
independent report associated with ULEZ expansion showed that emissions 
would be very small and that the scheme was not backed up by data that it 
would reduce pollution in outer London. Councillor Creatura argued that it was 
not fair to push the costs of the ULEZ onto residents who were already 
struggling with the cost of living.  
  
The Chair put the motion to the vote, and Council RESOLVED, with 34 votes 
for and 35 votes against, the Chair having used their casting vote, to reject the 
Conservative Group Motion. 
  
The Chair then read out the motion submitted by the Labour Group, which 
was MOVED by Councillor Chris Clark and SECONDED by Councillor 
Rowenna Davis who reserved her right to speak.  
  

Page 24



 

 
 

Councillor Clark argued that Central Government should hear members’ 
shared intention to put regeneration of the borough back on track, and that the 
Mayor should invite the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities to speak to Croydon Council about its failed bid for funding.  
  
Councillor Jeet Bains, Cabinet Member for Planning and Regeneration, 
pointed out that the Labour group had missed the first round of funding that 
could be applied for, and also that only a handful of London councils had 
received any funding. Councillor Bains also pointed out that the Mayor was 
already in talks with the Secretary of State.  
  
Councillor Alasdair Stewart added to the observation, stating that of the 529 
bids made only 111 were successful, but also that the Mayor was already 
taking action to help improve the town centre and that there were other 
funding avenues that could be explored to help with this.  
  
Exercising her right of reply, Councillor Rowenna Davis explained that the 
Labour Group at the time of the first round of funding was advised not to bid 
by council officers, and also that the bid that was put together was solid. 
Councillor Davis argued that the Government held a bias against Croydon, 
since neighbouring borough, Sutton, did succeed in its bid. Councillor Davis 
also argued that it was this same bias that had prevented the Government so 
far from stepping in to help Croydon out of its unsustainable economic 
position.  
  
The Chair put the motion to the vote and Council RESOLVED, with 35 votes 
for and 34 votes against, the Chair having used their casting vote, to carry the 
motion put forward by the Labour Group.  
  
The Chair then MOVED that Council scheduled an extra meeting to be held. 
This was SECONDED by Councillor Creatura and RESOLVED, unanimously, 
to hold a Council meeting on Wednesday 8 March 2023.  
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 9.53 pm 
 

 
Signed:   

Date:   

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

 CABINET   
 

DATE OF DECISION 22nd February 2023 
 

REPORT TITLE: 
 

  
Review of Council Tax Support Scheme – 2023/24 

 
CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR / 
DIRECTOR:  
 

Jane West – Corporate Director of Resources and Section 
151 Officer 

 
 

LEAD OFFICER: Catherine Black – Head of Payments, Revenue and Benefits 
 

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Jason Cummings Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

KEY DECISION?  
[Insert Ref. Number if 
a Key Decision] 
 
Guidance: A Key 
Decision reference 
number will be 
allocated upon 
submission of a 
forward plan entry to 
Democratic Services. 
 
 

No 
 
 

CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  
 
(* See guidance) 
 
 

 NO 

WARDS AFFECTED:  
All 

  

These changes affect all wards but the impact is not 
significant in terms of overall numbers effected.  

 
 
 
 

   
  

 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 Proposals to change the existing Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) were considered 
by full Council on 1st February 2023 and the proposals were rejected. The reasons for 
not approving the proposals were due to the concerns around the cost-of-living crisis 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



and that at the time it was believed that increasing the income bands by CPI would 
result in increased support for residents. There were also questions raised about re 
introducing non-dependant deductions for disabled not working claimants.    
 

1.2 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) publishing the 
Local Government Settlement, setting out the funding that the Government will provide 
to all councils for the next financial year 2023/24, as part of that settlement 
announcement, DLUHC set the level of increase in council tax. For most councils in 
the country the cap is a 5% increase to council tax bills. However the Government has 
given Croydon permission to increase council tax above the 5% cap, to a maximum of 
15% cap.     
 

1.3 Part of the CTS scheme proposals that were rejected included increasing CTS scheme 
income bands in line with the Council Tax increase.  
 

1.4 In light of the recent developments, the Executive Mayor is asking Council to re-
consider proposals to change the existing CTS scheme.      

1.5 The purpose of this report is to seek approval to make changes to Croydon’s Council 
Tax Reduction (Support) Scheme (CTS) which will take effect from 1st April 2023. 

 
1.6 The Executive Mayor in Cabinet received a report in October 2022 which outline the 

principles of the proposed changes to the CTS scheme which were agreed, and that 
statutory consultation on the suggested scheme with residents and preceptors should 
take place.  

 
1.7 The consultation ran between 14th October 2021 and 1st December 2021, and having 

now considered those responses, recommendations are now being made for approval 
to make changes to the existing CTS scheme with effect from 1st April 2023 and refines 
the proposal considering the consultation responses.    

 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report and its appendices, it is proposed that the 
Executive Mayor in Cabinet recommends to Council the following changes to the 
Council Tax Support Scheme: 

 

2.1.1 Remove the application of the minimum income floor to households where 
the claimant or partner are disabled 

2.1.2  Change the rate at which the income bands are increased annually from 
the level of CPI 10.1% to the amount Council Tax is increased for that 
year which could be up to 15% cap.   
 

2.1.3  Introduce non-dependent deductions (NDD) to disabled not working 
households, except where the non-dependent is in receipt of 

Page 28



Employment Support Allowance or Limited Capability to Work, or in 
receipt of carers allowance for the claimant or partner. 

 
 

2.2 to agree The Councils Council Tax Support Scheme is amended as set out 
above, from 1 April 2023                                         

 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 In accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended, the Council 

was required to agree a local Council Tax Support scheme for working age residents who 
were on no or low income. The scheme replaced the Council Tax Benefit scheme which 
was administered by Local Authorities on behalf of the Department for Work and 
Pension. 

 
3.2 The local scheme originally introduced on 1st April 2013, was reviewed last year, and                         

changed to an income banded scheme from 1st April 2022. The scheme should be 
reviewed each year to ensure that it is an effective local Council Tax Support scheme, 
which will provide continued support to Croydon’s most vulnerable residents and 
residents who are most in need of support.    

 
 

4 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 

4.1 CTS scheme was introduced by Central Government in April 2013 as a replacement 
for the Council Tax Benefit scheme, administered on behalf of the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP). As part of the introduction the Government: 

4.1.1 Placed the duty to create a local scheme for Working Age claimants with 
local authorities 

4.1.2 Reduced initial funding by the equivalent of 10% from the level paid 
through benefit subsidy to Local Authorities under the previous Council 
Tax Benefit scheme 

4.1.3 Prescribed that person of Pension Age would be dealt with under the 
existing regulations set by Central Government and not the Local 
Authorities local scheme  

4.2 Since that time, funding for the CTS scheme has been absorbed into other Central 
Government grants paid to Local Authorities and within the Business Rates Retention 
regime.  It is now generally accepted that it is not possible to identify the amount of 
funding actually provided from Central Government sources for the CTS scheme but 
that in real terms funding to the council has continued to reduce since 2013 

4.3 The current CTS scheme created by the Council is divided into two schemes, with 
pension age claimants receiving support under the rules prescribed by Central 
Government, and the scheme for working age claimants being determined solely by 
the local authority (subject to certain criteria).  

Page 29



4.4 Pensioners, subject to their income, can receive up to 100% support towards their 
Council Tax.  The Council has no powers to change the level of support provided to 
pensioners and therefore any changes to the level of CTS can only be made to working 
age scheme.      

4.5 The working age CTS scheme was changed significantly from April 2022 and moved 
to an income banded scheme. The complexities of the old scheme, which was based 
mainly on the old council tax benefit rules, were removed and a simpler scheme was 
introduced 

4.6 The principles of the existing CTS scheme (as locally adopted) for working age  
claimants are as follows: 

4.6.1 Council Tax Support should be paid to those with minimal savings – 
residents who have Capital of more than £8,000 cannot claim (excluding 
Pensioners or disabled not working whose limit is £16,000) 

4.6.2 Council Tax Support should be property related – Residents can only 
receive Council Tax Support to a maximum of band D. 

4.6.3 Everyone should pay something - all residents will be asked to contribute 
something towards Council Tax unless they are in one of the protected 
groups i.e., pensioner or disabled not working.  

4.6.4 Everyone in the household should pay something – Other adults living in 
a household who are not the main taxpayer, or their partner will contribute 
to meeting the cost of Council Tax for the property  

4.6.5 Make Work pay – £50 income disregard for disabled working residents.  

4.6.6 Protecting the vulnerable – Residents who are working age residents who 
receive Disability Living Allowance, Personal Independence Payments or 
Employment and Support Allowance and not working receive 100% 
council tax support.  

4.7   Details of the current scheme: 

Resident 
Type 

Pensioners 
Disabled Not 

Working 
Disabled 
Working 

Income Band (All 
other residents) 

Number of 
Residents in 

Scheme 
7,917 7,378 757 10,465 

Amount of 
Capital 

Before Nil 
Entitled 

£16,000 £8,000 £8,000 

Council Tax 
Band Cap 

No 
Changes 
to this 

group of 
Residents No Band Cap Council Tax Band: D 

Page 30



Incomes 
received by 

residents 
not counted 

for the 
purposes of 
an income 

band / 
Disregarded 

100% of Child Care Costs 
100% of Child Maintenance 

100% of Universal Credit Housing Element 
50% of Carer's Allowance 

100% Personal independence 
payments/Disability living allowance  

100% child benefit 

Earned 
Income not 
counted for 

the 
purposes of 
an income 

band / 
Disregard 

N/A 
£50 per 

week 
Nil 

Non-
Dependant 
Deductions 

No non-dep 
deductions 

£5 per week non-working 
£10 up to £23,999 

£30 for £24,000 over 

Self-
Employed 

Min. 
Income 

Floor 

£186.41 per week for Lone Parents 

£297.93 per week for singe claimants and 
couples  

 

  Amount of capital before nil entitled:  The amount of capital claimants can have 
before they are not entitled to claim CTS.  This is set to £16,000 for claims where the 
claimant or partner are disabled and not working, and £8,000 for every other working 
age claim.  

 

 Council Tax Band Cap: For all working age claims, excluding those for disabled not 
working groups, the amount of council tax liability used to calculate the maximum CTS 
award is capped to a band D.  

 

 Incomes not counted for purposes of the income bands: These are a list of 
incomes that are fully ignored when calculating the income of claimants to work out how 
much CTS they should be awarded.  

 

Page 31



 Earned income not counted for the purpose of the income bands: This is the 
amount of earnings we will ignore when calculating the income of claimants to work out 
how much CTS they should be awarded. For those classified as disabled working, we 
ignore the first £50 of earned income.  For all other working age claims we include all of 
the earnings.  

 

 Non-dependant deductions: An amount deducted from the claimants CTS entitlement 
based on the income of any other adult living in the property, other than a partner.  
Deductions are taken for all working age claims other than those classed as disabled 
not working.  

 

 Self-employed minimum income floor: When a claimant has been self-employed for 
longer than a year and they declare lower than expected income, an assumed income is 
applied to CTS calculation for that self-employed resident.   

 

4.8  The income bands used currently 

 Percentage of Council Tax Liability covered by CTS 

Weekly income 
Disabled 

non-working 

Lone parents 
with a child 

under 5 All other claimants 

£0 to 100.99 100% 80% 75% 

£101 to 150.99 100% 70% 60% 

£151 to 200.99 100% 60% 40% 

£201 to 250.99 100% 50% 30% 

£251 to 300.99 100% 40% 20% 

£301 to 350.99 100% 30% 15% 

£351 to 400.99 100% 20% 10% 

£401+ 100% 0% 0% 

    

    

 

Page 32



4.9 Since the introduction of the change to an income banded scheme in April 2022, there 
have been some elements of the scheme that have been highlighted as needing review 
to make the scheme fairer to some of the vulnerable groups of residents. i.e., removing 
the application of the minimum income floor to self-employed disabled working residents.  

4.10 There is also a decision to be made regarding the level at which the income bands are 
increased   each year. The unprecedented monthly increase in CPI means that the part 
of the scheme which links the increase in income bands to the level of CPI as of 
September needs to be reviewed.   

4.11 Given the original intention that everyone in the household should contribute to the cost 
of Council tax there is an option to introduce non-dependant deduction to disabled not 
working households, excluding those non dependants who are in receipt of carers 
allowance.  

 

4.12 The executive Mayor in Cabinet is asked to agree the following principles for the 
changes to the existing scheme: - 

 

4.12.1 Remove the application of the minimum income floor to households where 
the claimant or partner are disabled 

4.12.2  Change the rate at which the income bands are increased annually from 
the level of CPI 10.1% to the amount Council Tax is increased for that 
year which could be up to 15% cap.   
 

4.12.3  Introduce non-dependent deductions (NDD) to disabled not working 
households, except where the non-dependent is in receipt of 
Employment Support Allowance or Limited Capability to Work, or in 
receipt of carers allowance for the claimant or partner. 

 
4.13 Removal of minimum income floor – This will positively affect households that have 

been classified as disabled working, and where the claimant or partner are self-
employed, and their income isn’t disregarded already under permitted earnings.  This 
change is proposed to acknowledge that where the person who is disabled is self-
employed, or their partner, there may be reasons as to why they are unable to increase 
their hours or income, and as a result we should not use assumed income that may be 
unachievable in their circumstances.  

 
4.13.1 An example of how this would affect a claim:  Claimant is self-employed 

as a hairdresser and their income is £80 per week after expenses. If we 
applied the minimum income floor, we would use assumed income of 
£297.93 per week.  If they had no other income the level of CTS they 
would get in each circumstance is very different. They would be awarded 
20% of their CTS if we used the assumed income figure, but 75% if we 
used the £80 actual income.  
 

Page 33



4.14 CPI change – This change will affect all claimants equally.  The proposal is to increase 
the income bands used within the scheme by the same percentage that we increase 
Council Tax.  This won’t be a set percentage but rather the scheme will state that the 
income bands will increase by how much London Borough of Croydon increases council 
tax each year.  We will then not need to consult on this each year. As per the Local 
Government Settlement agreement made on 6th February 2023 confirmed Council Tax 
could increase by up to 15% cap without a referendum. 

 
4.15 The current scheme states that the 50% band which is at £201.00 as of the 1st April 

2022 will increase based on the Consumer Price Index as September (10.1%) of the 
preceding year. The bands must then continue to move at £50 intervals. The bandings at 
10.1% would be as follows:  

 
Percentage of Council Tax Liability 

covered by CTS 

Weekly 
income 

Pensioners 
and 

disabled 
non-

working 

Lone 
parents 
with a 
child 

under 5 
All other 

claimants 

£0 to 
£120.99 100% 80% 75% 

£121 to 
£170.99 100% 70% 60% 

£171 to 
£220.99 100% 60% 40% 

£221 to 
£270.99 100% 50% 30% 

£271 to 
£320.99 100% 40% 20% 

£321 to 
£370.99 100% 30% 15% 

£371 to 
£420.99 100% 20% 10% 

£421+ 100% 0% 0% 

 
 

4.16 The proposal is to change the scheme to increase the income bands by the percentage 
by which Council Tax is increased, this could be up to 15% cap as per the Local 
Government Settlement on 6th February 2023.  If the scheme was changed in the 
income bands would be increased to the following amounts: 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

: 

4.17 Non-dependent deductions - One of the principles of the CTS scheme is that everyone 
in the household should pay towards council tax. Non-dependents are other adults that 
live in the property, excluding any partners.  In all other groups within the scheme a 
deduction is taken from the level of CTS entitlement based on the non-dependent’s 
income.   To implement the ‘everyone in the household should pay’ principle across all 
residents we are proposing to introduce non-dependent deductions to disabled not 
working claims.  The rate of the weekly deductions are £5 if the non-dependent is not 
working, £10 if earning up to £23,999 and £30 if earning £24,000 or over. There are 
currently 2115 claims within the disabled not working scheme that have non-dependants 
living with them. Once we remove those claims where the claimant or partner are in 
receipt of Personal Independence Payments daily living rate, Disability living allowance 
Care, or Attendance Allowance there are 440 claims remaining which could be affected 
by this change.   

 
 

 
Percentage of Council Tax Liability 

covered by CTS 

Weekly 
income 

Pensioners 
and 

disabled 
non-

working 

Lone 
parents 
with a 
child 

under 5 
All other 

claimants 

£0 to 
£130.99 100% 80% 75% 

£131 to 
£180.99 100% 70% 60% 

£181 to 
£230.99 100% 60% 40% 

£231 to 
£280.99 100% 50% 30% 

£281 to 
£330.99 100% 40% 20% 

£331 to 
£380.99 100% 30% 15% 

£381 to 
£430.99 100% 20% 10% 

£431+ 100% 0% 0% 

Page 35



4.18 An example of how the proposed change will affect entitlement for disabled not working 
claims is as follows, based on income of £260 per week, a Band C property with liability 
of £33.60 per week and a non-dependent in the property who is not working: 

 
Disabled not working claims: For disabled not working claims no matter how much their 
weekly income is and what income band they fall in too they will get 100% of their council 
tax liability covered via CTS. So, they will be awarded £33.60 per week.    Under the 
proposed changes a deduction of £5 would be taken off this award for the other adult in 
the property, reducing the CTS award to £28.60 
 
Disabled working claims: For disabled working claims the total income for the claimant 
and their partner is added up and using the income bands the percentage of CTS award 
can be calculated.  There is a £50 disregard for disabled working claims, meaning we 
would use a weekly income of £ £210.   A weekly income of £210 would mean they fall in 
to the 30% CTS award income band.   30% of their weekly council tax liability of £33.60 
would be £10.08. 
 
Income banded claims: For income banded claims there are no income disregards 
meaning we would use the full £260 as weekly income for the claim.  Weekly income of 
£260 equates to an award of CTS of 20% based on the income bands.  20% of £33.60 
would an award of £6.72 
 

  

Current 
CTS 
entitlement  

Entitlement 
after 
proposed 
changes 

Disabled not 
working  £33.60 

£28.60 

Disabled 
working  £10.08 

no change 

Income band £6.72 
no change 

 
 

4.19 Neighbouring authorities Merton, Sutton and Bromley all take non-dependent deductions 
within their CTS schemes.   

 
4.20 The proposed changes are still designed to protect the most vulnerable residents 

including disabled residents not able to work. 
 

4.21 Any income disregarded (i.e., not counted) under the current scheme will continue to be 
disregarded under the new scheme, e.g., Disability benefits such as Disability Living 
Allowance and Personal Independence Payments. Any disregards on war pensions and 
war disablement pensions will continue. 

 

Page 36



4.22 A hardship scheme consisting of a total £650k was already agreed for 2023/24 as part of 
the move to an income banded scheme in 2022/23. This amount has been ring-fenced and 
does not affect the levels of savings proposed for 2023/24 based on the options above. 
The hardship scheme will continue to be administered by the Benefits team who are best 
placed to understand household circumstances and resident’s ability to pay Council Tax       

 
5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

 

5.1  Consideration has been given to changing the non-dependent deductions from set 
amounts to a percentage of council tax liability. In practice the way the processing system 
is set up means that it is unable to tie the deductions directly to the liability amount and 
having a set figure means we can update the amount once a year and all claims will be 
updated.  Changing the deductions to a percentage of council tax would mean that a non-
dependent in a band A property would be paying much less than a non-dependent in a 
band D property, even if they had the same level of income which would make the scheme 
complex and unfair. The deduction should be based on the income of the non-dependent 
and not the property situation. 

 

5.2 Disabled not working claim if non-dependent deductions were introduced as a percentage 
of council tax liability (assumed a 20% deduction): 

 
Band A property 
Non-dependent income £15,000 – deduction set at 20% of weekly liability 
Deduction would be 20% of £25.21 = £5.04 
 
Band D property 
Non-dependent income £15,000 – deduction set at 20% of weekly liability 
Deduction would be 20% of £37.80 = £7.56 
This methodology is therefore not recommended. 
 
Instead we are proposing to add to the scheme that the level of the cash deduction is 
increased annually by the same percentage that the non-dependent deductions are 
increased for Housing Benefit. The increased figure would be updated in the system in one 
place and all the claims would be updated.  All figures are reviewed annually and this will 
form part of that process. 
 

5.3 The option of doing nothing is one that has been rejected as elements of the scheme such 
as the application of the minimum income floor need to be amended so that groups of 
residents are not adversely affected. 

 

6.CONSULTATION  

Page 37



6.1 It is important that residents and other partner’s views are taken into account and reflected 
in the final design of any changes to the CTS scheme. A full and comprehensive 
consultation allowed us to seek feedback and explore options and to further mitigate any 
negative impacts of the changes to the income banded CTS scheme. 
 

6.2  The statutory consultation ran between 14th October 2022 and 1st December 2022.   A 
full copy of the response to the consultation can be found in Appendix 1 

 
6.3  Section 13A of the Local Government Act 1992 requires the Council as the billing authority 

to make a localised Council Tax Support scheme in accordance with section 1A of the Act.  
Each financial year the council must consider whether it wants to revise the scheme, leave 
as is or replace it.  Consultation must occur on any option required to change the scheme 
prior to introduction, and is set out in Schedule 1A (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992: 

 
• Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it; 
• Publish a draft scheme in such a manner as it thinks fit; and 
• Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the operation 
of the scheme 

 
6.4  When consulting the following guiding principles for a fair consultation must have been 

adhered to 
 • At a time when the proposal are at a formative stage; 
• Include sufficient reasons to enable those consulted to give consideration and respond; 
• Awareness of the factors which are of decisive relevance to the decision; 
• Adequate time for consideration and response; and 
• The result of the consultation should be conscientiously considered by the decision 
makers when the decision is made. 
 

6.5  Consultation took place with the following: 
 
• Major Precepting Authorities – a formal request has been made for comments on the 
proposed scheme.  This was done through writing to the GLA.  They have acknowledged 
the receipt of the notification to proceed to consultation, and to date we have received no 
further formal feedback on the proposed changes.  
 
• Public – an open invitation has been given to all residents of Croydon to comment on 
the proposed new scheme, irrespective of whether they are in receipt of Council Tax 
Support or not.  We have contacted CTS recipients both working age and pension age 
residents, and we have encouraged them to respond, although it should be noted that the 
scheme for pension age claimants is prescribed by Central Government. The Council can 
only change the working age Council Tax Support scheme; and  
 
• An online survey was made available via the Council’s website, and a new web page 
was developed, we also had a comprehensive communications plan to ensure as much 
feedback as possible. 

Page 38



 

The link to the webpages and consultation is here 

 
6.6  The consultation has been publicised using our social media accounts as well as being 

publicised in community newsletters. 
 

6.7  Residents in receipt of Council Tax Support were contacted to advise them about the 
proposed changes to the Council Tax Support scheme. 

 
6.8  Other partners contacted to promote the consultation: 

Age UK Lead – Disability Croydon & Croydon Vision; 
o Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB); 
o MIND; 
o Purley Cross Community Information Centre; 
o Royal Association for Deaf (RAD) People; and 
o John Whitgift Foundation / Carers Information Service 
o Asian Resource Centre 
o South West London Law Centre 
o Money Advice Service 
 

6.9 A partner’s engagement session was held face to face in the Town Hall on Tuesday 8th 
November 2022, further details of the outcome of this meeting can be found further down 
this report in point 8.0. 

 
6.10 Approval to commence consultation by officers was agreed by Cabinet in October 

2022, to enable adequate consideration of proposals resulting from the consultation by 
December 2022, being the year prior to the scheme being implemented.   

 
6.11 In addition to formal consultation, the Council will provide information on its website as 

to the proposed changes. 
 

6.12 The Council will contact any Council Tax payers affected by these changes. 
 

6.13 RESPONSES TO CONSULTATION 
 

The consultation period resulted in 144 responses to the proposed changes. When 
Croydon Council consulted in 2021 on changing the scheme to an income banded 
scheme, 594 responses were received. It should be noted that the scale of the change 
being proposed during the previous consultation was much larger than the changes being 
proposed this time 

 
6.14 Percentage of respondents currently in receipt of Council Tax Support 

  
69% of respondents are currently in receipt of Council Tax Support, we can be confident 
that those who completed the survey will potentially be affected by any proposed 

Page 39

https://www.getinvolved.croydon.gov.uk/cts-oct22


changes. 31% of responders were not in receipt of Council Tax Support, which indicates 
a certain level of engagement from those who do not rely upon financial support to pay 
their Council Tax. 

 
 

6.15  Removing the Minimum income floor for disabled self-employed residents. 
 
When asked during the consultation if they agree or disagree with removing the minimum 
income floor for self-employed disabled claims 54% of people said they strongly or 
somewhat agreed. 26% of people said they strongly or somewhat disagreed with 
removing the minimum income floor, and 19% said they neither agreed nor disagreed 
with the proposal. 
 
 

6.16 Comments: 
 

Comments supporting the proposal 
 
• It would be more fair to disabled, self-employed residents who cannot increase 
their income 
 
• It seems fair to base support on actual income rather than 'supposed' income. I 
don't think it will affect me as I'm not disabled and my benefit is based on me being on 
Universal Credit at present; but it's good to know you might help the most disadvantaged 
with realistic assessments. 
 
• This will assist Disabled Self Employed resident's especially with the Cost of 
Living Crisis 
 
 
Comments in opposition to the proposal  
 
• Disabled people are more than capable of working more than 35 hours per week. 
 
• It's unfair for the employed 
 
• I prefer keeping the old system. The new proposals will create many issues 

 
   

6.17   Proposal to change the rate the income bands are increased annually 
 

When asked how strongly they agree or disagree with the proposal to change the 
income bands by the same rate as council tax, rather than by the level of consumer 
price index 42.5% of the respondents either strongly or somewhat agreed with the 
proposal.  36.9% either strongly or somewhat disagreed and 20.6% neither agreed, nor 

Page 40



disagreed. It should be noted that the example figures used as part of the consultation 
were 9.4% for CPI and 3% for Council Tax.   

 
6.18   Comments: 

 
Comments supporting the proposals 
 
• This seems reasonable, given that the council needs to cut costs. But it would be 
fairer to increase it by the same percentage that council tax increases. 
 
• Yes, I think this is reasonable. The world financial crisis is not the fault of the 
Council and even though your change may mean less benefit, I appreciate you have 
limited budgets too and it seems fair to make the benefit proportional to the actual 
council tax. It's hard to know at this point how it will affect me. It seems I'll get less benefit 
but it seems fair 
 
• would make life easier 
 
 
Comments in opposition to the proposal  
 
• It is only normal to increase the council tax to match cpi 
 
• Especially during the current climate, we need any support we can get, so by 
removing support only makes matters more stressful 
 
• CPI is a better reflection of overall increase in life. 
 

 
6.19 Proposal to introduce deductions for other adults in the household for disabled not 

working claims 
 

When asked how strongly they agreed or disagree with the proposal to apply a deduction 
to the amount of CTS provided to households of disabled residents where there are other 
adults 40.9% strongly or somewhat agree with the proposal. 40.1% strongly or somewhat 
disagree with the proposal and 19% neither agree nor disagree. 

 
6.20  It is worth noting that deductions have been taken in this scenario when council tax 

benefit was in payment prior to 2013, and in Council Tax Support from 2013 to 2021. 
 

6.21 Comments:  
 

Comments supporting the proposals  

 
• If adults are earning money they should all be responsible for the amount that is paid 

Page 41



as a family 
 

• We should all pay something. We get the service, at times not great 
 

• any other household income should be taken into account 
 

 

Comments opposed to the proposals 

 

• What if the other adults don’t work or can’t work very unfair. 
 

• Young people may choose to move out leaving the disabled person facing lack of 
support and financial pressure 
 

  
6.22  Demographic responses 

 
6.23 Age 

 
Out of the 144 respondents, 142 answered the questions regarding to the age of the 
respondent.1.4% were between 18-25, 35.9% were between the ages of 26-45, 26.1% 
were between the ages of 46-55. 23.2% were aged 56-65, and 9.9% were aged 66 or 
over 3.5% preferred not to declare their age.  As the changes to the scheme affect 
residents of working age, the proportion of responses reflects those who would be 
affected by any changes. 

 
6.24  The largest group of respondents were aged between 26-45, the council tax support 

caseload indicates that 34% of those who claim are between the age of 26-46 and this the 
biggest group.  This indicates that response to the consultation closely mirrors those who 
would be affected. 
 
 
 
  

6.25  Gender 
 

141 residents answered the question regarding gender, of which 63.8% confirmed they 
identified as being female, 26.2% identified as being male, 0.7% confirmed they 
identified as being non-binary, 9.2% preferred not to say what they identified their 
gender to be.   
 

Page 42



6.26  Data on gender identity is not routinely captured.  A person’s innate sense of their own 
gender, whether male, female or something else may or may not correspond to the sex 
assigned at birth.   
 

6.27 Disability  

  140 respondents confirmed whether or not they considered themselves having a disability.  
41.4% considered themselves having a disability, 44.3% answered no and 14.3% preferred 
not to say. 

6.28  84 of the above went on to declare the disability that was identified. 
 

• 8.3% were visually impaired;  
• 7.1% declared a hearing impairment; 
• 44% identified having a mobility disability;  
• 7.1% declared a learning disability;  
• 2.4% had communication difficulty;  
• 22.6% had a hidden disability; and  
• 32.1% preferred not to say  
• 13.1% stated they identified as having another disability  
 

 
6.29  Within the current caseload 31% of claimants are within a disabled scheme, this 

indicates that either the claimant or their partner are disabled. As 41.4% of respondents 
identified has having a disability the response to the consultation reflects those that may be 
effected by the changes 
 

6.30  Formal Consultation Responses  
 
Following engagement with our external partner’s we received official responses, details 
of which can be seen below 

 
6.31 Greater London Authority – GLA 

 
To date we have received no formal response from the GLA to our consultation.   
 

6.32  Partner engagement session 
 

6.33  The session was attended by representatives from MIND, South West London Law 
Centre and The Carer’s information service. 

 
6.34 There were concerns raised regarding the introduction of non-dependant deductions for 

disabled non-working households as there was a concern that the non-dependant could be 
the carer for the disabled claimant or partner. And taking a deduction for them would be 
penalising them for having caring responsibilities.  There is the option to exclude non 
dependant carers from the introduction of the non-dependant deductions. 

 

Page 43



6.35 It was asked what the rational was behind no non dependant deductions being taken on 
disabled not working claims from April 2022, when they had been taken prior to that.   It is 
understood that the thinking behind the decision was to 100% protect disabled residents 
who were unable to work. 

 
6.36 A further comment was regarding situations where the non-dependant is the person 

within the household who is disabled, and it is the claimant or partner who is self-employed. 
A suggestion was made that where it is the non-dependant that is disabled rather than the 
claimant or partner that the minimum income floor should also be removed.   In this scenario 
the CTS scheme would be classified as a standard income banded claim, and not disabled 
and therefore it would not be possible to isolate these claims to consider not applying the 
minimum income floor. 

 
6.37 OUTCOME FROM THE CONSULTATION 

 
The consultation period ended at midnight on 1st December 2022.  The outcome has 
shown that in all cases, excluding the respondents who neither agreed nor disagreed, 
the majority of people agreed with the proposed changes, although in some cases more 
strongly than others 
 

6.38 With respect to the proposed change to remove the minimum income floor over half of 
the respondents agreed with this proposal, mainly sighting that they felt it was the right thing 
to do in respect of disabled claimants. 
 

6.39 The majority of respondents said they agreed with the proposal to increase the income 
bands by the same rate as council tax rather than by CPI with the main theme of those in 
agreement being that it is understandable for the CTS level to match that of the council tax 
increase.  
  

6.40  Although the majority of respondents were in favour of introducing deductions for other 
adults in disabled not working claims, it was only by a margin of 0.8% with 19% of people 
advising they neither agreed nor disagreed with the proposal. The main theme in the 
comments from those who supported the change was that they felt it was right for everyone 
in the household to contribute 

 
6.41 REVIEW OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES AND RECOMMENDED CHANGES TO 

PROPOSED CTS SCHEME 
 
Following feedback from the consultation, there has been a change made to the 
changes being recommended. To exclude the introduction of non-dependant 
deductions where the non-dependant is in receipt of carers allowance for the claimant 
or partner.  
 
 
 
 

Page 44



7. CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 

7.1 The recommended changes will contribute to the Council priorities detailed in the 
Executive Mayors business plan.   It will help the council balance its books, specifically 
supporting the priority of getting a grip on the finances and making the council 
financially sustainable.  

7.2 By providing additional savings it will contribute to achieving a balanced budget and by 
changing the rate at which the income bands are increased it will make the scheme 
more sustainable in the future by managing the increased costs of CTS.  

 

8. IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1.1 The current CTS scheme costs £28.4m of which 80% or £22.72m is borne by the 
Council. The remaining 20% or £5.68m is attributed to the GLA.  

 
8.1.2 The impact of a possible increase in council tax of up to 15% will increase CTS 

spend.  Increasing the income bands in line with council tax could mean an additional 
£684k in expenditure to the council through increased benefit payments if the 
banding rise by 15%.  Removing the minimum income floor will result in further 
increased expenditure of £15k.   Introducing non dependant deductions alongside 
increasing the income bands by 15% would decrease the expenditure to the council 
by £493k. 

 
8.1.3 If these proposals are not agreed and we do not change the current scheme, the 

council tax income bandings will increase by 10.1%, which is the level of CPI as at 
September 2022, and assuming council tax is increased by 15%, the increase in cost 
to the Council is £222k compared to the proposed scheme.         

 
8.1.4 As we are asking some residents to pay more towards their Council Tax there is a 

risk that they may struggle to make the requested payments. To mitigate this risk, 
the Council will implement a hardship scheme to support those most in need or 
unable to pay their Council Tax. This will provide transitional support to bridge the 
gap for residents who have seen a reduction in their Council Tax Support entitlement 
as the result of the changes. In addition to this the Council have close working 
partnerships with welfare agencies e.g., Citizens Advice Bureau and Money and 
Pension Service to further support residents in need.    

 
Comments approved by Lesley Shields, The Head of Finance for Assistant Chief 
Executive and Resources on behalf of the Corporate Director of Resources. 
(17/01/2023) 

  

 
 
 

Page 45



 
 
 

9 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

9.1 The Head of Litigation and Corporate Law and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
comments on behalf of the Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
that the Council is required, under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
(‘the 1992 Act’), for each financial year, to consider whether to revise or replace 
its CTS scheme. The Council’s substantive review, detailed in this report, 
complies with this requirement. 

 
9.2 The 1992 Act provides that a billing authority’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

must include prescribed matters set out in the Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. Therefore, the Council 
is required, without any exercise of discretion, to amend the CTS Scheme, to 
reflect any changes made to those regulations. 

 

9.3 Under the 1992 Act, a decision to revise a billing authority’s scheme is required 
to be made by the authority, not its executive. This is outlined at paragraph 2.6 
of the report. 

 
 

9.4 When a billing authority decides to revise or replace its scheme it is required to 
comply with the preparation requirements set out in Schedule 1A of the 1992 
Act. This includes consulting any major precepting authority, publishing the 
draft scheme and consulting upon it. In addition, paragraph 2 of Schedule 1A 
and the 2012 Regulations specify matters which must be included in schemes, 
and make detailed provision as to the calculation of income and capital etc.  

 
9.5 The authority must make any revisions to its scheme no later than 11 March in the 

financial year preceding that for which the revised scheme is to have effect. If any 
revision to a scheme has the effect of removing or reducing a reduction to which any 
class of persons is entitled, the revision must include such transitional provision 
relating to that reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit. 

 

Insert at the end of the legal section: Comments approved by Sandra Herbert The 
Head of Litigation and Corporate Law on behalf of the Director of Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer. (Date 12/01/2023) 

 
 

10 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 

10.1 An equalities impact assessment has been completed based on the 
recommendations in this report and the outcome of the consultation.  

 
10.2 The council needs to review its scheme whilst ensuring that groups more affected by 

the changes are provided with support. 
 

Page 46



10.3 The Council recognised that some people may be affected more than others. 
The groups listed below were identified by the Council to be affected by the 
proposed changes: 

 
• Self-employed disabled residents 
• Disabled non-working households with a non-dependent resident  
• Residents aged between 26 -46 were more likely to be affected 
• Residents aged over 66 were not affected by the proposals 

 
10.4 The Council have provided a hardship fund for those affected by the changes in 

order to ease the transition between the old scheme and the new scheme. 
 

10.5  Comments approved by Denise McCausland The Equalities Manager. (Date 
10/01/2023) 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

11 No additional implications   
 

12      APPENDICES 

 1.   Full consultation results  

 2. Draft council tax support scheme document  

 3. EQIA  

13BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

  
13.1      None  

 

14URGENCY 

 

14.1To be presented at full council on 01 March 2023.  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Council tax support
consultation

SURVEY RESPONSE REPORT
08 October 2021 - 01 December 2022

PROJECT NAME:
Have your say on proposed changes to our council tax support scheme

Page 49



SURVEY QUESTIONS

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 1 of 40

Page 50



Q1  Do you currently receive council tax support?

98 (69.0%)

98 (69.0%)

44 (31.0%)

44 (31.0%)

Yes No

Question options

Optional question (142 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 2 of 40

Page 51



Q2  How strongly do you agree or disagree with our proposal to remove the minimum income

for disabled, self-employed residents?

52 (36.6%)

52 (36.6%)

25 (17.6%)

25 (17.6%)

27 (19.0%)

27 (19.0%)

5 (3.5%)

5 (3.5%)

33 (23.2%)

33 (23.2%)

Strongly agree Somewhat agree Neither agree nor disagree Somewhat disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Optional question (142 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 3 of 40

Page 52



Anonymous
10/14/2022 07:31 PM

nothing to add

Anonymous
10/14/2022 08:38 PM

It would be more fair to disabled, self employed residents who cannot

increase their income

Anonymous
10/18/2022 01:18 PM

having to look after a disabled person is dependant on the level of

disability. this should also include the aged and more support for

those charity venues that aare supporting the disabled and aged.

Anonymous
10/19/2022 03:54 PM

n/a

Anonymous
10/20/2022 03:37 PM

Taxing low-income disabled families is not the way to go, perhaps the

more wealthy should pay more,

Anonymous
10/21/2022 05:47 PM

This will assist Disabled Self Employed resident's especially with the

Cost of Living Crisis

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:31 PM

This seems to help those that need it most. It will have no effect on

me.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:48 PM

As usual those who work and contribute receive zero help!!!!

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:55 PM

Na

Anonymous
10/21/2022 08:34 PM

Benefits should not be classed as income when disabled or are

disabled related for example PIP is classed as income

Anonymous
10/21/2022 09:04 PM

People want to live there life happily and peacefully

Anonymous I work., but sometimes I can't for months so my income falls short.

Q3  Please explain your answer including any impact you feel this change may have on you:

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 4 of 40

Page 53



10/21/2022 10:15 PM

Anonymous
10/22/2022 05:09 AM

I am retired so this does not affect me

Anonymous
10/22/2022 12:18 PM

I think this is good as so often the poorest find it hard to make ends

meet.

Anonymous
10/23/2022 12:08 PM

What is best for those who need CTS should be the defining what’s

best for the finances.

Anonymous
10/23/2022 10:54 PM

Disabled people are more than capable of working more than 35

hours per week.

Anonymous
10/24/2022 09:40 AM

if someone is receiving any income this should be taken into

consideration

Anonymous
10/24/2022 03:49 PM

My partner is self employed, we have a disabled son, we receive dla

and because our tax credits went up due to receiving dla, we lost

most of our council tax support and have to pay almost all our council

tax, when in fact my partners earning are much lower than the income

floor that stand now but due to dla it takes it over the threshold. So

because my son is disabled we have to pay triple the amount of

council tax than what we were before.

Anonymous
10/26/2022 11:29 AM

pensioners mainly have fixed income. When the Counsil Tax goes up,

their pension is affected ie becoming poorer. Who do we complain.

Anonymous
10/26/2022 04:04 PM

As you state may disabled CTS recipients are unable to earn or

increase their income

Anonymous
10/30/2022 03:03 PM

Ia self emloyed and on a low incomey patnet csnnpt work

Anonymous
10/31/2022 10:01 AM

Increase council tax bill

Anonymous
10/31/2022 04:00 PM

We should do all we can to protect disabled Residents.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 5 of 40

Page 54



Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:36 AM

There is little impact on those living in a single income household who

would not fulfil this criteria.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:06 PM

I think if there is anyone receive DLA council tax should be reduced

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:07 PM

I struggle as of now with my income I receive

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

Why are the disabled paying council tax and parents that are on a low

wage...

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

I'm severely disabled person. It would badly affect on my household

incomes.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:16 PM

It’s very hard for someone who is disabled or self employed it’s hard

enough to survive now let alone have to pay more for council tax.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:18 PM

For the people who don’t have someone in there household who is

disabled but earn a different income monthly, this does not help out.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:19 PM

I don't really understand the question if I being honest.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:27 PM

It seems fair to base support on actual income rather than 'supposed'

income. I don't think it will affect me as I'm not disabled and my

benefit is based on me being on Universal Credit at present; but it's

good to know you might help the most disadvantaged with realistic

assessments.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:26 PM

Especially during the current climate, we need any support we can

get, so by removing support only makes matters more stressful

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:27 PM

Because I didn’t see much of the difference on my part.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:35 PM

Not sure how or whether this will affect me.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 6 of 40

Page 55



Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:41 PM

I only work 15hours per week because my disabilities do not allow me

to work/earn more

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:42 PM

I am unemployed but am looking to apply for a part time job. How will

this affect me?

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:58 PM

Not sure I it will affect me but disabled people like me spend more

money on energy bills

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:57 PM

I prefer keeping the old system. The new proposals will create many

issues

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:12 PM

This seems discriminatory.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:40 PM

I feel

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:50 PM

Right now people are struggling to put food on the table and having

facing a lot of difficulties to live.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:52 PM

Disability makes it hard to increase working hours

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:53 PM

I would like to receive more support

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

When I work extra hours I don’t qualify for CTS and it affect my

income

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

Some disabilities mean they can not do a lot of hours or sometimes

unpredictable when can work .so impossible to hit a certain amount of

wage.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:35 PM

It's unfair for the employed

Anonymous I'm a single claimant

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 7 of 40

Page 56



11/01/2022 09:28 PM

Anonymous
11/01/2022 09:58 PM

we will struggle a lot

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:00 PM

Unable to feed myself

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:01 PM

In the middle of a cost of living crisis we are now expected to also

accept cuts to support for the most vunerable. There is already

enormous pressure on my family and the last thing we need is to

have to pay more out because of cuts in the amount of support we

receive. Its just wrong and badly timed.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 05:29 AM

This does not affect me. I'm a single mom with 2 children in school

and a victim of domestic violence. My bill has actually gone up. I can't

afford it. Its a choice between buying food ( also high) paying energy

bills to stay warm ( also high) so that we could live everyday. There is

no provision for someone like me in this proposed change. Its already

hard on parents as we have to work around school hours which

excludes us from work that will get us off this benefit. No provision

made for that. After school clubs costs, breakfast clubs costs.... there

is no consideration of the family and children on this.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 09:24 AM

it will place more stress and strain on my finances as i would be

concerned if i earn over will i be able to afford to pay my bills in full

Anonymous
11/02/2022 09:46 AM

I think it's fair to provide support based on income and household

expenses.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 12:21 PM

I am paying three times the amount of council tax then before

seriously struggling I can not work due to my physical and mental

health so any further information and support would be beneficial to

my health as stress triggers more pain.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 01:37 PM

Hello I am a single mother, I have two children to raise. My husband

is alkoholick and live family not help. I try divorce. I work part-time

because children's go school. I don't have Family in here and eny

help. I must pay for home 1306.25£ Gas and electricity 300,water

etc..I got Universal C.For me life is not easy I try pay bills but I don't

have inaf moneys. Children's need eat and normal life but I olweys tell

now so is so sad. My council tax is BE. I so expensive for me. Now

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 8 of 40

Page 57



I'm so worry how to pay every month's 300£ Is no possible olweys I

have chois I can pay but no give food for Children's. I trying do all

good but is no easy. no chance to pay everything and deal with the

rest of such a dear life as it is now. I think change house for no band

E but because 2 children's I must take 2 bed flats etc.. but the prices

of the apartments are so high that it would be the same. I am very

afraid of not paying, but I have nothing to pay for so much expensiv

bills. my request is for any help. Thank you and so Sorry Malgorzata

Strzesak

Anonymous
11/02/2022 03:46 PM

It can be very difficult to earn £297.53 per week

Anonymous
11/02/2022 04:05 PM

it makes sense to use actual figures

Anonymous
11/02/2022 11:31 PM

Yes it will be fairer to remove the minimum wage as people with

disabilities are more often than not on minimum wage and work less

hours

Anonymous
11/03/2022 09:36 AM

The actual financial costs of managing and living with a Disability at

this time are extremely difficult. The cost of living has increased

exponentially. Removing the minimum income for disabled, self

mployed residents will just create further anger. Croydon Council

seem to be hell bent on doing this anyway. This survey is just Bantha

Fodder.

Anonymous
11/03/2022 02:32 PM

Single Disabled people like me need all the support we can get

Anonymous
11/03/2022 02:36 PM

I am not sure how it will work

Anonymous
11/03/2022 03:11 PM

would struggle

Anonymous
11/04/2022 08:15 PM

Because of this minimum income band we are struggling to pay our

council tax as our weekly income is half then your minimum

predictions

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:47 PM

PRESENTLY ANY WAY TO BENEFIT COMMUNITY IS WELCOME.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 9 of 40

Page 58



Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:58 PM

You should not use an assumed income that may be unachievable in

their circumstances.

Anonymous
11/05/2022 11:52 AM

Impact this then people on mid to low income. Unemployment should

pay sometimes, because they get same Services like rest of us...

people disability l can understand specially, some illness come on

later on life.

Anonymous
11/05/2022 03:56 PM

Disable household cannot afford the council tax paying now how

afford extra council tax ?????

Anonymous
11/07/2022 06:48 PM

Additional financial pressure on families

Anonymous
11/11/2022 12:06 AM

You shouldn't have to recieve a minimum income to qualify

Anonymous
11/11/2022 06:53 AM

No money after paying out rent biil

Anonymous
11/11/2022 07:47 PM

If you are disabled you are vulnerable at which level of disability are

you proposing- totally disagree. Self employment hopefully they won’t

swindle their books! Unclear msg the gov are sending just making life

and COL worse due to their inability to govern their country- but are

on a VERY high salary and don’t obey their own rules during covid

Anonymous
11/11/2022 08:21 PM

Sometimes you can work others times you could be on long term

sickness so your wage changes.

Anonymous
11/12/2022 02:45 AM

Based on accurate income gives an accurate account. I’m currently

receiving a pension so the sums would be accurate to what I’m

getting

Anonymous
11/12/2022 09:29 AM

I Don't understand it

Anonymous
11/14/2022 12:34 AM

I neither agree nor disagree it doesn't apply to me,my only concern is

that unemployed people should not be paying council tax on a low

income

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 10 of 40

Page 59



Anonymous
11/14/2022 01:54 PM

This is an absolute insult when all services have been cut and now

we don’t even get our bins cleared regularly!!

Anonymous
11/15/2022 09:32 PM

Absolute unfair for disabled or self employed people.

Anonymous
11/18/2022 06:52 PM

I earn £ 266 per week and paying very high amount for council tax.

Someone who earn for example £600 paying the same amount of

money for the council tax. it is not fair.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 09:43 AM

People that cannot do more shouldn't loose out.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 10:34 AM

I do not know all the details so cannot make a comment, I was not

aware that we may be able to get a rebate, I am not allowed / signed

off work due to illness at present, my husband has a pension. So will

be looking for more details.

Anonymous
11/20/2022 11:12 AM

Why would you cut support from people in the middle of a recession?

Wrong policy at the wrong time.

Anonymous
11/20/2022 07:28 PM

This proposal does not affect me but it will have a detrimental effect

on those who claim CTS.

Anonymous
11/21/2022 09:31 AM

This seems to be a fair system, it will not impact me.

Anonymous
11/22/2022 10:40 AM

I am disabled amd will not gef better. I xan not work and my partner is

my carer. You will target disabled unfairly

Katie.Edland
11/23/2022 11:00 AM

This seems fair

Anonymous
11/25/2022 08:21 PM

If they can't work more hours it's unfair to assume that is their actual

income when it could be less

Anonymous i wonder if you have considered in your calculation methodology that

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 11 of 40

Page 60



11/26/2022 07:07 AM there are many older residents who refuse to ask the state for

financial support, they may be on their own in a large home that they

dont feel able to sell since the death of a loved one (memories are all

that they have left) and cannot afford the high rate of council tax.

what about them?

Anonymous
11/27/2022 04:37 PM

I am neither the main taxpayer nor have a disabled partner. Removal

of minimum income has no impact on me as I am not working.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 08:28 AM

As someone who is Disabled and in receipt of Employment and

Support Allowance (ESA), but self-employed, under Permitted Work

Rules, I have been negatively impacted by the scheme introduced in

April 2022. I cannot understand how an Equality Impact Assessment

did not point out the impact on self-employed disabled people. I am

left wondering how, if the proposed change is made, people will prove

their income level. Will it be necessary to complete another form,

provide tax returns or something else? Would this not add further

bureaucracy? Would it not be simpler and fairer to say anyone in

receipt of ESA is automatically assumed not to be earning and

therefore provide full support as was the case under the pre-April

2022 scheme? If someone were disabled and not self-employed

would ESA still be counted towards their income? The figure given

seems incorrect, is the Minimum Income Floor not set at £332.50 with

a £50.00 discount for those in receipt of certain benefits – including

ESA – making a total assumed income of £282.50 not the figure

given above?

Anonymous
11/29/2022 12:16 PM

the adults that can pay within the household okay could pay towards

council tax, but those that are not able to, such disabled. Those on a

very low income, can only pay what they can reasonable afford

without leaving them without a household oncome to use.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 05:52 PM

I believe disabled people should not have to pay council tax at all

Anonymous
11/29/2022 10:32 PM

If it's a tiered support then I agree it should be wholly tiered. I would

prefer that everyone gets a reasonable support regardless of income

though, i.e. all eligible get the maximum

Optional question (93 response(s), 51 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 12 of 40

Page 61



Q4  How strongly do you agree or disagree with our proposal to change to the rate income

bands are increased annually?

37 (26.2%)

37 (26.2%)

23 (16.3%)

23 (16.3%)

29 (20.6%)

29 (20.6%)

14 (9.9%)

14 (9.9%)

38 (27.0%)

38 (27.0%)

Strongly agree Somewhat agree Neither agree nor disagree Somewhat disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Optional question (141 response(s), 3 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 13 of 40

Page 62



Anonymous
10/14/2022 07:31 PM

nothing to add

Anonymous
10/14/2022 08:38 PM

disagree because Ctax is already too high and putting the bands up

by any amount will cause extra hardship

Anonymous
10/18/2022 01:18 PM

The general outgoings on a property with prices rising in all area, a

suspension of raising the the cost on an annual basis should be

stopped untill the general outlook for daily cost return to a more

normal level.

Anonymous
10/19/2022 03:54 PM

n/a

Anonymous
10/20/2022 03:37 PM

9.1% pending and more significant fuel payments low-income families

will be driven deeper into poverty

Anonymous
10/21/2022 05:47 PM

I am not to sure the effect this would have

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:31 PM

This seems reasonable, given that the council needs to cut costs. But

it would be fairer to increase it by the same percentage that council

tax increases.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:48 PM

It is almost not worth it to work and be a contributor to the community

as you are always left to fend for yourself. Council tax rates are

extortionate in Croydon and who pays are always the same people

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:55 PM

For someone like. Self who does not claim any benefits is struggling

to pay for everything that has gone up.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 09:04 PM

The council Tax is already very high for example 2 bedroom house

paying £1965.84 per year. It’s very hard to pay that much amount.

Anonymous
10/22/2022 05:09 AM

It is only normal to increase the council tax to match cpi

Q5  Please explain your answer including any impact you feel this change may have on you:

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 14 of 40

Page 63



Anonymous
10/23/2022 12:08 PM

It’s not clear why you are considering this therefore shouldn’t be

considered.

Anonymous
10/23/2022 10:54 PM

This will probably mean more council tax increases. No thanks. If you

need more money then TAX THE POLLUTING NOISY SPACE-

CONSUMING CHILD-KILLING MOTORIST! THEY ARE ADDICTED

TO THEIR CARS AND WILL PAY! That means more CPZs. Why is

there STILL no parking controls in the areas surrounding Selhurst

Park on match days?? Islington have done it for years with Arsenal

games why not Croydon??

Anonymous
10/24/2022 09:40 AM

as expenses rise then bands should reflect overall costs

Anonymous
10/24/2022 03:49 PM

.

Anonymous
10/26/2022 11:29 AM

Whatever the increase, will help or not specially in present time is not

sure

Anonymous
10/26/2022 04:04 PM

CTS recipients are more likely to be impacted by high inflation than

anyone else, why penalise them? what other support could they

receive?

Anonymous
10/31/2022 04:00 PM

We should do all we can to protect Residents on lower incomes

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:36 AM

Council tax currently increases every year with no to limited impact on

the services i.e. waste collection is not optimal, libraries close, etc.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:06 PM

I think this should be based on the income

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

Low it for all that it affects..

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

N/a

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 15 of 40

Page 64



Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:16 PM

We are paying enough already. In line with other councils croydon is

very high.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:18 PM

This will help stay in line with the inflation of everything going on at

the moment.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:19 PM

I'm not really understanding this question either.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:27 PM

Yes, I think this is reasonable. The world financial crisis is not the

fault of the Council and even though your change may mean less

benefit, I appreciate you have limited budgets too and it seems fair to

make the benefit proportional to the actual council tax. It's hard to

know at this point how it will affect me. It seems I'll get less benefit but

it seems fair.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:26 PM

Especially during the current climate, we need any support we can

get, so by removing support only makes matters more stressful

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:41 PM

I don’t actually understand how this would potentially affect me!

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:42 PM

Not sure how this affect me if I get a part time job

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:51 PM

With my current council band, the council takes 10% of my income

and I'm a single parent in a single income home with two children

under 12. It is very difficult providing for my house hold .

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:57 PM

I prefer keeping the old system. The new proposals will create many

issues

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:50 PM

You have to help your residents

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

I m already struggling with my band

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

I don't understand the proposal completely I'm hoping if this has to

rise to its 3% not 9.4 . Can't afford every thing as it is.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 16 of 40

Page 65



Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:35 PM

Its unfair to orher residents

Anonymous
11/01/2022 09:28 PM

I do not understand what income bands are and why living in one

area means you get charged differently from someone living 3 streets

across.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 09:58 PM

as it is we are finding it hard to cope financially on daily bases

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:00 PM

Am not working and not managing day to day life

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:01 PM

In the middle of a cost of living crisis we are now expected to also

accept cuts to support for the most vunerable. There is already

enormous pressure on my family and the last thing we need is to

have to pay more out because of cuts in the amount of support we

receive. Its just wrong and badly timed.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 05:29 AM

This is not worded in z simple way for me to understand. In layman's

terms what does this mean to me? This is very stressful.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 09:46 AM

I think this might affect a lot of households. Considering the economy

crisis currently.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 12:21 PM

Anymore increases on council tax you will see claimants in court and

with people such as myself with mental health and other physical

health problems deteriorating due to impact of financial difficulties.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 01:37 PM

If If something changed, I would be very grateful, it would make life

easier for me and my children. It would be enough for us to eat and

live without fear.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 03:46 PM

This is a sharp increase and many will struggle to afford the price rise

Anonymous
11/02/2022 04:05 PM

It does sound good in the current situation but as changes occur and

things improve will it still be a good for us do not know how that may

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 17 of 40

Page 66



affect later changes in the services that we currently get.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 11:31 PM

It just makes sense to increase the support in line with inflation

Anonymous
11/03/2022 02:32 PM

I don’t understand how the bands are calculated

Anonymous
11/03/2022 02:36 PM

it hard enough to pay as it is

Anonymous
11/03/2022 03:11 PM

would make life easyer

Anonymous
11/04/2022 08:15 PM

In one hand you are decreasing the minimum amount and on the

other hand you are increasing the amount for other working people

this is unfair to all. Please have the old council tax support system

which was more beneficial then now. We are struggling with our

budget and income we don’t know how to survive

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:47 PM

COST OF LIVING ALL RESOURCES TO REDUCE COST IS

APPRECIATED

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:58 PM

This should increase above 3%

Anonymous
11/05/2022 11:52 AM

Impact l work part-time have osteoarthritis, some day l Good other l

bad..l have understanding employer allow me to come in to work

later..but lt come time l will be able to work.

Anonymous
11/05/2022 03:56 PM

Cannot affford any extra money for council tax as disable household

where extra money comi g from on benefits???

Anonymous
11/07/2022 06:48 PM

Additional financial pressure on families, you may have to pay out

more if and when families start to breakdown due to financial

pressure

Anonymous
11/11/2022 12:06 AM

I don't understand

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 18 of 40

Page 67



Anonymous
11/11/2022 06:53 AM

No money very low income

Anonymous
11/11/2022 07:47 PM

I’m not getting salary rise as a single mother full time job and survivor

of domestic abuse with no benefits entitlement on £23k year - in

London! And COL - I’m now suffering with anaemia severely due to

COL and the stress Gov are causing us

Anonymous
11/12/2022 02:45 AM

Because I’m on a pension, I don’t know how it would affect me

Anonymous
11/12/2022 09:29 AM

Don't get it

Anonymous
11/14/2022 12:34 AM

The bands should remain at one figure only what with the cost of

living rising daily

Anonymous
11/14/2022 01:54 PM

As I said in my last answer, if the Council provided a semblance of

any service in this God forsaken Borough then it probably would not

be so bad. Since Veolia cannot even seem arsed enough now to

collect residents’ bins the whole thing is a total disgrace!!

Anonymous
11/18/2022 06:52 PM

Iwill pay less.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 09:43 AM

Cpi is a better reflection of overall increase in life.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 10:34 AM

The bigger the house surely more you should pay. But the services

should be improved too.

Anonymous
11/20/2022 11:12 AM

Inflation is impacting household income massively through higher

food and energy bills - this policy would deny that reality by removing

eligibility for CTS from those whose incomes have not increased in

real terms

Anonymous
11/21/2022 09:31 AM

This seems to be a fair system, it will not impact me

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 19 of 40

Page 68



Anonymous
11/22/2022 10:40 AM

No comment

Katie.Edland
11/23/2022 11:00 AM

Seeing the financail situation of the council I don't see what else is

possible

Anonymous
11/26/2022 07:07 AM

Through no fault of the residents the council members and senior

employed heads of service working in the council have let Croydon

down and we are facing the third bankrupcy what a disgrace. all this

change is merely to raise more taxes from us the residents so the

money can be yet again wasted... or make up for other's mistakes.

Croydon took their eye off the ball and employed staff clearly unfit to

do the job and are hiding behind the Nolan Principles which are not

new as being suggested strongly now - too late and where are the

legal consequences who is being held to account.

Anonymous
11/27/2022 04:37 PM

I am a disabled resident and receive council tax support. Therefore,

the quantity that the council tax annually grew has an impact on me.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 08:28 AM

If the income bands only increase with Council Tax %3, inflation is at

%10 and someone’s income goes up at %9, so less than inflation but

more than Council Tax they will be placed in the next income band up

– at least – and will have their Council Tax Reduction decreased.

Given that in real terms they will have less money, due to inflation, it

seems deeply unfair to increase their Council Tax liability. I would

therefore suggest that banding should be based either on the CPI or

the Living Wage. This would seem to be a fairer basis on which to

calculate increases in the banding.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 12:16 PM

those that can pay more, a household that can afford to pay more

should.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 05:52 PM

Council tax increases should be kept to a minimum at all times

Anonymous
11/29/2022 10:32 PM

With all other costs going up, the thresholds should continue to rise in

lone with CPI

Anonymous
11/30/2022 05:04 PM

Already paying an extortionate amount for a rubbish service from the

council. Until things have drastically improved, council tax should stay

as it is

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 20 of 40

Page 69



Optional question (76 response(s), 68 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 21 of 40

Page 70



Q6  How strongly do you agree or disagree with our proposal to apply a deduction to the

amount of CTS provided to households of disabled residents where there are other adults in

the house?

37 (26.1%)

37 (26.1%)

21 (14.8%)

21 (14.8%)

27 (19.0%)

27 (19.0%)

16 (11.3%)

16 (11.3%)

41 (28.9%)

41 (28.9%)

Strongly agree Somewhat agree Neither agree nor disagree Somewhat disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Optional question (142 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 22 of 40

Page 71



Anonymous
10/14/2022 07:31 PM

nothing to add

Anonymous
10/14/2022 08:38 PM

You already take a deduction for non dependants along the financial

lines that are laid out - 5 for non working etc does this mean that non

working spouses will have to pay extra and students over the age of

18 who are still at school why make this change when the non

dependant deduction is already in existance? this proposal will only

impact familys who are not paying the non dependant deduction and

they are most likely the most deprived

Anonymous
10/18/2022 01:18 PM

This totallly depends on the family income and is not easy to make a

judgement without know the exact circumstances.

Anonymous
10/19/2022 03:54 PM

n/a

Anonymous
10/19/2022 08:42 PM

if adults are earning money they should all be responsible for the

amount that is paid as a family

Anonymous
10/20/2022 03:37 PM

by having other adults in the house if on universal credit already has

to pay for bedroom Tax.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 05:47 PM

I think this would also help if a couple

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:31 PM

It seems reasonable to do this, but the calculation seems unfair.

Surely if ther are two adults and one is disabled then the reduction

should in support should be 50% and if there are three adults one of

whom is disabled then the reduction should be 66% if you are going

to apply the principles you are referring to. But then again this seems

a bit harsh. So perhaps you should revisit your principles if you aren't

fully applying them.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:48 PM

There's never a scheme that helps people who work and pay their

bills, as if we are millionaires!!!!

Q7  Please explain your answer including any impact you feel this change may have on you:

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 23 of 40

Page 72



Anonymous
10/21/2022 10:15 PM

If disabled my children shouldn't pay they don't live with me all the

time.

Anonymous
10/22/2022 05:09 AM

This does not affect me as I have no other residents in my home

Anonymous
10/23/2022 12:08 PM

In the current economic situation reducing support is a clear indicator

that the motive of these proposals is one not of care.

Anonymous
10/23/2022 10:54 PM

Good move to encourage people into work.

Anonymous
10/24/2022 09:40 AM

any other household income should be taken into account

Anonymous
10/24/2022 03:49 PM

.

Anonymous
10/26/2022 11:29 AM

Very much

Anonymous
10/26/2022 04:04 PM

As per my previous comments any reduction will impact those who

need CTS most.

Anonymous
10/31/2022 04:00 PM

I disagree, as the Government has told us to protect disabled

Residents.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:36 AM

I don't have a view. Once again, someone may be disabled in the

household but they are likely to receive some form of support.

Besides there is an assumption that this may impact on the spending

for the household when that may not be the case.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

Again why we paying council tax???

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

All disabled people need financial help

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

I think take home pay, and other bills should be considered

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 24 of 40

Page 73



Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:16 PM

What if the other adults don’t work or can’t work very unfair.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:18 PM

Again there seems to be more help for the disabled who don’t work or

do anything than there is for the people who actually work and have

to be doing more hours or having more than one job at a time.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:19 PM

This question I'm not understanding either.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:27 PM

This won't affect me personally as I'm a single occupier. But it seems

fair that all adults in a household should contribute towards council

tax, proportionally to their means. My only caution is that those means

are properly and fairly assessed. The one thing that doesn't sound

good is that the main taxpayer gets a £5 reduction in benefit even if

the other adult is not working. This could be quite punitive as the non-

working adult may not be in a position to contribute anything,

struggling themselves to get by. I'd be against that' but certainly

reasonable to apply a deduction when there are other working adults

in the household.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:26 PM

Especially during the current climate, we need any support we can

get, so by removing support only makes matters more stressful

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:41 PM

This would probably not affect me - I have an adult working child

living at my residence but I work myself pert time

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:42 PM

The deduction is very low and i would like to know if this is a fixed

deduction. It should differ if your unemployed or in part time

employment

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:57 PM

I prefer keeping the old system. The new proposals will create many

issues

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:27 PM

For someone that is disabled, it is very hard to keep up with inflation

in to add more hours when there isn’t the chance to

Anonymous Based on my own situation, I am a lone parent raising my grandchild

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 25 of 40

Page 74



11/01/2022 07:40 PM and my council tax payments have tripled

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:50 PM

Correct

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

I need extra support with my CTS

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

I think if the non dependents are disabled not working or a full time

18- 23 uni/student then no i don't think it's easy for them to pay as we

are all really struggling as it is . I think if non dependents are working

then £5 if wages are low a week eg they are disabled or part time

because of circumstances and £10 if wages are the 35 hours a week

that you base it on . This will have a big impact on me as i have

disabilities and don't work and have to care and be appointee for my

autistic son and other disabilities who is 21 and can't work .can't

interact with people etc my 18 year old daughter also has autism but

with help is trying university but lives at home still because of her

Autism with how expensive travelling to uni and every day costs and

uni books she doesn't have much . We are a vulnerable household. I

thought disabled not working are protected. Also if pip is something

that has to count towards being disabled in council tax shouldn't care

or mobility be just as important not just care component. Also not

everyone that is disabled claims pip .

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:35 PM

It's unfair to other residents

Anonymous
11/01/2022 09:28 PM

If a claimant is disabled and their partner is working (unless claimant

is in need of full time carethat cannot be provided without cost to

claimant) then they will be in receipt of more money and so should be

entitled to less support

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:00 PM

Fewer meals

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:01 PM

In the middle of a cost of living crisis we are now expected to also

accept cuts to support for the most vunerable. There is already

enormous pressure on my family and the last thing we need is to

have to pay more out because of cuts in the amount of support we

receive. Its just wrong and badly timed.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 26 of 40

Page 75



Anonymous
11/02/2022 05:29 AM

This does not affect me. I'm a single mom with 2 children in school

and a victim of domestic violence. My bill has actually gone up. I can't

afford it. Its a choice between buying food ( also high) paying energy

bills to stay warm ( also high) so that we could live everyday. There is

no provision for someone like me in this proposed change. Its already

hard on parents as we have to work around school hours which

excludes us from work that will get us off this benefit. No provision

made for that. After school clubs costs, breakfast clubs costs.... there

is no consideration of the family and children on this.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 09:46 AM

This might affect the disabled person.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 12:21 PM

People with disabilities should not have the burden on them to pay

high council tax when they are on low income especially paying for

carers and other services they require.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 01:37 PM

I'm single mom only my work and me and my children's life is in my

arms. Is not easy work ,look for Children's help children's for good life

. If I have more help then I can help for my children's for normal live is

so important.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 03:46 PM

If it's only a small increase this could be manageable as long as it

doesn't impact too harshly on the household

Anonymous
11/02/2022 04:05 PM

that seems a fair assessment

Anonymous
11/02/2022 11:31 PM

Not a great idea as the disabled adult may be the sole breadwinner

and the unemployed adult may have a disability

Anonymous
11/03/2022 09:36 AM

Reducing such CTS support to households of disabled residents will

cause further hardship. Disabled residents such as myself rely on

receiving full CTS support. It enables me to experience a weekly

health support intervention. Having other adults in the house does not

equate to more money for me. Removing such support will ensure

that things get worse for me.

Anonymous
11/03/2022 02:36 PM

because of cost

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 27 of 40

Page 76



Anonymous
11/03/2022 03:11 PM

would struggle

Anonymous
11/04/2022 08:15 PM

I am a disabled person suffering different chronic health issues that’s

why not working at all of you will reduce to support just tell me where

should we go

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:47 PM

IN FAVOUR TO REDUCE MY OUT PAYMENTS

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:58 PM

I think if there are others in the household that earn its fair

Anonymous
11/05/2022 11:52 AM

We should all pay something. We get the service, at times not great

Anonymous
11/05/2022 03:56 PM

Benefits will not provide extra money to pay for concil tax

Anonymous
11/07/2022 06:48 PM

Young people may choose to move out leaving the disabled person

facing lack of support and financial pressure

Anonymous
11/11/2022 12:06 AM

My daughter is 18 and on a fairly low income, we are on UC and her

income will count towards our household income when she turns 21 I

think it should be the same for cts

Anonymous
11/11/2022 07:47 PM

See above - disabilities can vary from high to low - other carer may

not be able to get out the door because of their adult young adult or

whoever they live with who needs care! There is no way that this will

work it’s a broad spectrum

Anonymous
11/11/2022 08:21 PM

You can't rely on other's like your children to pay its not their home so

they have no obligation, also they might only stay a few days and the

rest with their partners.

Anonymous
11/12/2022 02:45 AM

Some adults would be full time students so how is this change

affecting the household

Anonymous
11/12/2022 09:29 AM

Hit the rich not the poor

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 28 of 40

Page 77



Anonymous
11/14/2022 12:34 AM

People struggle enough so that would be welcomed

Anonymous
11/14/2022 01:54 PM

Please see previous answers - I am tired of getting no services from

this joke of a council.

Anonymous
11/18/2022 06:52 PM

i will pay less.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 09:43 AM

Trick question as you put 2 thing's to mask 1 question.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 10:34 AM

What happens when you have a person / carer providing support to

the disabled person - also what happens when you have a house with

two pensioners, getting on in life and you have a family member move

is to provide help.

Anonymous
11/20/2022 11:12 AM

There is extra support for disabled residents for a reason - they

encounter higher living costs due to their disability. The presence of

other adults in the house is entirely immaterial to that fact.

Anonymous
11/21/2022 09:31 AM

working family members are not able to increase their hours due to

caring responsibilities.

Anonymous
11/22/2022 10:40 AM

Disabled people struggke as it is. This will not work or help vunerable

people.

Katie.Edland
11/23/2022 11:00 AM

Perhaps this could be reviewed on a case by case basis

Anonymous
11/26/2022 07:07 AM

as above whatever you are consulting on is merely to find a way to

ball our for the neglect that has clearly gone on over the financial

situation its a disgrace. Croydon Deserves Better

Anonymous
11/27/2022 04:37 PM

I am a disabled resident who has no partner. Therefore, neither

deducting quantity of Council Tax Support nor impact on me.

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 29 of 40

Page 78



Anonymous
11/29/2022 12:16 PM

most adults over eighteen pay council tax, so what difference are you

talking about? a young person working for £4 per hour, can only pay

what they can reasonable pay, not too leave them without money for

everyday.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 05:52 PM

All disabled residents should pay no council tax

Anonymous
11/29/2022 10:32 PM

Sounds like your punishing people for having a support network

Anonymous
10/14/2022 08:38 PM

Croydon council should sort itself out - the previous serious

mismanagement

Anonymous
10/18/2022 01:18 PM

We have a number of charitable organisations who still pay council

tax. These properties should be exempt which would assist them with

their outlay on a weekly basis.

Anonymous
10/19/2022 03:54 PM

Message to the government and politicians, "Just be opened and

honest with the people and stop taking us for idiots, because we are

done with this fooliness t

Anonymous
10/20/2022 03:37 PM

this is just another way of making poorer house holds pay more while

government cuts pensions and U/C

Anonymous
10/21/2022 05:47 PM

I am disabled and unable to work so assume these changes wouldn't

affect me

Anonymous
10/21/2022 06:31 PM

I assume that disabled single occupancy households that currently

receive 100% reduction in Council Tax, will continue to do so.

Anonymous Just cut this ridiculous council tax, it is a robbery!!!!!

Optional question (74 response(s), 70 skipped)

Question type: Essay Question

Q8  If you have any other comments or ideas you’d like us to consider as part of this

consultation, tell us below:

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 30 of 40

Page 79



10/21/2022 06:48 PM

Anonymous
10/21/2022 09:46 PM

Doesn’t benefit me ask I live with an elderly parent and I work part

time, less than 20hours a week. There’s Concessions for people like

me, who are not entitled to any benefits.

Anonymous
10/21/2022 10:15 PM

I pay my council tax bill , I'm disabled but work my 2 grown children

don't always stay with me they have partners so why should they pay.

Anonymous
10/22/2022 12:18 PM

I don't think anyone who has less than £12500.00 coming in should

have to pay any council tax.

Anonymous
10/23/2022 12:08 PM

Serve your borough,

Anonymous
10/23/2022 10:54 PM

We needs MORE LTNs, MORE Controlled Parking Zones, MORE

cycle lanes. The traffic in Thornton Heath High St is awful at peak

time. Get rid of the parking spaces there for new cycle lanes. Get rid

of all these cars they do not belong here!

Anonymous
10/24/2022 09:40 AM

regular ad hoc checks should be made on claimants to reduce fraud

Anonymous
10/24/2022 03:49 PM

.

Anonymous
10/26/2022 11:29 AM

Pensioners fully retired (not working) must be considered for benefit

Anonymous
10/31/2022 04:00 PM

Please revert the CTS scheme to the old 2013/22 scheme, as

Residents are on their knees, especially given the cost of living crisis.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

I'm a working one parent mum I'm struggling alot to pay nearly £300

pounds I work part-time and it's hard to ...

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:12 PM

N/a

Anonymous This is a welcome development, but take home pay, childcare bills

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 31 of 40

Page 80



11/01/2022 06:12 PM and other bills should be considered

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:19 PM

I think if you explain these questions so the layman can understand

would help.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:26 PM

As a nureodivergent resident, this wording and phrasing is very

alienating for me and prefer it in layman’s terms so it’s clear and

everyone understands

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:28 PM

Council tax should be issued accordingly to the income of residents

Anonymous
11/01/2022 06:51 PM

I nor anyone in my home is disabled but we struggle since my

monthly council tax payment was raised to £154

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:12 PM

Where both persons are unemployed or unemployed and the other is

retired they should have a much higher discounting system.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:40 PM

How can croydon council triple the amount that a non working person

has to pay when everything else has gone up but our money hasn’t!!

Anonymous
11/01/2022 07:50 PM

We as your residents, we need your support to live right now we pay

e very high of amount for council tax and other bills at the end of the

me particularly with my family we struggling a lot every single month

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:01 PM

I thought disabled not working are protected as they are vulnerable.

Households like mine the non dependents are vulnerable with

disabilities .

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:26 PM

I understand the expenses, but if there is nothing to pay from, where

to get the money. renting a house costs us a lot. Now electricity and

gas are costly. We are both retired, my husband is sick.

Anonymous
11/01/2022 08:35 PM

The council tax is really high I can't even imagine things should go

back the way they used to be

Anonymous
11/01/2022 09:58 PM

with the rise in cost of living we will find it very hard

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 32 of 40

Page 81



Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:00 PM

More support for the disabled

Anonymous
11/01/2022 10:01 PM

It will no fall upon my Teenage daughter to pay the gap between

deductions and support. This is unfair and ill timed.

Anonymous
11/02/2022 05:29 AM

How have your changes catered to single DV mothers with children in

school?

Anonymous
11/02/2022 09:46 AM

N/A

Anonymous
11/02/2022 01:37 PM

I'm begging you to consider my situation and for help. My and

children life is very poor And I would like a strong mother for them

every help helps us and through life I do not fear.Thank you so much

Anonymous
11/04/2022 08:15 PM

Please make our lives easier please help us by providing council tax

support as in past we are not happy with the current or the future

CTS programme.

Anonymous
11/04/2022 10:47 PM

MONEY COMING IN TO ASSIST DURING COST OF LIVING

WELCOMED

Anonymous
11/05/2022 11:52 AM

One comment, when it's snow all Roads regardless where you live

they come do where we live. Once it snow l come out of house.

Because l problems walking.

Anonymous
11/05/2022 03:56 PM

Why croydon council asking extra money from disable household

when benefits make difficult to live on??????

Anonymous
11/07/2022 06:48 PM

People with disabilities struggle everyday to get the support from

family members as is, find another way to get savings, turn off your

lights, save on paper, get rid of some managers and lame staff. Stoo

giving undeserving pay outs

Anonymous
11/11/2022 12:06 AM

Adults age should be 21 as it is for uc

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 33 of 40

Page 82



Anonymous
11/11/2022 06:53 AM

I live on my own I'm Struggling I just about can pay my rent my wages

are very low not much money to pay on my bills and food ey

Anonymous
11/11/2022 07:47 PM

Give the government and deduction in salary - a big one and then put

their bills up so they can’t survive either!

Anonymous
11/14/2022 01:54 PM

It is a disgrace that you are even having this consultation when you

provide simply nothing in services to the Borough residents now!!

Anonymous
11/18/2022 06:52 PM

We gave lots of money and we got not much less for food.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 09:43 AM

you are faking the question as there is more than just the pay, the

council also takes into the account peoples savings that is not

mentioned.

Anonymous
11/19/2022 10:34 AM

What are you doing about the house of mutli occupancy can be up to

five families. Plus house left empty

Anonymous
11/20/2022 11:12 AM

Cutting council tax support in the middle of a recession - and the

deepest cost of living crisis on record (according to the OBR) would

be cruel. It is the wrong policy at the wrong time.

Anonymous
11/22/2022 10:40 AM

Do not lower support for disabled people. The whole proposed

changes are unethical.

Anonymous
11/25/2022 08:21 PM

In April the council tax changed to being only calculated on weekly

income.It is extremely unfair, you are only looking at the weekly

income &amp; not how many dependants someone has &amp; their

outgoings. I am a single mum of 4 working part time, c.tax so high

Anonymous
11/26/2022 07:07 AM

I have many comments but as a member of staff as well as a rate

payer since 1973 nce moving to Croydon in l972

Anonymous
11/27/2022 04:37 PM

I can add to consultation no comments or ideas.

Anonymous ESA is provided to disabled people because the welfare system

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 34 of 40

Page 83



11/29/2022 08:28 AM recognises that disabled people’s income-related needs are higher

than non-disabled people because of the additional costs associated

with disability. It should be disregarded by the council.

Anonymous
11/29/2022 12:16 PM

yes please count me as a person to consult with, you should contact

resident's that we can give feedback, plus

Anonymous
11/29/2022 05:52 PM

I disagree with any resident having to pay more council tax above the

government guidelines just because the council have yet again

declared bankruptcy !!! No disabled resident/s should have to pay

council tax at all

Anonymous
11/29/2022 06:27 PM

Households where only one adult can work because the other is

disabled should have the same council tact reduction as single adult

households

Anonymous
11/29/2022 10:32 PM

Stop trying to save money from those less able. Try and establish

some businesses in the area again instead to generate income.

Optional question (57 response(s), 87 skipped)

Question type: Single Line Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 35 of 40

Page 84



Q9  What age are you?

2 (1.4%)

2 (1.4%)

51 (35.9%)

51 (35.9%)

37 (26.1%)

37 (26.1%)

33 (23.2%)

33 (23.2%)

14 (9.9%)

14 (9.9%)5 (3.5%)

5 (3.5%) 0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

18-25 26-45 46-55 56-65 66+ Prefer not to say Under 18

Question options

Optional question (142 response(s), 2 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 36 of 40

Page 85



Q10  How would you describe your gender identity? 

37 (26.2%)

37 (26.2%)

90 (63.8%)

90 (63.8%)

1 (0.7%)

1 (0.7%)13 (9.2%)

13 (9.2%) 0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

Male Female Non-Binary Prefer not to say Transgender

Question options

Optional question (141 response(s), 3 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 37 of 40

Page 86



Q11  Do you have any disabilities?

58 (41.4%)

58 (41.4%)

62 (44.3%)

62 (44.3%)

20 (14.3%)

20 (14.3%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Optional question (140 response(s), 4 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 38 of 40

Page 87



Q12  What type of disability(ies) do you have?

Visually impaired Hearing impaired Mobility disability Learning disability Communication disability

Hidden disability (e.g. autism, asthma etc) Prefer not to say Other (please specify)

Question options

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

7
6

37

6

2

19

27

11

Optional question (84 response(s), 60 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 39 of 40

Page 88



Q13  What is your religion?

1 (0.7%)

1 (0.7%)

66 (47.1%)

66 (47.1%)

4 (2.9%)

4 (2.9%)

11 (7.9%)

11 (7.9%)

46 (32.9%)

46 (32.9%)

12 (8.6%)

12 (8.6%)

0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

0 (0.0%)

Buddhist Christian Hindu Muslim Prefer not to say Other (please specify) Sikh

Baha'i Jewish

Question options

Optional question (140 response(s), 4 skipped)
Question type: Radio Button Question

Council tax support consultation : Survey Report for 08 October 2021 to 01 December 2022

Page 40 of 40

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Analysis Form P
age 91



1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Purpose of Equality Analysis 
 
The council has an important role in creating a fair society through the services we provide, the people we employ and the money we spend. Equality is 
integral to everything the council does.  We are committed to making Croydon a stronger, fairer borough where no community or individual is held back. 
 
Undertaking an Equality Analysis helps to determine whether a proposed change will have a positive, negative, or no impact on groups that share a protected 
characteristic.  Conclusions drawn from Equality Analyses helps us to better understand the needs of all our communities, enable us to target services and 
budgets more effectively and also helps us to comply with the Equality Act 2010.   
 
An equality analysis must be completed as early as possible during the planning stages of any proposed change to ensure information gained from the 
process is incorporated in any decisions made.  
 
In practice, the term ‘proposed change’ broadly covers the following:-  

• Policies, strategies and plans; 
• Projects and programmes; 
• Commissioning (including re-commissioning and de-commissioning); 
• Service review; 
• Budget allocation/analysis; 
• Staff restructures (including outsourcing); 
• Business transformation programmes; 
• Organisational change programmes; 
• Processes (for example thresholds, eligibility, entitlements, and access criteria. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Proposed change 
 
Directorate Resources  
Title of proposed change Council Tax Support review  
Name of Officer carrying out Equality Analysis Helen Helliwell  

 
 

P
age 92



2.1 Purpose of proposed change (see 1.1 above for examples of proposed changes) 
 
Briefly summarise the proposed change and why it is being considered/anticipated outcomes.  What is meant to achieve and how is it seeking 
to achieve this? Please also state if it is an amendment to an existing arrangement or a new proposal. 
 
Council tax support is a means tested benefit that residents are able to apply for to support them with council tax payments. There are currently 
26,666 active claims for council tax support. There are currently 162,465 chargeable dwelling in Croydon, these are properties where there is a 
council tax liability.   
 
As an authority we have a duty to review our council tax support scheme annually, as a result of this review we are proposing 3 potential 
changes to the application of the scheme.   The changes are:  
 
Remove the minimum income floor for self-employed disabled working claims. This will positively affect households that have been classified 
as disabled working, and where the claimant or partner are self-employed and their income isn’t disregarded already under permitted earnings 
 
Change the rate by which the income bandings are increased from Consumer Price Index (CPI) to the percentage by which council tax is 
increased.  
This change will affect all claimants equally.  The proposal is to increase the income bands used within the scheme by the same percentage 
that we increase Council Tax.  This won’t be a set percentage but rather the scheme will state that the income bands will increase by how much 
London Borough of Croydon increases council tax each year. 
 
Introduce non-dependant deductions for disabled non-working claims. One of the principles of the CTS scheme is that everyone in the 
household should pay towards council tax. Non-dependents are other adults that live in the property, excluding any partners.  In all other 
groups within the scheme a deduction is taken from the level of CTS entitlement based on the non-dependents income.   To implement the 
‘everyone in the household should pay’ principle across all residents we are proposing to introduce non-dependent deductions to disabled not 
working claims. 
 
The aim of these changes are to make some elements of the scheme fairer and to re-align to the principles of the scheme after a major 
overhaul of the scheme in April 2022.   There is also a need to review the cost of the scheme, especially in relation to the rate of the CPI which 
would have a major impact on the cost of council tax support to the council.  
 
In seeking to reduce the cost of the scheme the result of two of the changes will mean a reduction in the level of support residents will receive.  
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 93



3. Impact of the proposed change 
 
Important Note: It is necessary to determine how each of the protected groups could be impacted by the proposed change. Who benefits and how (and who, 
therefore doesn’t and why?) Summarise any positive impacts or benefits, any negative impacts and any neutral impacts and the evidence you have taken into 
account to reach this conclusion.  Be aware that there may be positive, negative and neutral impacts within each characteristic.   
Where an impact is unknown, state so.  If there is insufficient information or evidence to reach a decision you will need to gather appropriate quantitative and 
qualitative information from a range of sources e.g. Croydon Observatory a useful source of information such as Borough Strategies and Plans, Borough and 
Ward Profiles, Joint Strategic Health Needs Assessments  http://www.croydonobservatory.org/  Other sources include performance monitoring reports, 
complaints, survey data, audit reports, inspection reports, national research and feedback gained through engagement with service users, voluntary and 
community organisations and contractors. 
 
3.1 Deciding whether the potential impact is positive or negative       
 
Table 1 – Positive/Negative impact 
For each protected characteristic group show whether the impact of the proposed change on service users and/or staff is positive or negative by briefly 
outlining the nature of the impact in the appropriate column. . If it is decided that analysis is not relevant to some groups, this should be recorded and 
explained.  In all circumstances you should list the source of the evidence used to make this judgement where possible.  
 

Protected characteristic 
group(s) 

 

Positive impact Negative impact Source of evidence 

P
age 94

http://www.croydonobservatory.org/


Age Neutral impact as 
pensioners are 
protected from all 
proposed changes.  

All working age claimants would be 
effected by the changes to the rate by 
which the income bands will be 
increased.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

According to the 2021 census, The population in 
Croydon has grown to 390,719 from 363,400 in 2011.   
67% of all residents are between the ages of 15 and 64 
years old, and 14% are aged over 64.  
The age breakdown for the borough, according to the 
2021 census is as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The current caseload age breakdown is as follows:  
 

Age 2021 
Census 
Estimates in 
Croydon 

2021 census age 
breakdown of total 
population  

0-15 19.3% 17.4% 

15-64 67% 64.2% 

64+ 13.6% 18.4% 

Age CTS caseload 
breakdown  

0-15 0% 

15-64 69.9% 

64+ 30.1% 

Disability  Those who are 
disabled and self-
employed will no 

Where a claimant or partner are 
disabled and not working a deduction 

Based on our current caseload 31% of all of our claims 
are identified as claims where either than claimant or 
partner as disabled.  

P
age 95



longer have an 
assumed income 
figure used. 
Previously an 
increased assumed 
income would have 
been used, meaning 
they would be getting 
a reduced 
entitlement,   

will be introduced for any other adult 
living in the property  
For Disabled claims where the claimant 
or partner are working they will be 
impacted, along with all other working 
age claims by the proposal to change 
the rate by which the income bands are 
increased 

 
In 28% of  these claims either the claimant or partner 
are disabled and neither are in work, and 3% of claims 
are classified as disabled working claims meaning 
either the claimant or partner are disabled and either 
are in work.     
 
 
As part of the consultation we asked respondents 
if they considered themselves to have a disability. 
140 respondents confirmed whether or not they 
considered themselves having a disability, 41.4% 
considered themselves having a disability, 44.3% 
answered no and 14.3% preferred not to say. 
 
84 of the above went on to declare the disability 
that was identified. 

 
• 8.3% were visually impaired;  
• 7.1% declared a hearing impairment; 
• 44% identified having a mobility 

disability;  
• 7.1% declared a learning disability;  
• 2.4% had communication difficulty;  
• 22.6% had a hidden disability; and  
• 32.1% preferred not to say  

13.1% stated they identified as having another 
disability 

Sex  None identified  Of the 16,260 single claims by females, 
11,795 are from working age claimants 
and of the 6,263 male claims 4,187 are 
working age.  These claimants will be 
effected by the change to the amount 
the income bands will be increased. 
 
 

16,260 of the claims made by single people are 
females, and 6,263 are from males, there are 30 cases 
where the sex of the claimant is unknown.  
In claims for couples 1,548 have a female as the 
claimant and 2,554 have a male. However who is the 
lead claimant is purely down to whose name is input on 
the claim form first.  

Gender Reassignment  None identified We are unable to identify of those who 
provided their gender identity whether 

Data on gender reassignment is not routinely captured.  
A person’s innate sense of their own gender, whether 

P
age 96



they are working age or of pension age, 
but any working age claimants in these 
groups will be effected by the changes 
to the percentage by which the income 
bands are due to be increased.    

male, female or something else may or may not 
correspond to the sex assigned at birth.   
 
We have recently moved to a new application form and 
will explore the option of adding additional questions 
that will enable us to gather this information.  
 
As part of the consultation process we asked 
respondents to describe their gender identity, 26.2% of 
people who answered that question identified as male, 
63.8% female, 0.7% as non-binary, no one identified 
as transgender and 9.2% preferred not to say.   

Marriage or Civil Partnership  If one member of a 
couple is disabled, 
and the other is self-
employed then they 
will no longer have 
an assumed income 
figure applied to their 
claim. Previously an 
increased assumed 
income would have 
been used, meaning 
they would be getting 
a reduced 
entitlement,   

Of the 22,559 single claims, 16,003 are 
from working age claimants, and 2,375 
of the 4,107 of claims by couples are 
working age claims.  
These claimants will be effected by the 
changes to the percentage by which 
the income bands are due to be 
increased.    

4107 (15%) claims of the current case load are those 
made by couples, the remaining 22,559 (85%) 
are from single claimants.   
 
Whether or not the couples are married or in a civil 
partnership, or are unmarried partners does not affect 
the way the claims are calculated.  We do not hold 
specific details regarding if a couple are married or not 
as we do not ask that specific question in our 
application form, rather if they have a partner.  

Religion or belief  None identified   We are unable to identify of those who 
provided their religion whether they are 
working age or of pension age, but any 
working age claimants in these groups 
will be effected by the changes to the 
percentage by which the income bands 
are due to be increased 

As part of the consultation we asked people what their 
religion was: 
Christian 47.1% 
Prefer not to say 32.9% 
Other 8.6% 
Muslim 7.9% 
Hindu 2.9% 
Buddhist  0.7% 
  

 
 

Race None identified  

 

Numb
er  

% of 
caseloa
d  

 Where the claimant has provided their race this has 
been recorded and the current caseload is broken down 
as follows:  

P
age 97



Asian or Asian 
British: 
Bangladeshi 

129 0.7% 

Asian or Asian 
British: Indian 234 1.3% 

Asian or Asian 
British: Pakistani 412 2.2% 

Asian or British : 
Any other 
Backgrnd 

405 2.2% 

Black-Black 
British:African 1815 9.9% 

Black-Black 
British:Caribbean 2042 11.1% 

Black-Black 
British:Other 400 2.2% 

Chinese 35 0.2% 

Mixed :Any other 
mixed 
background 

229 1.2% 

Mixed: White 
and Asian 216 1.2% 

Mixed: White 
and Black 
Caribbean 

442 2.4% 

White: British 3491 19.0% 

White: Any other 
White 
background 

1021 5.6% 

Not Known 7519 40.9% 

Total working 
age caseload 18390   

 

 

 Number  
% of 
caseload  

Asian or Asian British: Bangladeshi 162 1% 
Asian or Asian British: Indian 387 1% 
Asian or Asian British: Pakistani 546 2% 
Asian or British : Any other 
Backgrnd 

571 2% 

Black-Black British:African 2098 7% 
Black-Black British:Caribbean 2426 8% 
Black-Black British:Other 2433 8% 
Chinese 55 0% 
Mixed :Any other mixed 
background 

252 1% 

Mixed: White and Asian 235 1% 
Mixed: White and Black 
Caribbean 

460 2% 

White: British 4755 17% 
White: Any other White 
background 

1203 4% 

Not Known 13077 46% 
Total  28660   

 
 

P
age 98



This is the break down for working age 
claims – these claimants will be 
effected by the changes to the 
percentage by which the income bands 
are due to be increased.    

The Sexual Orientation  None identified  Of the 29 same sex couples claiming 
council tax support, 25 are working age 
claims.  These claimants will be 
effected by the changes to the 
percentage by which the income bands 
are due to be increased 

Within the current case load there are 4107 claims 
made by couples, of those 29 are from couples where 
each partner is of the same sex.  
We do not ask for details of claimants sexual 
orientation as part of the application process, so are 
unable to identify the breakdown for those who have 
made a single application form.  

Pregnancy or Maternity  None identified  Of the 38 claims where the claimant or 
partner are in receipt of maternity pay 
all are of working ago so will be 
effected by the changes to the 
percentage by which the income bands 
are due to be increased 

We currently have 38 active claims where the claimant 
or partner are in receipt of maternity pay which is 
recorded on our system.   
We do not record if someone is pregnant at the time of 
application.  

 
Important note: You must act to eliminate any potential negative impact which, if it occurred would breach the Equality Act 2010.  In some situations this 
could mean abandoning your proposed change as you may not be able to take action to mitigate all negative impacts.  
 
When you act to reduce any negative impact or maximise any positive impact, you must ensure that this does not create a negative impact on service users 
and/or staff belonging to groups that share protected characteristics.  Please use table 4 to record actions that will be taken to remove or minimise 
any potential negative impact  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
 
3.2 Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change   
 
Table 2 – Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change 
If you need to undertake further research and data gathering to help determine the likely impact of the proposed change, outline the information needed in 
this table.  Please use the table below to describe any consultation with stakeholders and summarise how it has influenced the proposed change. Please 
attach evidence or provide link to appropriate data or reports: 

Additional information needed and or Consultation Findings Information source Date for 
completion 

We carried out public consultation regarding the changes.  
  

We received 144 responses, 69% of the respondents were in receipt of council tax support.   
In relation to the proposed changes the responses were:  

Full consultation report 
attached.  

 

P
age 99



 

Strongly or 
somewhat 
agree  

Neither 
agree or 
disagree  

Strongly or 
somewhat 
disagree  

Removal of the minimum income floor for disabled working claims  54% 19% 26% 
Changing the percentage the income bands are increased.  42% 21% 40% 
Introducing a non-dependant deduction for disabled not working claims  40.90% 19% 40.10% 

 
Out of the 144 respondents, 142 answered the questions regarding to the age of the 
respondent.1.4% were between 18-25, 35.9% were between the ages of 26-45, 26.1% were 
between the ages of 46-55. 23.2% were aged 56-65, and 9.9% were aged 66 or over 3.5% 
preferred not to declare their age 
 
The largest group of respondents were aged between 26-45, the council tax support caseload 
indicates that 34% of those who claim are between the ages of 26-45. 
 
141 residents answered the question regarding gender, of which 63.8% confirmed they identified as 
being female, 26.2% identified as being male, 0.7% confirmed they identified as being non-binary, 
9.2% preferred not to say what they identified their gender to be.   
 
140 respondents confirmed whether or not they considered themselves having a disability, 41.4% 
considered themselves having a disability, 44.3% answered no and 14.3% preferred not to say. 
 
84 of the above went on to declare the disability that was identified. 

 
• 8.3% were visually impaired;  
• 7.1% declared a hearing impairment; 
• 44% identified having a mobility disability;  
• 7.1% declared a learning disability;  
• 2.4% had communication difficulty;  
• 22.6% had a hidden disability; and  
• 32.1% preferred not to say  
• 13.1% stated they identified as having another disability  

 
31% of our claims are within a disabled scheme, and 41.4% of respondents to the consultation considered 
themselves to have a disability.  

 
 

P
age 100



 
In addition to the on line public consultation a face to face meeting was held with partners to seek their 
feedback.  
 
The session was attended by representatives from MIND, South West London Law Centre and The 
Carer’s information service.  
 
There were concerns raised regarding the introduction of non-dependant deductions for disabled 
non-working households as there was a concern that the non-dependant could be the carer for the 
disabled claimant or partner. And taking a deduction for them would be penalising them for having 
caring responsibilities. 
The proposed changes to the scheme have been updated as a direct result of this feedback and we 
are suggesting that in this scenario no non dependant deductions are taken.   

  

For guidance and support with consultation and engagement visit https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-
engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 101

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 Impact scores 
 
Example  
If we are going to reduce parking provision in a particular location, officers will need to assess the equality impact as follows; 
 

1. Determine the Likelihood of impact.  You can do this by using the key in table  5 as a guide, for the purpose of this example, the likelihood of impact 
score is 2 (likely to impact) 

2. Determine the Severity of impact.  You can do this by using the key in table 5 as a guide, for the purpose of this example, the Severity of impact score 
is also 2 (likely to impact ) 

3. Calculate the equality impact score using table 4 below and the formula Likelihood x Severity and record it in table 5, for the purpose of this example 
- Likelihood (2) x Severity (2) = 4  

 
 
Table 4 – Equality Impact Score

Key 
Risk Index Risk Magnitude 

6 – 9 High 
3 – 5 Medium  
1 – 3 Low 

 
3 

 
3 

 
6 

 
9 

 
2 

 
2 

 
4 

 
6 

 
1 

 
1 

 
2 

 
3 

 
 

 
1 

 
2 

 
3 

   
   

   
Se

ve
rit

y 
of

 Im
pa

ct
 

      
   

  
Likelihood of Impact  

P
age 102



  
Equality Analysis 
  
 
 

13 
 

 
    
Table 3 – Impact scores 

Column 1 
 

PROTECTED GROUP 

Column 2 
 

LIKELIHOOD OF IMPACT SCORE 
 

Use the key below to score the 
likelihood of the proposed change 
impacting each of the protected groups, 
by inserting either 1, 2, or 3 against 
each protected group. 
 
1 = Unlikely to impact 
2 = Likely to impact 
3 = Certain to impact 

Column 3 
 

SEVERITY OF IMPACT SCORE 
 

Use the key below to score the 
severity of impact of the proposed 
change on each of the protected 
groups, by inserting either 1, 2, or 3 
against each protected group. 
 
1 = Unlikely to impact 
2 = Likely to impact 
3 = Certain to impact 
 

Column 4 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT SCORE 
 

Calculate the equality impact score 
for each protected group by multiplying 
scores in column 2 by scores in column 
3. Enter the results below against each 
protected group. 

 
Equality impact score = likelihood of 
impact score x severity of impact 
score. 

Age  3 2 6 
Disability 3 2 6 
Gender 3 2 6 
Gender reassignment 3 2 6 
Marriage / Civil Partnership 3 2 6 
Race  3 2 6 
Religion or belief 3 2 6 
Sexual Orientation 3 2 6 
Pregnancy or Maternity 3 2 6 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 103



  
Equality Analysis 
  
 
 

14 
 

 
4.  Statutory duties 
 
4.1 Public Sector Duties 
Tick the relevant box(es) to indicate whether the proposed change will adversely impact the Council’s ability to meet any of the Public Sector Duties in the 
Equality Act 2010 set out below.   
 
Advancing equality of opportunity between people who belong to protected groups  
 
Eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 
Fostering good relations between people who belong to protected characteristic groups 
 
Important note: If the proposed change adversely impacts the Council’s ability to meet any of the Public Sector Duties set out above, mitigating actions must 
be outlined in the Action Plan in section 5 below. 

 
 
5. Action Plan to mitigate negative impacts of proposed change 
Important note: Describe what alternatives have been considered and/or what actions will be taken to remove or minimise any potential negative impact 
identified in Table 1.  Attach evidence or provide link to appropriate data, reports, etc: 
 
Table 4 – Action Plan to mitigate negative impacts 
Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 
Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 
Disability   Introduction of non-dependent 

deductions for disabled not 
working claims   

Excluding any non-dependents 
who are receiving careers 
allowance for the claimant or 
partner 
A hardship fund is available for 
those effected by the changes to 

 Full Cabinet in January 
2023  

x

X

P
age 104



  
Equality Analysis 
  
 
 

15 
 

support with the reduction in 
support.  

Race Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims  

  

Sex (gender) Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

Gender reassignment Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

Sexual orientation Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

Age Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

Religion or belief Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

Pregnancy or maternity Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 

 A hardship fund is available for 
those effected by the changes to 
support with the reduction in 
benefit. It will help to provide 
transitional support to bridge the 
gap between residents old and new 
entitlement.  
The income bands used in the 
assessment for Council Tax 
Support will increase by the same 
rate as council tax increases to 
ensure that entitlement goes up by 
the same rate. 

  

P
age 105



  
Equality Analysis 
  
 
 

16 
 

increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

Marriage/civil partnership Changing the percentage by 
which the income bands are 
increased which will affect all 
working age claims 

  

6.  Decision on the proposed change 
 
 
Based on the information outlined in this Equality Analysis enter X in column 3 (Conclusion) alongside the relevant statement to show your conclusion. 

Decision Definition Conclusion -  
Mark ‘X’ 
below  

No major 
change  

Our analysis demonstrates that the policy is robust. The evidence shows no potential for discrimination and we have taken 
all opportunities to advance equality and foster good relations, subject to continuing monitoring and review. If you reach 
this conclusion, state your reasons and briefly outline the evidence used to support your decision. 
 
 

 

Adjust the 
proposed 
change  

We will take steps to lessen the impact of the proposed change should it adversely impact the Council’s ability to meet any 
of the Public Sector Duties set out under section 4 above, remove barriers or better promote equality.   We are going to 
take action to ensure these opportunities are realised. If you reach this conclusion, you must outline the actions you 
will take in Action Plan in section 5 of the Equality Analysis form 
 
A need to make amendments to the scheme was identified following consultation. Mitigation via a hardship fund 
has been made available to support those affected the most by the changes.   
 

X  

Continue the 
proposed 
change  

We will adopt or continue with the change, despite potential for adverse impact or opportunities to lessen the impact of 
discrimination, harassment or victimisation and better advance equality and foster good relations between groups through 
the change.  However, we are not planning to implement them as we are satisfied that our project will not lead to unlawful 
discrimination and there are justifiable reasons to continue as planned.  If you reach this conclusion, you should clearly 
set out the justifications for doing this and it must be in line with the duty to have due regard and how you 
reached this decision. 

 

P
age 106



  
Equality Analysis 
  
 
 

17 
 

Although some of the changes will directly effect a protected group – namely those with disabilities. Additional allowances 
have been made to ensure they are not adversely effected. Such as not applying the deduction where the non-dependant 
is getting carers allowance 
 

Stop or 
amend the 
proposed 
change 

Our change would have adverse effects on one or more protected groups that are not justified and cannot be mitigated.  
Our proposed change must be stopped or amended.  
 
 

 

Will this decision be considered at a scheduled meeting? e.g. Contracts and 
Commissioning Board (CCB) / Cabinet  

Meeting title: Cabinet  
Date: 26th January 2023 

 
 
7. Sign-Off 
 
 
Officers that must 
approve this decision 

 

Equalities Lead Name:   Denise McCausland                                                     Date:10/1/23 
 
Position: Equalities Programme Manager  
 

Director  Name:      Jane West                                                                   Date: 13/01/2023 
 
Position: Corporate Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) 
 

 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex A - Support with Council Tax 
and Reductions 
Council Tax Support (CTS) 
As per scheme – income banded, the lower a resident’s income the high the support 
provided. Pensioners and disabled residents may be entitled to receive up to 100% support 
and working age residents can receive up to 80% support.  

Enablement Team – This team administer discretionary funding support, debt advice, and 
help to support residents into work.  

Benefit maximisation – The council has welfare rights officers to help residents maximise 
their benefits. They will visit residents in their home and help them to complete any required 
forms/applications.  

Reductions, Discounts and Exemptions 
Severely mentally impaired (SMI) – persons are disregarded for the purposes of Council 
Tax. If all occupants are SMI then an exemption can be applied.  

If all occupants are disabled but not classified as SMI then a reduction of up to 50% can be 
awarded.  

Care Leavers and Foster Parents – Croydon offers a 100% reduction in council tax for 
these groups.  

Students – full time students are disregarded for the purposes of Council Tax, if all adults in 
the household are students, then an exemption can be granted, else a maximum disregard 
discount of 25% would be granted if only 1 adult was to be counted. 

Single Person’s Discount (Sole Occupier Discount) – this discount is applied to all single 
occupied, or lone adult households. A 25% reduction is applied.  

Exempt from Council Tax – Some homes will be 100% exempt from council tax if they 
were occupied by someone who is in prison, or has moved into a care home or hospital, or 
have had their home repossessed, or cannot be lived in by law.  

Council Tax Band Reduction - A council tax reduction for disabilities is provided if you're a 
person with a disability or you live with someone who has a disability, and your home has 
adaptations to meet the needs of the disability. 

Council Tax Recovery and Enforcement 
The council has signed up the mantra of: Those that can pay, will pay, those that can’t pay, 
we will support and those that won’t pay we will take a tough stance through enforcement.  

Instalment Plans – once the council has obtained a liability order for unpaid council tax the 
council is able to offer lower instalments and payment plans over a longer period of time. 

Attachments of Benefits – If a resident is in receipt of a deductible benefit then the council l 
will always seek to attach an order to their benefit payment, this is a very low weekly 
payment.  

Page 109



Attachment of Earning – if the council holds employment records or is able to find them for 
a resident an attachment of earning can be used for those that have defaulted on an 
arrangement or are avoiding payment.  

Enforcement Agents – Croydon uses both internal and external enforcement agents, where 
a debt is in borough, we will try to use internal agents and external otherwise. All 
enforcement agents are trained on ethical debt collection and seek the best outcome for the 
resident and the council. They identify vulnerable residents and take appropriate action such 
as referrals, they will also put the case on hold and refer to the council for next actions. 
External enforcement agents have discretion and funding where if a vulnerable case is 
identified they may help to reduce their debt and they also carry food parcels.  

The enforcement agent service was overhauled and regulated in 2014. An enforcement 
agent is no longer able to enter a property through any open door/window. All enforcement 
agents are regulated through civil enforcement association, CIVEA.  

There is a new enforcement conduct board, which has a mandate to protect the financially 
vulnerable, balance the critical financial needs of councils and ensure fairness for all.  

We received very few complaints regarding the behavior of our enforcement agents. During 
this year we have received no complaints about our internal team and 2 in relation to the 
external teams.  

Hardship Scheme 
Section 13A schemes – Croydon has a hardship scheme administered under S13A which 
includes Care Leavers.  

Council Tax Support Transitional Funding 2022/23 & 2023/24 
In 2022 Croydon introduced an income banded CTS scheme which reduced the level of 
support to some residents. To help residents transition to the new scheme a £2m over 2-
year transitional fund was put in place to help residents adjust to the new scheme.  

Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24 
Government have requested all billing authorities to an award up to £25 to all residents who 
are in receipt of council tax support as of 01/04/2023. 

Any left-over funding from this will be put towards a discretionary hardship scheme.  

Council Tax Hardship Scheme 2023/24 
As a consequence of the rise in council in Croydon, the council will make available a £2m 
fund which will be aimed towards helping households and residents on low-income.  

Household Support Fund 2022/23 
The DWP provides funding to local authorities to administer support to vulnerable 
households. In 2022 £300k has been allocated to helping residents in receipt of Council Tax 
Support with their council tax bill, if there is an outstanding balance to pay for the 2022 year. 
This fund can only be used to support households in year. There may be support next year 
but the DWP are yet to make that announcement.  

Page 110



Discretionary Housing Payment 
You can apply to the discretionary support fund if you live in Croydon and have financial 
hardship, this fund is called the discretionary housing payment which is a top-up of your 
benefit, it is used to help residents with the rent, housing costs, housing deposit or rent 
arrears. This is a one-time offer, to qualify the resident must demonstrate how this payment 
will help them out of the financial hardship and on to financial sustainability.  

Interest Free Budget Loan 
You could also be eligible for an interest free budget loan if the resident has received one of 
these 4 benefits in the last 6 months: 

• Income support 
• Income based Jobseekers Allowance 
• Income bases Employment and Support Allowance 
• Pension Credit 

Croydon Health Homes 
You can get free energy saving advice from Croydon Healthy Homes. 

Warm spaces – a list of warm spaces are available on the Croydon website for residents to 
visit.  

Free school meals 
If you are a parent who receive an eligible benefit your child may be entitled to free school 
meals.  

Partner Referrals – Vulnerability & Debt Advice 
The council has partnered with other organisations that offer consolidated debt advice and 
support. Some of those organisations include: 

• Money Advisors Network 
• Citizen’s Advice Bureau  
• South-west London Law Centre  
• Step Change 
• Age UK 
• MIND 
• Croydon Plus Credit Union  

 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

 
COUNCIL 

  
 

 
 

DATE OF DECISION 1 MARCH 2023 
 
 

REPORT TITLE: 
 

CROYDON PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2023/24  
 
 

CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR  
 

ELAINE JACKSON 
ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
 

LEAD OFFICER: DEAN SHOESMITH  
CHIEF PEOPLE OFFICER  

Email: Dean.Shoesmith@croydon.gov.uk        
 
 

LEAD MEMBER: CLLR JASON CUMMINGS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE  

 
KEY DECISION?  
. 
 
 

 No 
 
 

REASON: N/A 
 

CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  
 
 
 

 NO PUBLIC 

WARDS AFFECTED:  
ALL 

  
 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 In accordance with sections 38 and 39 of the Localism Act, the Council is required to 
prepare and publish an annual Pay Policy Statement.  

 
1.2 The Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2023/24 is attached at Appendix 1 

and covers the legal requirement to set out: 
 
- The remuneration of its senior staff, designated Chief Officers 
- The remuneration of its lowest paid employees 

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

- The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the 
remuneration of staff who are not Chief Officers  
 

1.3 Notably the Pay Policy Statement references the Statutory Guidance on the making 
and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by local authorities in England 
(attached at Appendix 1e), introduced in May 2022 and the process for approving 
any Special Severance Payments and severance packages.  
 

1.4 The Pay Policy statement also references a change to the benchmarking 
arrangement regarding the appropriate remuneration for the Chief Executive and 
Head of Paid Service. 

 
1.5 It is noted that at the Council meeting of 14 December 2022, as part of moving of the 

‘Response to the External Auditor’s Query regarding the Former Chief Executive’s 
Settlement Payment’ it was agreed that the Council should decide payments of over 
£100,000 to individuals going forward. 

 
1.6 At the meeting of the General Purposes Committee (GPC) of 23 January 2023, some 

drafting changes were made to the Pay Policy Statement and GPC covering report.  
These were to make it clear that whilst Special Severance Payments and severance 
packages of £100,000 and above should be approved by a vote of full Council, if the 
proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the making of the decision is 
urgent, General Purposes Committee can approve such payments in accordance 
with the Council’s constitution.  Decisions will however only be referred to the GPC 
for approval in limited and exceptional cases, where a decision is required urgently in 
the context of litigation.    
 

1.7 A robust business case setting out the considerations for making a Special 
Severance Payment, and in the context of litigation including the case as to why the 
making of the decision is urgent, along with appropriate written professional legal and 
financial advice, must be provided where approval for a Special Severance Payment 
is sought.  
 

1.8 The purpose of this report is to:  
(1) approve the Council’s Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2023/2024, 

as amended and recommended by General Purposes Committee on 23 
January 2023;  

(2) ensure that the proposed Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 
2023/2024 complies with the Council’s Constitution and the legal 
requirements regarding decision-making processes concerning the 
agreement of severance packages and Special Severance Payments; and,  

(3) agree, as recommended by the General Purposes Committee on 23 January 
2023 that paragraph 6 of the General Purposes Committee’s terms of 
reference, as set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution - Responsibility of 
Functions, section 2, sub-section 2.5, be amended, as set out below 
 

Page 114



 

3 
 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report and its appendices, Full Council is recommended: 

 

2.1 To approve the annual Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2023-24, (as 
recommended by General Purposes Committee on 23 January 2023) and 
proceed to publish it in accordance with the requirements of section 39 of the 
Localism Act 2011; 

 
2.2 To note the change to the benchmarking arrangement regarding the appropriate 

remuneration for the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service; 
 
2.3 To note the approval process regarding Special Severance Payments and 

severance packages within the Pay Policy Statement for 2023/2024 and in 
particular with regard to urgency; 
 

2.4 To agree, as recommended by the General Purposes Committee on 23 January 
2023 that paragraph 6 of the General Purposes Committee’s terms of 
reference, as set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution - Responsibility of 
Functions, section 2, sub-section 2.5,  be amended as follows (to include the 
underlined wording): 

 
“6. The function in respect of voting on severance packages of staff above such 
specified thresholds as may, from time to time, be updated by statutory 
guidance if the proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the 
making of the decision is urgent”; 
 

2.5 To note that any review of whether the function of voting on severance 
packages and Special Severance Payments of £100,000 and above in the 
context of litigation and where the making of the decision is urgent (in 
accordance with the amendment to the General Purposes Committee’s terms of 
reference set out in paragraph 2.5 of this report, above), should move to the 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee, will be considered by the 
Constitution Review Group; 
 

2.6 To also agree the following consequential change to paragraph 11 of the 
General Purposes Committee’s terms of reference as underlined:   

 

11. Subject to paragraph 6 any matter reserved to the Council and a non-
executive function, or a matter reserved to a non-executive committee or sub-
committee of the Council which requires, in the Committee’s view or on the 
recommendation of the Mayor, the Chief Executive or a Corporate Director, 
action as a matter of urgency. 

Page 115



 

4 
 

  

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 To ensure that the Pay Policy Statement complies with the decision-making 
requirements within the Constitution in accordance with the statutory guidance and the 
Localism Act 2011 for dealing with severance packages and Special Severance 
Payments and in particular with regard to urgency.   

 
3.2 To comply with the legal requirements for the Council, in accordance with sections 38 

and 39 of the Localism Act 2011, to prepare and publish an annual Pay Policy 
Statement. 

 
 

4 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 

4.1 The Council aims to ensure that its remuneration packages are fair, equitable and 
transparent and offer suitable reward for the employment of high-quality staff with the 
necessary skills and experience to deliver high quality services.   

4.2 This Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s policy relating to the pay of its 
workforce (excluding school-based employees) as required under the Localism Act 
2011.  The Localism Act requires the Council to have prepared, approved and 
published a Pay Policy Statement for each financial year.  The areas to be covered in 
the statement are salary, expenses, bonuses, performance-related pay, severance 
payments, how election fees are paid and the pay policy on re-engagement of ex- 
employees.  

4.3 The pay of the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service is not aligned to the Joint 
National Committee for Chief Executives’ pay award and is determined on 
appointment with reference to market rates. The change to the benchmarking 
arrangement is in the appointment of an independent, external advisor with 
remuneration and performance expertise to advise the Executive Mayor (and at the 
Executive Mayor’s discretion other political group leaders) about appropriate 
remuneration for the post of Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service.              

4.4 The Pay Policy Statement refers to the Government guidance on Special Severance 
Payments, (the Statutory Guidance on the making and disclosure of Special 
Severance Payments by local authorities in England) issued under section 26 of the 
Local Government Act 1999.  This guidance was published on 12 May 2022 and forms 
part of the best value regime for local authorities in England, in accordance with the 
best value duty, as set out in section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999.  The 
guidance sets out the Government’s view that Special Severance Payments do not 
usually represent value for money and should only be considered in exceptional 
circumstances, giving examples of the circumstances in which Special Severance 
Payments may be appropriate, sets out the criteria employers should consider in the 
exceptional circumstances, in which it may be appropriate to make a Special 
Severance Payment  and clarifies the disclosure and reporting requirements for 
Special Severance Payments.  

Page 116



 

5 
 

4.5 Appointments  

Statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State, in February 2012 under section 
40 of the Localism Act 2011 (Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance 
under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011) provides that Full Council, or a meeting of 
members, should take decisions about remuneration packages for new appointments 
of £100,000 or more per year. The Appointments and Disciplinary Committee has 
delegated responsibility for approving appointments and decisions about remuneration 
packages for new appointments of £100,000, or more, per year in accordance with the 
provisions of the Localism Act 2011.    

4.6 Severance Packages 

In February 2013 Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 
40 of the Localism Act 2011 (Supplementary Guidance on Openness and 
Accountability in Local Pay issued under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011) 
provided that Full Council, or a meeting of members, should take decisions about 
severance packages of £100,000, or more, per year.  

4.7 In accordance with that guidance, in presenting information to Council, authorities 
should set out clearly the components of relevant severance packages. These 
components may include salary paid in lieu, redundancy compensation, pension 
entitlements, holiday pay and any bonuses, fees or allowances paid.   

4.8 Special Severance Payments  

In May 2022, new statutory guidance was issued by the Government which introduced 
the concept of Special Severance Payments: The Statutory Guidance on the making 
and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by local authorities in England dated 
May 2022.  

4.9 Special Severance Payments, as set out in that Statutory Guidance, include additional, 
discretionary sums paid on top of statutory and contractual redundancy or severance 
terms, including certain payments reached under a settlement agreement to 
discontinue legal proceedings without admission of fault, and certain pay in lieu of 
notice payments.  

4.10 The following types of payments are likely to constitute Special Severance Payments: 

a) any payments reached under a settlement agreement between the employer and 
employee to discontinue legal proceedings without admission of fault 

b) the value of any employee benefits or allowances which are allowed to continue 
beyond the employee’s agreed exit date 

c) write-offs of any outstanding loans 

d) any honorarium payments 

Page 117



 

6 
 

e) any hardship payments 

f) any payments to employees for retraining related to their termination of employment. 

4.11 The following types of payments may constitute Special Severance Payments, 
 depending on the terms of the individual’s contract, relevant statutory provisions, any 
non-statutory applicable schemes and other relevant terms and conditions: 

a) pay or compensation in lieu of notice where the amount of the payment is not 
greater than the salary due in the period of notice set out in the employee’s contract 

b) pension strain payments arising from employer discretions to enhance standard 
pension benefits (for example under Regulation 30(5) where the employer has waived 
the reduction under Regulation 30(8) or because of the award of additional pension 
under Regulation 31). 

4.12 The following do not constitute Special Severance Payments: 

a) statutory redundancy payments 

b) contractual redundancy payments, whether applicable to voluntary or compulsory 
redundancy, and whether agreed by collective agreement or otherwise 

c) severance payments made in accordance with that local authority’s policy adopted 
pursuant to Regulation 7 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 

d) a strain cost paid to the relevant LGPS administering authority under LGPS 
Regulation 68(2) which results from a LGPS member’s retirement benefits becoming 
immediately payable without reduction under Regulation 30(7), or under Regulation 
30(6) where the employer has waived the reduction under Regulation 30(8) 

e) payment for untaken annual leave 

f) payments ordered by a court or tribunal or agreed as part of a judicial or non-judicial 
mediation 

g) payments made as part of the ACAS Early Conciliation process 

h) payments made to compensate for injury or death of the worker 

i) payments made in consequence of the award of ill-health retirement benefits under 
Regulation 35 of the LGPS Regulations.  

4.13 The May 2022 Statutory Guidance introduced a new approval process, and the 
government expects that any Special Severance Payments should be approved 
according to the following process:  

• Payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a vote of Full Council, 
as set out in the Localism Act 2011 

Page 118



 

7 
 

• Payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000, must be personally 
approved and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, with a clear record of the 
Leader’s (Executive Mayor’s) approval and that of any others who have signed 
off the payment 

• Payments below £20,000 must be approved according to the local authority’s 
scheme of delegation.  

4.14 It is noted that at the Council meeting of 14 December 2022, as part of moving of the 
‘Response to the External Auditor’s Query regarding the Former Chief Executive’s 
Settlement Payment’ it was agreed that the Council should decide payments of over 
£100,000 to individuals going forward. 

4.15 The Local Government Association (LGA) has identified a conflict between the 
Localism Act 2011 and the Statutory Guidance on the making and disclosure of 
Special Severance Payments by local authorities in England dated May 2022, that “on 
the face of it the approval process in the (May 2022) statutory guidance only applies to 
the Special Severance Payment element of a severance payment, except where it is 
referring to duties already in place i.e. under the Localism Act 2011 and the duties to 
spend public money with propriety as well as the existing s.151 officer and Monitoring 
Officer duties, in which case those duties apply to the whole severance payment. The 
LGA has raised a query with the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities, which (at the time of writing this report) has yet to respond. The Council 
will ensure that it complies with its duties under the Localism Act 2011 and the 
Statutory Guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by 
local authorities in England dated May 2022 and any further information that may be 
provided from DLUHC when seeking approval for severance packages and Special 
Severance Payments.  

4.16 Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution - Responsibility of Functions, Section 2 
Responsibility for Council Functions, sub-section 2.5 General Purposes Committee, 
paragraph 6  states that ‘The function in respect of voting on severance packages of 
staff above such specified threshold as may, from time to time, be updated by 
statutory guidance’ and paragraph 7, ‘the function of deciding in respect of severance 
packages, whether the Council wishes to vote on a severance package above the 
specified threshold’ rests with the General Purposes Committee.  Further under 
paragraph 11 the General Purposes Committee has the responsibility of functions for 
‘any matter reserved to the Council and a non-executive function, or a matter reserved 
to a non-executive committee or sub-committee of the Council which requires, in the 
Committee's view or on the recommendation of the Mayor, the Chief Executive or a 
Corporate Director, action as a matter of urgency’. 

4.17 To make it clear in the context of litigation where the making of the decision is urgent 
concerning Special Severance Payments and severance packages of £100,000 and 
above, it was recommended by General Purposes Committee on 23 January 2023 that 
paragraph 6 of the General Purposes Committee’s terms of reference, as set out in 
Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution - Responsibility of Functions, section 2, sub-section 
2.5, be amended, by the addition of the underlined wording, as follows:   

Page 119



 

8 
 

“6. The function in respect of voting on severance packages of staff above such 
specified thresholds as may, from time to time, be updated by statutory guidance if 
the proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the making of the 
decision is urgent” 

Such decisions will only be referred to the GPC in limited and exceptional cases where 
a decision is required urgently in the context of litigation and a robust written business 
case must be provided to include the reason for the urgency. 

4.18   The Pay Policy Statement for 2023/2024 provides:  

• Full Council or, if the proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the 
making of the decision is urgent, General Purposes Committee will be given the 
opportunity to vote on severance packages of £100,000 and above in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
• Special Severance Payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a 

vote of full Council or, if the proposals are being made in the context of litigation 
and the making of the decision is urgent, General Purposes Committee in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
• Special Severance Payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000 must 

be personally approved and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, section 151 
Officer and Monitoring Officer with a clear record of the Executive Mayor’s 
approval (and that of any others who have signed off on the payment). 

 
• Special Severance Payments below £20,000 must be approved by the Chief 

People Officer in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations. 

 
4.19 A robust written business case setting out the considerations for making a Special 

Severance Payment, along with appropriate professional legal and financial advice, 
must be provided in accordance with the Statutory Guidance on the Making and 
Disclosure of Special Severance Payments by Local Authorities in England (May 
2022), when approval for a Special Severance Payment is sought in all cases. 

4.20 In the context of the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee having delegated 
responsibility for approving appointments and decisions about remuneration packages 
for new appointments of £100,000 or more per year in accordance with the provisions 
of the Localism Act 2011, the question arises as to whether the function of voting on 
severance packages and Special Severance Payments of £100,000 and above if the 
proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the making of the decision is 
urgent, should transfer from the General Purposes Committee to the Appointments 
and Disciplinary Committee, to the effect that the Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee would then deal with all such employment related matters.  Any changes to 
the Constitution around decision-making in this area will be considered by the 
Constitution Review group.   

   

Page 120



 

9 
 

5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED  
 

5.1 As the Pay Policy Statement is a requirement of the Localism Act 2011, it must be 
prepared, agreed by a vote of full Council and published and, therefore, there are no 
other options. 

 

6 CONSULTATION  
 
6.1 This report is a statement of fact regarding the pay of senior officers in the Council. 

Senior pay is carefully consulted on with lead members.  
 
 

7. CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 

7.1 We will live within our means, balance the books and provide value for money for our 
residents, including the pay for senior managers which has been benchmarked and 
independently evaluated and in the making of Special Severance Payments and 
agreeing severance packages.  

 
8. IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1.1 Finance have reviewed the report and can confirm that all salaries will be 

accounted for in the 2023-24 budget.    
 
8.1.2 Comments approved by Lesley Shields, Head of Finance for Assistant Chief 

Executive and Resources on behalf of the Director of Finance.  10/2/2023 
 

 
8.2 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
8.2.1  The Council must comply with the requirements of sections 38, 39 and 42 of the 

Localism Act 2011, which require the Council to prepare, approve and publish a 
Pay Policy Statement for the financial year 2023/2024 and in future years and 
must under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011, have regard to any guidance 
issued or approved by the Secretary of State. Under section 41 of the Localism 
Act 2011, the Council must comply with its Pay Policy Statement when making 
certain determinations relating to remuneration. The Council must also comply 
with its obligations under Regulation 10 of the Accounts and Audit (England) 
Regulations 2015 and the Local Government Transparency Code. The Pay 
Policy Statement sets out the Council’s policy relating to the pay of its workforce 
(excluding school-based employees) as required under the Localism Act 2011. 

 
8.2.2 The proposed statement complies with the statutory requirements for pay policy 

statements. Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council 
has the “power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as 

Page 121



 

10 
 

the authority thinks fit”, subject to section 41 of the Localism Act 2011 
(requirement for determinations relating to terms and conditions of Chief Officers 
to comply with the Pay Policy Statement). The Localism Act 2011 contains a 
definition of ‘Chief Officer’ which is set out in the proposed policy. The Localism 
Act 2011 also requires that the Council must decide on a definition of ‘lowest paid 
employees’ and set out the reasons for that decision. In accordance with Section 
38 of the Localism Act, this Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s policy for 
2023/24 on:  
▪ The remuneration of its senior staff designated Chief Officers 
▪ The remuneration of its lowest paid employees 
▪ The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the   
           remuneration of staff who are not Chief Officers 
 

8.2.3 On 12 May 2022, the Government issued Statutory Guidance on the Making and 
Disclosure of Special Severance Payments by Local Authorities in England and 
the Council must adhere to that guidance as part of the best value regime for 
local authorities in England. The best value duty, as set out in section 3 of the 
Local Government Act 1999 provides “A best value authority must make 
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way on which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness”. The best value duty is relevant to local authority duties to 
deliver a balanced budget (Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992), 
provide statutory services and secure value for money in spending decisions. 
This includes decisions to make Special Severance Payments.  The Pay Policy 
Statement also includes the Council’s policy on severance payments in 
accordance with section 38 of the Localism Act and the May 2022 statutory 
guidance.   

 
8.2.4Part 3 of the Constitution - Responsibility of Functions, section 2, sub-section 2.5 

sets out the terms of reference of the General Purposes Committee, paragraph 5 
states that the General Purposes Committee will consider and recommend to Full 
Council the Pay Policy Statement as required. Following a recommendation from 
the General Purposes Committee, Full Council is then expected to approve the 
Pay Policy Statement for 2023/2024. Part 2 of the Constitution- Article 4- 
Functions of Full Council, section 4.1, paragraph (p), provides that Full Council 
shall approve the Pay Policy Statement. 

 
8.2.5 The terms of reference for the General Purposes Committee provide in 

paragraph 6 ‘The function in respect of voting on severance packages of staff 
above such specified threshold as may, from time to time, be updated by 
statutory guidance’ and paragraph 7, ‘the function of deciding in respect of 
severance packages, whether the Council wishes to vote on a severance 
package above the specified threshold’ rests with the General Purposes 
Committee.  . Part 2 of the Constitution- Article 4- Functions of Full Council, 
section 4.1. paragraph (f) provides that Full Council shall exercise the function of 
agreeing and amending the terms of reference for non-executive Committees. 
Part 2 of the Constitution- Article 15- Changes to the Constitution - section 15.2, 
paragraph (a) provides ‘subject to paragraph (b) below, changes to this 
Constitution shall only be approved by the Full Council after consideration of 
written proposals made by the Mayor, Cabinet, General Purposes Committee or 
Monitoring Officer and the submission of a recommendation to a meeting of the 
Council.  Changes approved by the Council shall take effect from the conclusion 

Page 122



 

11 
 

of the meeting at which those changes are agreed unless the recommendation 
specifies otherwise.’ Section 15.2, paragraph (b) provides ‘unless the change 
relates only to the operation of Scrutiny and Overview Committee or Sub-
Committees, any resolution of the Full Council to approve a change will have no 
effect without the written consent of the Mayor.’ 

 
8.2.6 Comments approved by Sandra Herbert, the Head of Litigation and Corporate 

Law on behalf of the Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer.  
 

8.3 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 

8.3.1 The Council will continue to carefully monitor the equalities issues associated 
with pay, including the pay ratio, gender pay gap, ethnicity pay gap and 
disability pay gap.  New appointments to senior roles will be reviewed, 
including the appointment of senior staff by protected characteristics, a key 
equality performance indicator.   

 
8.3.2 Recipients of severance payments will be monitored by protected 

characteristic.  Any arising action from analysis of data should be considered 
by the appropriate Internal Control Board.   

 
8.3.3 Comments approved by Denise McCausland, Equalities Programme Manager 

14/2/2023. 
 

8.4  HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  

 
8.4.1 The Human Resources implications are set out in the main body of this report. 
 
8.4.2 Comments approved by Gillian Bevan, Head of HR Resources and Assistant   

Chief Executives Directorates 10/2/2023. 
 

 
9.       APPENDICES 

9.1 1. Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 

1a Chief Officer Grades 

1b Pay Structure for Chief Officers  

1c Mileage rates  

1d Early Retirement and Redundancy Scheme  

1e Statutory Guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance 
Payments by local authorities in England 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Croydon Council 
 

Pay Policy Statement 2023-24 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1. The Council aims to ensure that its remuneration packages are fair, equitable 

and transparent and offer suitable reward for the employment of high quality 
staff with the necessary skills and experience to deliver high quality services.   

1.2. This Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s policy relating to the pay of its 
workforce (excluding school-based employees) as required under the Localism 
Act 2011.  The Localism Act requires the Council to have considered, approved 
and published a Pay Policy Statement for each financial year.   

1.3. Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 
“power to appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the 
authority thinks fit”.   In accordance with Section 38 of the Localism Act, this Pay 
Policy Statement sets out the Council’s policy for 2023/24 on: 

• The remuneration of its senior staff designated Chief Officers 
• The remuneration of its lowest paid employees 
• The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and the 

remuneration of staff who are not Chief Officers 

1.4 Where this policy refers to Chief Officers, this means the Chief Executive, 
Corporate Directors, and Directors. A copy of the grading structure for Croydon 
Chief Officers is shown at appendix 1a.    Where the policy refers to the Council’s 
lowest-paid employees this means those that are paid on the lowest established 
grade and scale point i.e. Grade 1, point 2. This definition of lowest-paid 
employees has been adopted because it reflects the lowest salary payable under 
the Council’s job evaluation scheme and grading structure.  

1.5 Remuneration in this context is defined widely to include not just pay but also 
charges, fees, allowances, benefits in kind, increases in enhancements of 
pension entitlements and termination payments.   

1.6 The Appointments and Disciplinary Committee has delegated responsibility for 
approving appointments and decisions about  remuneration packages for new 
appointments of £100,000 or more per year in accordance with the provisions of 
the Localism Act 2011.  

1.7 Once approved, all remuneration paid to officers will comply with this policy for 
the 2023-24 financial year.  The statement will be reviewed in accordance with 
legislation prevailing at the time. 

1.8 In accordance with Part 3 of the Constitution – Responsibilities for Functions the 
Chief Executive’s Scheme of Delegations provides delegated authority to the 
Chief People Officer for pay and terms and conditions for staff other than the 
Chief Executive and senior staff covered by the Joint National Council for Chief 
Officers.  Grading and conditions of service for senior staff are approved by the 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee. Reference paragraph 4.7.8 and 4.7.9 
of Part 3 of the Constitution Responsibilities for Functions – see extracts below: 

Page 125



2 
 

“…..the Chief Executive’s delegation is subject to:  

4.7.8 “the approval of the Chief People Officer to the grading and conditions of 
service of staff (other than those based in schools or subject to the 
conditions of service of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C 
(Joint National Council for Chief Officers’ conditions of service) 

4.7.9  ”the approval of the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee to grading 
and conditions of service of staff employed subject to the conditions of 
service of the Chief Officers and Chief Executives J.N.C” 

1.9  Subject to circumstances, it may be necessary to amend this Pay Policy 
statement during the financial year. Any changes, or amendments, made will be 
subject to full Council approval.  

2. Pay structure 

2.1. The Council uses a combination of locally and nationally determined pay 
structures for its workforce. 

2.2. The Council will determine the appropriate grade for each job in accordance 
with either the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC) Job Evaluation 
Scheme, or the Hay Job Evaluation Scheme, depending upon the job 
requirements and the level of responsibility of its employees within the 
organisation. The GLPC scheme considers posts graded from Grade 1 to 
Grade 17 and the Hay scheme is used for posts graded Croydon Special Range 
A and B and Chief Officer Grades 1 – 5.   

a) The pay structures, including basic pay, for the Chief Executive and Head of 
Paid Service, Corporate Directors, Directors and posts at Croydon Special 
Range (CSR) level are determined locally.  

b) The basic pay for teachers, lecturers, youth workers and Soulbury staff is in 
accordance with nationally negotiated pay structures.    

c) To reflect market and industry specific factors, staff in the in-house bailiff 
service have locally determined pay arrangements which includes an element 
of performance pay. Skills scarce occupations may be awarded market 
supplement payments, in accordance with the council’s market supplement 
policy and robust pay benchmarking to reflect key skills shortages in this 
sector.  Certain hard to recruit roles, including Social Workers with key skills 
and Education Psychologists (Soulbury staff) receive an attraction and 
retention payment which is separate and distinct from a market supplement.  

d) For the majority of other staff, the Council uses a locally determined grading 
structure aligned to the relevant London pay spine of the Greater London 
Provincial Council. 

2.3. Pay allowances, other than basic pay, are the subject of local or nationally 
negotiated rates having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
the collective bargaining arrangements and/or as determined by the Council.  

2.4. The Council adheres to national pay bargaining and will normally apply a 
nationally negotiated cost of living pay award for staff covered by the relevant 

Page 126



3 
 

negotiating body and any increase will be payable with effect either from 1 April 
for NJC and JNC, and or 1 September (for Soulbury, Youth and Centrally 
Appointed Teachers).  

2.5. Employees who have joined the Council as a result of a Transfer of 
Undertakings Protection of Employment (TUPE) transfer may have different 
arrangements. In accordance with TUPE the Council will comply with any such 
contractual arrangements in relation to the pay for such employees.   Should 
conditions arise which support a business case for staff to be offered an 
opportunity to move to Council terms and conditions this will be considered in 
accordance with legal obligations.  

3. Remuneration  

3.1. For the purpose of this pay policy statement, Chief Officers include:  

a) The Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service; Corporate Directors; 
Directors;   

3.2. Current remuneration for Chief Officers is set out below: - 

a) The Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service salary is currently 
£192,474 per year and is next due to be reviewed in April 2023.  The 
Council will appoint an independent, external advisor with remuneration 
and performance expertise to advise the Executive Mayor (and at the 
Executive Mayor’s discretion other political group leaders) about 
appropriate remuneration for the post of Chief Executive and Head of Paid 
Service. This will be aligned to the annual performance appraisal review 
process.   

b) Corporate Directors and Directors are paid salaries aligned to the Croydon 
Chief Officer grades, as set out in Appendix 1a, with provision for annual 
incremental progression to the top of the grade.   Salaries are reviewed in 
line with the national awards, as determined by the JNC for Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Chief Officers.  

3.3 For the purposes of this pay policy statement, posts defined as deputy chief 
officers are those paid on Croydon Special Range grades who report to 
Directors, and include:- 

a) Heads of Service and certain senior staff in posts above grade 17 but 
below Chief Officer. These posts are placed on a salary within Croydon 
Special Range A and B, following evaluation using the Hay job evaluation 
scheme with provision for incremental progression to the top spinal point 
of the grade. Salaries are reviewed in line with national joint council (NJC) 
pay awards. 

The grades and salary structures for Chief Officers and Croydon Special Range A 
and B are shown in Appendix 1b. 

Grades are shown in Appendix 1a 

Page 127



4 
 

3.4 The pay of the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service is determined on 
appointment with reference to market rates. The Council will also seek advice 
from the independent external advisor in this regard, see section 3.2 9 (a) above. 
In establishing market rates, the Council will compare remuneration data from 
other comparable local authorities.  This allows closer benchmarking, where 
possible, to take account of factors such as population size, social demographics, 
budgetary responsibilities, economic and regeneration activity.  

Additional remuneration elements 

3.5 The Council does not apply any bonuses or performance payments to its senior 
staff.  In addition to basic pay, elements of “additional pay”, other than those that 
constitute re-imbursement of expenses incurred during the fulfilment of duties, 
are set out below: 

a) In order to recruit or retain employees in a post at its designated grade or 
spot point consideration will be given to  the use of market supplements as 
approved by the Chief People Officer and Chief Executive in accordance 
with the Council’s market supplement policy, with such payments being 
subject to periodic review.  Market supplements will, when added to basic 
pay, not normally exceed 10% of base pay but by formal exception may be 
up to 20% of base pay.  Any market supplement for the Chief Executive 
and Chief Officers will be recommended by the Chief People Officer and 
Chief Executive and determined by the Appointments and Disciplinary 
Committee.  

b) A compulsory car allowance may be made to authorised car users at all 
levels of the workforce, other than to Chief Officers.  The compulsory car 
allowance applies to employees where driving a car is an integral feature of 
the employee’s job duties and the employee is unable to carry out their 
duties without providing and using their own car.  The amount of the 
allowance depends on the engine size and emissions of the employee’s car 
as shown in Appendix 1c.  

c) Returning Officer fees: the Council is required by the Representation of 
the People Act 1983 to appoint an officer to act as the Electoral 
Registration Officer (ERO) for any constituency or part of a constituency 
within its area to be responsible for the preparation and maintenance of 
the electoral register and to act as the Returning Officer (RO) for all 
elections.  Such duties attract a fee payable to the individual, paid for by 
the Government except in relation to local elections. The fees are set by 
central government for national elections and referenda and for local 
elections fees are prescribed by and agreed on an annual basis by the 
Chief Executives’ London Committee, which reports into the London 
Councils network. The Council’s Electoral Registration Officer and 
Returning Officer is the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service, as 
agreed by resolution of the Council, or as delegated to a committee.  

In their capacity as the Council’s Electoral Registration Officer and the 
Council’s Returning Officer, the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
may appoint deputy Electoral Registration Officers and a deputy Returning 

Page 128



5 
 

Officer.  Fees for carrying out such duties are payable to appointed 
individuals. 

d) From time to time consideration will be given to making additional 
payments, as approved by the Chief People Officer, to senior staff  who 
undertake additional and/or higher level responsibilities for example when 
covering the duties of a vacant Chief Officer post.  Such payments are 
temporary and subject to periodic review.  

Remuneration on appointment 

3.6      Where employees are appointed to a grade, it is the Council’s policy to appoint 
all employees on the bottom spinal point of the grade, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances as authorised by the relevant Director and approved 
by the Chief People Officer, or in the case of  senior staff, the Appointments and 
Disciplinary Committee.   

 
3.7 Appointments to Chief Officer posts will be made within the grade and salaries 

stated for the respective post as set out in Appendix 1a. 

   

4.0 Severance Payments  

Redundancy  

4.1  The Council has a single redundancy scheme which applies to all employees 
including Chief Officers. Redundancy Payments are calculated in accordance 
with the Employment Rights Act 1996 and the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2006 and are based on the employee’s age, length of continuous 
local government service and salary.  Details of the redundancy scheme are 
attached as Appendix 1d.  The Council does not make any other payments to 
employees on termination of their employment other than those, where there is a 
statutory, or contractual, requirement to do so, such as payment for accrued and 
untaken annual leave. 

 Early Retirement (Efficiency of Service) 

4.2 The Local Government Pension Scheme allows employers certain discretionary 
powers and the Council has provisions for employees to seek early retirement on 
the grounds of the efficiency of the service.  Details are set out in the attached 
redundancy scheme at Appendix 1d. 

4.3 Full Council or, if the proposals are being made in the context of litigation and the 
making of the decision is urgent, General Purposes Committee will be given the 
opportunity to vote on severance packages of £100,000 and above in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  

 

 

Page 129



6 
 

Special Severance Payments  

4.4     The Council adheres to the Government’s Statutory Guidance on the Making and 
Disclosure of Special Severance Payments by Local Authorities in England (May 
2022), attached at appendix 1e.  

4.5 Special severance payments (additional, discretionary sums paid on top of 
statutory and contractual redundancy or severance terms including certain 
payments reached under a settlement agreement  and certain pay in lieu of 
notice payments) will be approved by the Council by the following processes:  

• Special severance payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a 
vote of full Council or, if the proposals are being made in the context of 
litigation and the making of the decision is urgent, General Purposes 
Committee in accordance with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
• Special severance payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000 

must be personally approved and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, 
section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer with a clear record of the 
Executive Mayor’s approval (and that of any others who have signed off on 
the payment)   

 
• Special Severance Payments below £20,000 must be approved by the Chief 

People Officer in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations.   

A business case setting out the considerations for making a Special Severance 
Payment, along with appropriate professional advice, must be provided in 
accordance with the Statutory Guidance on the Making and Disclosure of Special 
Severance Payments by Local Authorites in England (May 2022), when approval 
for a Special Severance Payment is sought. 

 

Re-employment of officers previously made redundant and retirement 

4.6      Where an officer who has previously been made redundant from the Council 
applies for employment with the Council, their application will be treated on its 
own merits, the financial merits and wider interests of the Council and will have 
regard to any agreement under which the officer left their previous employment.  
Where an officer leaves the Council’s employment through voluntary severance 
or voluntary redundancy arrangements, they will not be allowed to work for the 
Council in any capacity, including engagement via employment agencies, or as a 
consultant, for a period of at least one year after leaving.   

 
4.7 Employees who are offered another post with any organisation covered by the 

Redundancy Payments (Continuity of Employment in Local Government etc) 
(Modification) Order 1999, prior to their redundancy leaving date and commence 
the post within 4 weeks of that date are not eligible to receive their redundancy 
payment. 
 

4.8      The Council allows flexible retirement, as permitted by the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations, whereby an employee can receive a salary and be 

Page 130



7 
 

in receipt of a pension for doing the same job.  Flexible retirement will usually 
only be agreed where there is no cost to the Council. Exceptions to this will be 
based on the best interest of the Council and will be agreed by the Corporate 
Director of Resources in consultation with the Chief People Officer, except where 
such a decision relates to either of themselves, when the Chief Executive will be 
consulted.  Employees retiring before their normal retirement age will, therefore, 
usually receive what is known as an actuarial reduction in their pension as 
allowed for under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations, to reflect 
the financial impact on the pension fund by the employee’s early retirement. 

 
5 Remuneration of lowest paid employees 

5.1 The definition of “lowest paid employee” is for local determination.  The Council 
has agreed that the lowest paid employee will be those workers employed under 
a contract of employment on full-time equivalent hours, in accordance with the 
minimum grade of the Council’s agreed grading structure i.e. Grade 1, scale point 
2. Workers, such as apprentices, who are engaged on fixed term training 
contracts, are excluded from this definition.  

5.2 The Council is a Real Living Wage (formerly the London Living Wage) employer 
and will pay the Real Living Wage as its minimum rate of pay to employees, other 
than those engaged specifically on apprentice or similar training contracts.  The 
Council will apply increases in the Real Living Wage with effect from the 1st April 
following announcement of the increase.  With effect from 1st April 2023 the full-
time equivalent annual pay of the lowest paid employee will be £23,628 which 
equates to an hourly rate of pay of  £12.58 (this reflects the current Real Living 
Wage London which is £11.95 per hour from 1st April 2023 - noting this rate 
remains below Croydon’s lowest annual payment of £23,628 and hourly rate of  
£12.58).  

6        The relationship between the pay of Chief Officers and that of other staff 

6.1     The Council does not set the pay of individuals or groups of individuals by 
reference to a simple multiple of the pay of another individual or group.   The use 
of simple pay multiples cannot capture the complexities and dynamics of a highly  
varied workforce.  The Council sets pay as outlined above by reference to the 
evaluated level of responsibilities of the post, or at a rate determined by a 
national pay body. 

6.2     Guidance produced under section 40 of the Localism Act recommends that a pay 
multiple is included in these statements as a way of illustrating the Council’s 
approach to pay dispersion and the Council has decided to publish its pay multiples 
to aid transparency and future benchmarking: 

• The multiple for 2022-23 between the lowest paid employee and the chief 
executive and head of paid service is a ratio of 1:8 

• The multiple between the lowest paid employee and the median chief officer 
is a ratio of 1:6    

• The multiple between the median pay and the chief executive and head of 
paid service’s pay is a ratio of 1:4 

• The multiple between the median pay and the average chief officers’ pay is a 
ratio of 1:32 

Page 131



8 
 

6.3      As part of its overall and ongoing monitoring of alignment with external pay, both 
within and outside the sector, the Council will use available benchmarking 
information as appropriate. 

 

7 Non-permanent staffing resources 

7.1 To maintain flexibility in delivering services the Council supplements its employee 
workforce with workers who are not Council employees or on the Council payroll.  
This non-permanent resource includes consultants, who are procured under a 
Contract for (Consultancy) Services, and interims who are procured through the 
Council’s managed service provider (Adecco) or by exception and once Adecco 
route has been exhausted, other approved frameworks.   

7.2 In managing its non-permanent staffing resource, the Council seeks to ensure 
that: the Council, and the wider public sector, achieve value for money; tax and 
national insurance liabilities are managed appropriately; and contractual 
relationships between the Council, workers and third parties are properly 
reflected.  In this regard, it is the Council’s policy not to engage directly with self- 
employed individuals, or wholly owned one person limited companies in all but 
the rarest of exceptions.   Where such arrangements are used, the Council seeks 
to limit them to a maximum duration of 24 months.     

7.3  Where it is necessary to engage a worker at Tier 1 or Tier 2 temporarily as an 
interim or consultant, the remuneration paid to the individual will generally fall 
within the following rates however, wherever possible, the council will seek to 
appoint to a fixed- term contract within the grade ranges shown in Appendix 1a.  
The higher rates of pay shown immediately below, compared to those paid to 
directly employed staff, are in recompense of interims and consultants not 
receiving all of the same conditions of employment, most notably regarding 
leave, pension, redundancy and notice. 

Grade of post Day rate range  £ 
(payable to the individual) 

Croydon Special Range  £450 - £525 
Director £525 - £775 
Corporate Director  £775 - £900 
Chief Executive £1,200 - £1,500 

7.4      Workers engaged directly by the Council will be assessed to establish whether 
they fall within the scope of the IR35 legislation using the HMRC employment 
status tool. Workers who fall within scope will have Income Tax and National 
Insurance Contributions deducted and paid over to HMRC.  

8         Publication 

8.1 Upon approval by the full Council this statement will be published on the 
Council’s website.  Publication of this statement, any amendments and details of 
remuneration will be in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and with the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011. 

Page 132



9 
 

8.2 The Council in compliance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2014 
publishes information about:  

• The number of employees whose remuneration in that year was at least 
£50,000 in brackets of £5,000  

• Details of remuneration and job title of certain senior employees whose 
salary is at least £50,000 and  

• Employees whose salaries are £150,000 or more must also be identified by 
name.  

8.3 The Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts will include a note setting out the 
remuneration paid to each member of the corporate management team (the 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service and those reporting directly to them) 
including the total amount paid to each individual by way of: salary, including fees 
and allowances; expense allowances; compensation for loss of office; benefits in 
kind and employers pension contributions. The Annual Statement of Accounts is 
published on the Council’s website. 

8.4   The Annual Statement of Accounts will also report on termination payments for 
all employees in keeping with international financial reporting standards.  This will 
show the number of termination payments, within specific financial bands, made 
to employees during the year. In addition the Council will disclose in their annual 
accounts all severance payments, pension fund strain costs and other special 
severance payments made in consequence of termination of employment or loss 
of office (but excluding payments on death or ill health retirement). Apart from 
where otherwise required by law, reporting will be anonymised to comply with 
data protection requirements. 

9. Appendices 

1a          Chief Officer Grades 

1b    Pay Structure for Chief Officers  

1c    Mileage rates  

1d    Early Retirement and Redundancy Scheme  

1e Statutory Guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance 
Payments by local authorities in England 

 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1a 
 
Croydon Chief Officer Grades 2023/24 
 
CCOG Grade Minimum Mid-point Maximum 
Director  
 

Grade I £98,336 £100,275 £102,242 

Director  
 

Grade 2 £108,401 £110,530 £112,703 

Director  
 

Grade 3 £118,650 £120,985 £123,366 

Corporate 
Director  

Grade 4 £138,367 £141,432 £144,222 

Corporate 
Director  

Grade 5 £146,020 £148,902 £154,731 

 
* as at 2022/23 rates, cost of living JNC national pay award for 2023/24 yet to be 
negotiated 
 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1b 
 
Pay structure for Chief Officers   
 
Chief Officers: 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 
(Note: national pay award for 1/4/2023 remains pending national negotiations) 
 
Post Salary 
Chief Executive  £192,474 (spot) 
Corporate Director Adult Social Care and Health 
Corporate Director of Children, Young People and 
Education    
Corporate Director Housing 
Corporate Director of Sustainable Communities, 
Regeneration and Economic Recovery 
Corporate Director of Resources (S151 Monitoring Officer) 
  

£146,020 - 
£154,731 

Assistant Chief Executive £138,697 - 
£144,222 

Chief Digital Officer, and Director of Resident Access 
Director of Public Health  
Director of Adult Social Care Operations 
Director of Children's Social Care 
Director of Planning & Sustainable Regeneration 
  

£118,650 - 
£123,366 

Chief People Officer  
Director of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
Director of Adult Social Care Commissioning, Policy & 
Improvement  
Director of Education  
Director of Quality Commissioning & Performance 
Improvement 
Director of Sustainable Communities 
Director of Housing Estates & Improvement 
Director of Housing Resident Engagement & Allocations 
Director of Finance  
Director of Commercial Investment  
  

 
£108,401 - 
£112,703 

Director of Policy, Programmes & Performance 
Director of Culture & Community Safety 
  

£98,336 - £102,242 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



 
Croydon Special Range 1 April 2023 – 31 March 2024 
 

Grade SCP Salary* 

1 £68,967 

2 £71,159 Croydon Special 
Range A 

3 £75,544 

4 £86,380 

5 £89,062 Croydon Special 
Range B      

6 £91,737 

 
* as at 2022/23 rates cost of living NJC national pay award for 2023/24 yet to be 
negotiated 
 
 

Page 138



Appendix 1c 

Allowances and Mileage Rates 
Car Mileage Rates 

From 1 April 2011 the compulsory car allowance and mileage rates for higher engine 
banding payments are only to be paid to employees whose vehicles fall within the 
DVLA bandings A-E for CO2 emissions.   

Employees whose vehicles fall outside these DVLA bandings will be restricted 
to the payments for the lower engine size banding, irrespective of the size of 
their vehicle’s engine.   

The table below shows the rates with effect from 1 April 2011:  

 451 - 999cc 1000 - 
1199cc 

1200 - 
1450cc 

Compulsory car users  Only payable for cars within DVLA 
bandings A-E for CO2 emissions 

Lump sum per annum £846 £963 £1,239 

per mile first 8,500 36.9p 40.9p 50.5p 

per mile after 8,500 13.7p 14.4p 16.4p 

 

 451 - 999cc 1000 - 
1199cc 

1200 - 
1450cc 

Casual users  Only payable for cars within DVLA 
bandings A-E for CO2 emissions 

per mile first 8,500 46.9p 52.2p 65.0p 

per mile after 8,500 13.7p 14.4p 16.4p 

 
Motorcycle Rate 
This will be paid in accordance with the HMRC approved amount which is 24p per 
mile. 
 
Bicycle Rate 
This will be paid in accordance with the HMRC approved amount which is 20p per 
mile. 
 

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rates-and-allowances-travel-mileage-and-fuel-allowances/travel-mileage-and-fuel-rates-and-allowances
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rates-and-allowances-travel-mileage-and-fuel-allowances/travel-mileage-and-fuel-rates-and-allowances


Change of Vehicle  
You should provide original copies of your vehicle registration document, evidence of 
valid tax and MOT and insurance certificate for the vehicle you will be using for work 
purposes to your manager. Your manager is responsible for checking this 
documentation before approving any mileage claims made for the new vehicle. 
 

 

Page 140



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 1 

Appendix 1d 
 

Early Retirement & Redundancy Scheme 
(incl. Efficiency of the Service) 

  
Council approved 1981.   
Amended by Corporate Services Committee on 11 October 2006; effective from 
1st December 2006 
Amended 010410:  legislative changes 
Amended 010411: Employee Based Cost Review (EBCR) 
Amended: Sept 2018: Insertion of data protection reference 
Amended: Sept 2019: Link to EBCR provisions clarified; change to additional 
pension wording reflecting scheme changes from 1/4/2008 
 
 

 
1. Scope and purpose of scheme ...............................................................................1 
2. General ......................................................................................................................1 
3. Early retirement by reason of redundancy ............................................................2 
4.    Redundancy .............................................................................................................2 
5. Early retirement in the interests of the efficiency of the service ........................3 
6. Complying with legislation .....................................................................................3 
7. Data protection .........................................................................................................3 
Appendix 1: “ready reckoner” for statutory redundancy pay ....................................5 
 

 

1. Scope and purpose of scheme 
 
1.1 This scheme is without prejudice to the Council’s and the trade unions’ general 

policy of opposition to redundancies.  It outlines the approach the Council may use 
when making staffing reductions through employees volunteering for redundancy, 
early retirement on the grounds of redundancy, and early retirement on the 
grounds of efficiency of the service.  The scheme is supplementary to the Council’s 
Staff Consultation Framework, Restructuring and Reorganisation Policy and 
Redeployment Policy. 

 
1.2 The scheme covers all categories of staff except teachers and lecturers for whom 

a separate scheme exists. 
 
1.3 The scheme sets out the normal level of payments made to employees.  Certain 

payments in the scheme are enhanced by the Council exercising its discretion, as 
allowed for in legislation.   The exercise of the Council’s discretion is subject to a 
decision in each case, and the Council reserves the right to apply different 
payments in particular cases.  The Council also reserves the right to withdraw or 
suspend the scheme at any time. 

 

Page 141



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 2 

 
 
 

2. General 
 
2.1 Where redundancies as defined in the Employment Rights Act 1996 are 

contemplated the Council may choose to seek volunteers for early retirement or 
redundancy from the staff:  

 
(a) in the post(s) directly affected by staff reductions 
and/or 
(b) posts it is likely that redundant staff would be redeployed into. 
 

2.2 The selection of staff to be invited to apply for consideration for early retirement 
will be made by the Council, after consultation, according to its requirements for 
staff reductions and other relevant factors.  The group from whom volunteers are 
invited will be as wide as possible taking into account the definitions above. In 
some cases it is recognised that it will only be possible to invite volunteers from 
relatively restricted numbers of people. 

 
2.3 In considering applications it is within the discretion of the Council to accept 

individual applications on the basis of whether the staff come within specified 
categories and whether various statutory and other requirements are met.  Should 
the number of volunteers for early retirement exceed the number of redundancies, 
the Council will consult staff representatives about the method of selection. 

 

3. Early retirement by reason of redundancy  
(only for employees aged 55 and over) 
 

3.1 Employees aged 55 or more who are made redundant or who volunteer under 
paragraph 0 above, will be eligible for immediate payment of pension benefits if 
they have qualifying service for a period of two years including any transfer of 
pension rights into the LGPS from another contributory pension scheme (or less 
than 2 years membership if the previous pension scheme does not permit a refund 
of contributions). 

 
 
3.2 In addition to immediate payment of pension benefits, employees with 2 years 

continuous service will also be entitled to a redundancy payment.  The redundancy 
payment will be calculated as set out in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2.   

 
3.3 The granting of additional pension in respect of redundancy and early retirement 

in the interests of the efficiency of the service is to compensate officers for the loss 
of position and future expectations as a result of the Council’s actions.  It is not in 
respect of past service, which is covered by pension entitlement arising from 
contributions made into the Pension Fund. 

 
3.4 The costs of the early payment of benefits are charged to departmental budgets 

rather than the Pension Fund. 
 

Page 142



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 3 

3.5 From 1 April 2007 any general expectation to receive additional pension years will 
cease. 

 
 

4.       Redundancy 
 
4.1 Employees who are made redundant will receive a redundancy payment based on 

length of continuous service and age as laid down in the Employment Rights Act.   
The details of the statutory redundancy payments vary with age and length of 
service and a ready reckoner is set out in Appendix 1.   
 

4.2 In calculating the redundancy payment (in line with the EBCR 2011) the following 
provisions will apply: 

 
i)    In cases of compulsory redundancy, the amount by which the 

employee’s actual weekly pay exceeds the statutory cap will be reduced 
by 50% e.g. with the statutory cap at £525 and an employee’s actual 
weekly pay at £625, redundancy pay would be calculated on a revised 
weekly pay of £575. 

 
ii)    In cases of voluntary redundancy, the amount by which an employee’s 

weekly pay exceeds the statutory cap will be reduced by 25%  e.g. with 
the statutory cap at £525 and an employee’s actual weekly pay at £625, 
redundancy pay would be calculated on a revised weekly pay of £600 

 
 

iii) continuous local government service (and certain related service) will be 
used where this exceeds service with the London Borough of Croydon.  

 
 

5. Early retirement in the interests of the efficiency of the service 
 
5.1 The Council will consider applications from staff, supported by their Directors, for 

early retirement on the grounds of the efficiency of the service.  Each case will be 
decided on its merits by the director of Human Resources and the S151 Officer.  
They will use their discretion based on the following criteria: 

 
(a) staff suffering ill-health of a nature not covered by the ill-health provisions of 

the Pension scheme 
(b) a change in the organisation of an establishment or department which does 

not give rise to redundancy 
(c) staff who are unable to meet the changed requirements of their post 
 

5.2 Employees aged 55 or over, who retire on the grounds of efficiency of the service 
are eligible for immediate payment of pension benefits if they have qualifying 
service for a period of two years including any transfer of pension rights into the 
LGPS from another contributory pension scheme (or less than 2 years 
membership if the previous pension scheme does not permit a refund of 
contributions). 

 

Page 143



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 4 

 
5.3 From 1 April 2007 any general expectation to receive additional pension will cease.   
 
5.4       In these cases there is no entitlement to a redundancy payment. 
 
 

6.   Complying with legislation  
 
6.1 The Council will only apply the above policy in a manner which is compatible with 

the law (inc. legislation, subordinate legislation and case law) and anything in 
this policy which is incompatible with the law shall be disregarded or applied only 
to the extent that doing so would not be contrary to the law as it is understood 
when the policy is applied in any particular case.   

 

7. Data protection 

The council processes personal data of employees, including data that is within 
the special categories of data (such as personal data concerning an employee's 
health), collected during their recruitment and while they are employed in 
accordance with the workforce data protection policy for the purposes of 
dealing with any potential or actual redundancies.  

Inappropriate access or disclosure of employee data by an employee of the 
organisation constitutes a data breach and should be reported immediately in 
accordance with the council’s workplace data protection policy (which can be 
found in the HR Handbook). It may also constitute a disciplinary offence, which 
will be dealt with under the council's disciplinary procedure. 

 
 
 

End

Page 144

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/hr/hr-handbook


 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 5 

Appendix 1: “ready reckoner” for statutory redundancy pay 
 

Figures in grid show the number of weeks’ pay due 
Continuous Service (Years) 

Age 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 

181 1                   

19 1 1½                  

20 1 1½ 2                 

21 1 1½ 2 2½                

22 1 1½ 2 2½ 3               

23 1½ 2 2½ 3 3½ 4              

24 2 2½ 3 3½ 4 4½ 5             

25 2 3 3½ 4 4½ 5 5½ 6            

26 2 3 4 4½ 5 5½ 6 6½ 7           

27 2 3 4 5 5½ 6 6½ 7 7½ 8          

28 2 3 4 5 6 6½ 7 7½ 8 8½ 9         

29 2 3 4 5 6 7 7½ 8 8½ 9 9½ 10        

30 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 8½ 9 9½ 10 10½ 11       

31 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9½ 10 10½ 11 11½ 12      

32 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 10½ 11 11½ 12 12½ 13     

33 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11½ 12 12½ 13 13½ 14    

34 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 12½ 13 13½ 14 14½ 15   

35 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 13½ 14 14½ 15 15½ 16  

36 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 14½ 15 15½ 16 16½ 17 

37 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 15½ 16 16½ 17 17½ 

38 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 16½ 17 17½ 18 

39 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 17½ 18 18½ 

40 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 18½ 19 

41 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 19½ 

42 2½ 3½ 4½ 5½ 6½ 7½ 8½ 9½ 10½ 11½ 12½ 13½ 14½ 15½ 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 

43 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 

 
1 It is possible that an individual could start to build up continuous service before age 16, but this is likely to be rare, 
and therefore the table starts  from age 18. 

Page 145



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 6 

Continuous Service (Years) 

Age 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 

44 3 4½ 5½ 6½ 7½ 8½ 9½ 10½ 11½ 12½ 13½ 14½ 15½ 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 21½ 

45 3 4½ 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 

46 3 4½ 6 7½ 8½ 9½ 10½ 11½ 12½ 13½ 14½ 15½ 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 21½ 22½ 

47 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 

48 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 11½ 12½ 13½ 14½ 15½ 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 21½ 22½ 23½ 

49 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 

50 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 14½ 15½ 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 21½ 22½ 23½ 24½ 

51 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

52 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 17½ 18½ 19½ 20½ 21½ 22½ 23½ 24½ 25½ 

53 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 

54 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 20½ 21½ 22½ 23½ 24½ 25½ 26½ 

55 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

56 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 23½ 24½ 25½ 26½ 27½ 

57 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 24 25 26 27 28 

58 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 24 25½ 26½ 27½ 28½ 

59 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 24 25½ 27 28 29 

60 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 24 25½ 27 28½ 29½ 

612 3 4½ 6 7½ 9 10½ 12 13½ 15 16½ 18 19½ 21 22½ 24 25½ 27 28½ 30 
2 The same figures should be used when calculating the redundancy payment for a person aged 61 and above. 
 
 
Notes: 
Statutory redundancy payments are based on length of continuous service (up to max of 20 yrs) 
and age as follows: 
- for each completed year of service up to age 21 inclusive: half a week’s pay 
- for each completed year of service from age 22-40 inclusive: one week’s pay. 
- for each completed year of service from age 41 inclusive: one and a half week’s pay.    
In calculating the redundancy payment continuous local government service (and certain related 
service) will be used where this exceeds continuous service with Croydon. 
 
For pre 1 April 2011 and in the following exceptional circumstances: 

1.1. Redundancy payment is based on the employee’s actual weekly pay where this exceeds 
the statutory maximum. 

 
 

Page 146



 

HR & OD Handbook- updated Aug 2019 7 

1.2. Employees who have been written to before the 1 April 2011 implementation date of the 
Employee Based Cost Review EBCR) and have either: 

• been given notice that their employment is being terminated by reason of redundancy  

or  

• been informed that they are at risk of redundancy.  

These employees retain an entitlement to have their redundancy pay calculated on the 
basis of their actual weekly pay in the event that their employment in that post is terminated 
on grounds of redundancy and the effective date of redundancy is on or after 1 April 2011. 

For the sake of clarity, the transitional arrangement above applies only to the specific redundancy 
situation confirmed in writing to the employees before 1 April 2011.  In the event that the 
employees are made redundant after 1 April 2011 in different circumstances, any redundancy 
payments will be based on the revised arrangements as outlined in 4.2 and below 
 
 
From 1 April 2011 

1.3. With effect from the EBCR implementation date of 1 April 2011 the weekly pay used for 
calculating redundancy payments will be as follows: 

a) In cases of compulsory redundancy, by reducing by 50% the amount by which an 
employee’s actual weekly pay exceeds the statutory cap. 

 for example: with the statutory cap at £400 and an employee’s actual weekly pay at 
£500, redundancy pay would be calculated on a revised weekly pay of £450 

b) In cases of voluntary redundancy, by reducing by 25% the amount by which an 
employee’s weekly pay exceeds the statutory cap. 

 for example: with the statutory cap at £400 and an employee’s actual weekly pay at 
£500, redundancy pay would be calculated on a revised weekly pay of £475. 

 
 
 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

COUNCIL  

DATE OF DECISION 1 March 2023  
 

REPORT TITLE: 
 

Members’ Allowance Scheme 2022/23 and 2023/24  

DIRECTOR:  
 

Stephen Lawrence-Orumwense 
Director of Legal Services 

LEAD OFFICER: Adrian May 
Interim Head of Democratic Services 

adrian.may@croydon.gov.uk 
 

CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  
 

[NO] Public 
 

WARDS AFFECTED:  
NA 

  
 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 
Councils each year, must approve the Members’ Allowances Scheme for the next 
financial year. Croydon Council agreed their Members’ Allowance Scheme for 2022/23 
at Council 23 March 2022 and subsequently amended the scheme at the Annual 
Council meeting on 25 May 2022. 
 

1.2 Part 3 Responsibility for Council Functions in the Constitution identifies the General 
Purposes Committee (GPC) as responsible for reviewing the Members’ Allowance 
Scheme with any amendment / approvals to be made at full Council. 
 

1.3 General Purposes Committee, 21 February 2023, reviewed an officer proposal that the 
2022/23 Members’ Scheme be increased in-line with the Local Government Pay 
Settlement.  The GPC also considered the Members’ Allowance Scheme proposed for 
2023/24. This report presents the GPC recommendations. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in this report (and appendices), and as recommended by the General 
Purposes Committee, Council is recommended to agree: 

 

2.1 that no increase is applied to the Member Allowance Scheme for 2022/23; 
 

2.2 that the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2023/24 as detailed in Appendix 3, 
being materially the same as the 2022/23 scheme; 

Page 159

Agenda Item 9



 

 

 
2.3 that the Director of Legal Services is authorised to comply with the statutory 

requirements to publicise the 2023/24 Members’ Allowances Scheme and make 
all necessary updates to the Constitution; and, 

to note:  

2.4 that the General Purposes Committee will review and bring proposals to Council 
with regards to the Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances and other 
allowances, such as carer responsibilities, travel, maternity/paternity, and 
Subsistence, following the publication of the next report of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (IRP) on ‘The Remuneration of Councillors in London’. 

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 Following consideration at the General Purposes Committee, 21 February 2023, which 
included the financial context of the Council and feedback from groups around the 
proposed increase (who oppose the increase), GPC did not agree the proposed 
recommendation to Council for an increase to the 2022/23 Members’ Allowance 
Scheme. 

 
3.2 GPC agreed to recommend to Council that the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 

2023/24 be on the same terms as the 2022/23 scheme and agreed that a full review 
of the Members’ Allowance Scheme be conducted following the next release of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel, later in 2023. 
 

3.3 There is a legal requirement for the Members’ Allowance Scheme to be advertised / 
published in the local press (albeit also being published on the internet) and it is 
considered good governance that the constitution be updated. 
 

 
4 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 

 
4.1 The current Members’ Allowances Scheme provides for the payment of Basic, Special 

Responsibility, Carers, Travel, Subsistence, and an Independent / Co-opted Chair 
allowances where applicable.  
 

4.2 There is a legal requirement to have regard to the latest ‘Remuneration of Councillors 
in London’ report of the Independent Panel when agreeing an amendment or new 
scheme. Its latest report was published in January 2022 (Appendix 4) and informed 
the setting of Croydon’s 2022/23 Members’ Allowance Scheme at the March and May 
2022 Council meetings.   

 
4.3 The Croydon Members’ Allowance Scheme has provision that the Basic and Special 

Responsibility Allowances shall be subject to an annual adjustment in accordance with 
the annual local government staff pay settlement. This is a long-standing 
recommendation of the Independent Remuneration Panel.  

Page 160



 

 

 
4.4 Officers made recommendations that an increase to the Basic and Special 

Responsibility Allowances for 2022/23 be recommended for agreement at Council as 
detailed in the GPC report, 21 February 2023 (Appendix 1).   

 
4.5 After consideration and debate at the meeting, the Committee subsequently agreed 

that it would recommend to Council that the Basic and Special Responsibility 
Allowance amounts as detailed in the current 2022/23 allowance scheme were not 
increased. 

 
4.6 Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 

Councils each year, must approve the Members’ Allowances Scheme for the next 
financial year 

 
4.7 General Purposes Committee also considered a report on the 21 February 2023 

(Appendix 2) which considered a proposed Members Allowance Scheme for 2023/24 
(Appendix 3). The report noted that no changes to Member roles, functions and 
responsibilities or Committee functions and business had been identified during the 
period from May 2022 year to sufficiently warrant a change to the basic or special 
allowances payable under the scheme. 

 
4.8 The report highlighted that an updated ‘Remuneration of Councillors in London’ report 

by the Independent Remuneration Panel was anticipated to be released in late 2023, 
and that was considered a good time for the General Purposes Committee to review 
the Members’ Allowance Scheme in full (i.e., not only the basic and special allowances, 
but all types of allowance within the allowance scheme).  

 
4.9 The GPC agreed that Council be recommended that effectively the Members’ 

Allowance Scheme for 2022/23 be carried over and agreed as the 2023/24 scheme. 
The GPC also agreed that a full review would start following the release of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel review, anticipated as late 2023. 

 
4.10 Should Council wish to make any change to the Members’ Allowances Scheme at a 

Council meeting, regard must be had to the Report of the Independent Panel 2022 
(Appendix 4). 

 
5 CONSULTATION  
 
5.1 As detailed in the reports to General Purposes Committee (Appendix A and B). 

  
5.2 Before the General Purposes Committee meeting, both main groups of Council 

(Conservative Group and Labour Group had expressed opposition to agreeing any 
proposed increase to the Members Allowance Scheme for 2022/23). 
 

6 CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 

6.1 Through taking into consideration the recommendations of the current and future IRP 
report, it supports the Council to achieve, priority 4 of the Mayor’s Business Plan: Ensure 
good governance is embedded and adopt best practice. 

Page 161



 

 

 IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
Full details of the financial implications are detailed in the reports to GPC (Appendix 1 
and 2). 
 

6.3 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
Full details of the legal implications are detailed in the reports to GPC (Appendix 1 and 
2). 

 

6.4 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  

Full details of the legal implications are detailed in the reports to GPC (Appendix 1 and 
2). 
 

7.       APPENDICES 

9.1 1. Report to GPC - Scheme of Member’s Allowances 2022/23 - Annual Increase 
(Includes Appendix showing impact of the proposed Basic and SRA increase) 

2. Report to GPC - Scheme of Members Allowances 2023-24  

3. Proposed 2023/24 Allowance Scheme with Tracked Changes 

4. Independent Remuneration Panel report 2022 

  

8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
  

8.1 N/A 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

 GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

DATE OF DECISION 21st February 2023 
REPORT TITLE: 
 

Scheme of Member’s Allowances 2022/23 - Annual Increase 
 

DIRECTOR  
 

Stephen Lawrence-Orumwense 
Director of Legal Services 

LEAD OFFICER: Adrian May 
Interim Head of Democratic Services 

adrian.may@croydon.gov.uk 
 

AUTHORITY TO 
TAKE DECISION: 

 
Part 3 Responsibility for Council Functions in the Constitution, 

identifies the General Purposes Committee (GPC) as responsible 
for reviewing the Member’s Allowance Scheme. Agreeing the 

Member Allowance Scheme and any amendment is the function 
of full council  

 
CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  

NO Public 

WARDS AFFECTED:  N/A 
 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 
Councils each year, must approve the Members’ Allowances Scheme for the next 
financial year. Council agreed the Member’s Allowance Scheme for 2022/23 at Council 
23rd March 2022 (and also subsequently amended the scheme at Annual Council 25th 
May 2022).  
 

1.2 The Members Allowance Scheme provides that Basic and Special Responsibility 
Allowances shall be subject to annual adjustment in accordance with the annual local 
government staff pay settlement applicable for the year.  
 

1.3 In early November 2022, the Local Government Staff Settlement (LGSS) for 2022/23 
was nationally agreed and General Purposes Committee is now asked to consider and 
agree a recommendation to Council of an increase reflecting the LGSS.  

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report the General Purposes Committee is recommended: 

 
2.1 to agree to recommend to full Council an increase of 4.04% to the Basic and 

Special Responsibility Allowances for 2022/23 (Appendix 1) and backdate 
allowance payments from April 2022 with no Member increase greater than the 

Page 163



 

 

fixed rate Croydon amount related to the Local Government Pay Settlement 
2022/23. 
 

2.2 to recommend to full Council that the Director of Legal Services be authorised to 
make all necessary updates to the Constitution. 

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 There is a legal requirement to have regard to the latest ‘Remuneration of Councillors 
in London’ report of the Independent Panel when agreeing a new scheme. Their latest 
report was published January 2022 (Appendix 2), and informed the setting of 
Croydon’s 2022/23 Member’s Allowance Scheme.  
 

3.2 The Independent Panel report recommends that Member allowances should be 
uplifted annually in-line with the Local Government Staff Pay Settlement.  
 

3.3 It should be noted the Independent Panel envisages concluding their next review 
during late 2023. 

 
 

4 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 
 

4.1 The Croydon Member’s Allowance Scheme has provision that the Basic and Special 
Responsibility Allowances shall be subject to an annual adjustment in accordance with 
the annual local government staff pay settlement. This reflects the recommendation by 
the Independent Panel for the Remuneration of Councillors. 
 

4.2 The Local Government Staff Settlement for 2022/23 was nationally agreed in early 
November 2022, following agreement by the National Joint Council (NJC) – the 
National Employers and majority of national trade unions.  

 
4.3 The 2022/23 award was a fixed sum, rather than historically a percentage increase. 

The national pay agreement for Local Government Services employees was of a pay 
increase of £1,925. Because Croydon Council is an Outer London borough, this was 
adjusted to £2,229. 
 

4.4 A number of London Boroughs requested clarification from London Councils on how 
to apply the award to their member allowance scheme.  

 
4.5 London Councils has advised London Boroughs that the Local Government Staff 

Settlement equates to an average uplift of 4.04% and are recommending that London 
Boroughs use the 4.04% uplift for their member allowances for 2022-23 however, 
reiterated that responsibility for determining Member Allowances rests with each 
authority. 

 

Page 164



 

 

4.6 It is proposed, in accordance with the Croydon Member Allowance Scheme, the Basic 
and Special Responsibility Allowances for 2022/23 are uplifted by 4.04% and 
backdated from April 2022.  

 
4.7 As £2,229 was the fixed sum award amount for all Croydon Officers, it is further 

proposed that no Member, when applying the 4.04% increase to the Basic and Special 
Responsibilities Allowance, receives a greater increase than £2,229.  

 
4.8 Appendix 1 details the proposed allowance increase for all SRAs and Basic Allowance.  

 
5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

 
5.1 No increase - Whilst given the significant financial challenges for Croydon, not applying 

an increase aligned to the Local Government Staff Settlement for 2022/23, would run 
contrary to the Independent Remunerations Panel’s recommendations.  
 

5.2 The widely recognised cost of living inflation supports an increase to allowances.  
 

5.3 The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 report noted that allowances should 
be set at a level that enabled people to undertake the role of councillor while not acting 
as an incentive to do so. The Panel stated “if it is important that there are no financial 
incentives to being a councillor, it is equally important that there should not be a 
financial disincentive. It is clearly desirable that service as a councillor is not confined 
to those who have retired or with independent means”. 

 

6 CONSULTATION  
 
6.1 In advance of this Committee meeting proposals were circulated to the political groups 

represented on the Council. It was relayed that the recommendation is already 
provided for in the Member Allowance Scheme and recommended by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 
 

6.2 The Executive Mayor has stated that, particularly given the post was only established 
in May 2022, he believes it should not be subject to an increase. The Executive Mayor 
has stated he would not take up the increase if it were offered.  
 

6.3 Officers have considered the Executive Mayor’s response and reiterated that the 
Executive Mayor’s Allowance in the scheme was based on the average of London 
Borough directly elected Mayor’s allowance for 2021/22, therefore, given the provision 
in the scheme, should be subject like other allowances to an increase applicable for 
2022/23 

 
6.4 The Conservative Group responded to state that they do not support the proposal to 

increase Member Allowances and that Members of their Group would not take up any 
increase if it was agreed. 

 

Page 165



 

 

6.5 Should the Executive Mayor or any Member not wish to take up the proposed increase 
in their allowance, Part 6A the Member’s Scheme of Allowances includes provision 
that any Member may elect to forego all or part of the Basic Allowance and if 
appropriate the Special Responsibility Allowance, to which they are entitled, by writing 
to the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 

 
7. CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  

 
7.1 The proposal supports tackling the challenges around recruiting and retaining 

Councillors from a diverse background and also of a high enough calibre who are 
prepared to stand for and remain as Councillors.   
 

7.2 Priority 4: Ensure good governance is embedded and adopt best practice. 
 

8. IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1.1 The annual cost of the Members Allowance Scheme, including the council’s 
national insurance contribution, is £1.44m. 
 

8.1.2 Applying the 4.04% increase to Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances for 
2022/23 including backdating from April 2022 will increase 2022/23 budget by 
approx. £58k to £1.502m including employers National Insurance Contributions. 
This increase has been funded by the overall provision the council made 
corporately for the 23/24 pay award for both officers and members.  It is assumed 
that increases in members allowances for inflation in future years will also be 
funded by the corporate provision for pay awards as part of the provision for council 
officers. 

 
8.1.3 Revenue consequences of report recommendation 

 
Current Year 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy – 3 year forecast  

 
2022/23 

£’000 
2023/24 

£’000 
2024/25 

£’000 
2025/26 

£’000 

Current 
Revenue 
Budget 
Available 

1,444 1,502 £1,502 £1,502 

Corporate 
Budget 
Transferred for 
Pay Inflation 

58 0 0 0 

Revised Budget 1,502 1,502 1,502 1,502 

Page 166



 

 

Effect of 
decision from 
report reflected 
in budget 
virement above 

58 0 0 0 

Remaining 
Budget 

0 0 0 0 

 
 

8.1.4 Comments approved by Lesley Shields, Head of Finance for Resources and 
Assistant Chief Executive on behalf of the Director of Finance. (Date 13/01/2023) 

 
8.2 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
8.2.1 The proposed amendment to the Council’s Scheme of Members' Allowances  

complies with the relevant provisions of the Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and 
Mayor's Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002, Local Authorities (Members' 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and the Local Government Act 2000. In addition, there are separate 
provisions, namely sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the 
payment of allowances to the current civic Mayor and the deputy civic Mayor which 
Croydon has traditionally referenced as part of its Scheme of Members' 
Allowances . 
 

8.2.2 The 2002 Regulations specifically allows for an elected mayor to be treated as a 
councillor of the local authority for the purposes of schemes relating to basic 
attendance and special responsibility allowances for local authority members as 
set-out within the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
8.2.3 Regulation 19 of the 2003 Regulations provides that the Council must have regard 

to the recommendations of the independent remuneration panel  before making or 
amending a Scheme of Allowances for its members.  

 
8.2.4 Regulation 5(1) of the 2003 Regulations provide that the Scheme can make 

provision for an SRA to be paid to members who have such "special 
responsibilities in relation to the authority as are specified in the Scheme" and are 
within one or more of nine categories of responsibility identified in sub-paragraphs 
(a) - (i). This includes responsibilities such as Elected Mayor or Deputy Elected 
Mayor, acting as a member of an Executive, presiding at meetings of a committee 
or sub-committee and acting as a spokesman of a political group on a committee 
or sub-committee. 

 
8.2.5 Regulation 10(6) of the 2003 Regulations provides that where amendments are 

made to a scheme in any year, a Council’s allowance scheme may provide that 
any allowance due under those amendments may be backdated to the start of the 
Scheme/financial year.  

 
8.2.6 Council on the 23rd March 2022, agreed to delegate to the General Purposes and 

Audit Committee ‘authority to agree an annual adjustment of allowances by 
reference to the annual local government staff pay settlement where the only 

Page 167



 

 

change made to the Scheme in any year is that effected by such annual 
adjustment.’  

 
8.2.7 If should be noted that the Croydon Constitution, PART 3 – Responsibility for 

Functions, lists ‘Periodic review of the Scheme of Members’ Allowances and 
approval of arrangements in respect of the scheme to reimburse costs incurred for 
childcare/dependent relative care, travel and subsistence whilst a Member is on 
Council business’ as one of the responsibilities of the Council’s General Purposes 
Committee. 

 
8.2.8 The Local Authorities (Functions and responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000, 

Regulation 2(5), Regulation (6)(c) and Regulation 2(7) stipulate that members’ 
allowances scheme and the setting of the amount of any allowance is a non-
delegable full council function. In addition, deciding the amounts payable to the 
civic Mayor and the deputy civic Mayor under Section 3 and Section 5 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 is also a non-delegable full council function, under 
Regulation 2(6)(a) and Regulation 2(7).   

 
8.2.9 As part of the Constitutional Working Group, it will be proposed that Council agrees 

to amend the General Purposes Committee (GPC) responsibilities, to make clear 
that GPC’s role is to review the members allowance scheme and put proposals to 
Council for agreement. 

 
8.2.10 Regarding the 23rd March 2022 delegation, whilst the Constitution provides for 

GPC to review the member allowance scheme, the correct decision making body 
to agree or amend the scheme is Council, and cannot be delegated.  

 
8.2.11 Comments approved by Sandra Herbert, the Head of Litigation & Corporate Law  

on behalf of the Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer. (Date 6/01/2023) 
 

8.5 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  
 

8.5.1 Whilst there are no direct equality implications for the recommendations in this 
report, the proposal to increase Member allowances, aligned to officer increases, 
does reflect the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel views that 
allowances should be set at a level that enable people from a diverse range of 
backgrounds to become Councillors.  

 
Approved By; Denise McCausland Equality Programme Manager (Date 
12/01/2023) 

 
9       APPENDICES 

9.1 A - Extract of Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances table from Croydon’s 
Member’s Allowance Scheme showing impact of proposed 4.04% increase.     

B - Independent Remuneration Panel report on Councillor Allowances 2022 

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS - Non 
 

Page 168



 

Appendix A  
 
COUNCILLORS’ BASIC AND SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES  
 

  (£) 
Basic Allowance All Members  £12,164.36 

 Civic Mayor’s Allowance  £16,542.36 

 Deputy Civic Mayor’s Allowance  £8,272.60 

Special Responsibility Allowances - Paid in addition to Basic Allowance 
(Unless otherwise stated) 

 Elected Mayor of the Council [inc. Basic Allowance]  £84,123.36 

 Statutory Deputy Mayor  £31,579.05 

 Cabinet Members (up to 7 positions)  £28,614.33 

 Deputy Cabinet Members (up to 5 positions)  £5,713.21 

 Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee  £21788.06 

 Deputy Chair - Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee 

 £8,932.46 

 Conservative Group Secretary   
£8,602.03 

 Conservative Chief Whip  £12,611.52 

 Chair - Licensing Committee   
£8,579.55 

 Chair - Planning Committee   
£13,759.08 

 Chair - Pension Committee  
£7,665.67 

 Chair – General Purposes Committee  
£5,842.05 

 Leader of the Labour Group   
£18,681.42 

 Deputy Leader of the Labour Group (Up to 2 
positions) 

  
£6,832.93 

 Shadow Cabinet Members (up to 6 positions)  
£5,842.05 

 Labour Chief Whip  
£5,842.05 

 Labour Group Secretary  
£5,728.03 

 Vice Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee  
£8,932.46 

Co-optee allowance Chair - Audit and Governance Committee 
[Not eligible for a Basic Allowance] 

 
£8,323.20 

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

 GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

DATE OF DECISION 21st February 2023 
REPORT TITLE: 
 

Members’ Allowance Scheme 2023/24 
 

DIRECTOR  
 

Stephen Lawrence-Orumwense 
Director of Legal Services 

LEAD OFFICER: Adrian May 
Interim Head of Democratic Services 

adrian.may@croydon.gov.uk 
 

AUTHORITY TO 
TAKE DECISION: 

 
Part 3 Responsibility for Council Functions in the Constitution, 

identifies the General Purposes Committee (GPC) as responsible 
for reviewing the Member’s Allowance Scheme with approval of 

the scheme at full Council. 
 

CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  
 

NO Public 

WARDS AFFECTED: 
 

 N/A 

 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 Under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 
Councils each year, must approve the Members’ Allowances Scheme for the next 
financial year. Council agreed the Members’ Allowance Scheme for 2022/23 at Council 
23rd March 2022 and subsequently amended the scheme at the Annual Council 25th 
May 2022. 
  

1.2 With the scheme last being amended May 2022, following the Local and Mayoral 
elections, this report recommends that the Committee agrees to recommend to Council 
a 2023/24 Members’ Allowances Scheme with materially the same terms as the 
2022/23 scheme. 
 

2  RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report, the General Purposes Committee is recommended to: 

2.1     agree to recommend to Council the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2023/24 
(Appendix 1 with tracked changes) with materially the same terms as the 2022/23 
scheme.  Note: The Basic and Special Allowance amounts are for 2022/23.  If 
an increase to 2022/23 (proposed as a recommendation in a paper of this same 
Committee meeting) is agreed, the basic and special allowance amounts 

Page 171



 

 

recommended for agreement at Council for 2023/24 will be the uplifted 2022/23 
amounts. 

2.3 agree that Council authorises the Director of Legal Services to comply with the 
statutory requirements to publicise the 2023/24 Members’ Allowances Scheme 
and make all necessary updates to the Constitution. 

2.5 note, the committee will review and bring proposals to Council with regards to the 
Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances and other allowances, such as 
carer responsibilities, travel, maternity/paternity, and Subsistence, following the 
publication of the next report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 
report on ‘The Remuneration of Councillors in London’, anticipated for late 2023. 

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 There has been no material change in Member responsibilities or committee functions 
identified since the last Member’s Scheme of Allowances was agreed at Council, May 
2022. 
 

3.2 There is a statutory duty to advertise locally the Members’ Allowance Scheme each 
year. 

 
3.3 As the scheme was only amended in May 2022, it’s considered that a review should 

take place, upon release of the next IRP report, anticipated for late 2023. 
 

4. BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 
 

4.1 The current Scheme provides for the payment of Basic, Special Responsibility, Carers, 
Travel, Subsistence and an Independent/Co-opted Chair where applicable.  
 

4.2 The Croydon Member’s Allowance Scheme has already provision that the Basic and 
Special Responsibility Allowances shall be subject to an annual adjustment in 
accordance with the annual local government staff pay settlement, a long-standing 
recommendation of the Independent Panel.  

 
4.3 There is a legal requirement to have regard to the latest ‘Remuneration of Councillors 

in London’ report of the Independent Panel when agreeing a new scheme. Their latest 
report was published January 2022 (Appendix 2) and informed the setting of Croydon’s 
2022/23 Member’s Allowance Scheme at March and May 2022 Council meetings.   
 

4.4 The updated report is anticipated as being released late 2023, and that is considered 
a time when the General Purposes Committee should review the Members’ Allowance 
Scheme in full. 

 
4.5 No changes to Member roles, functions and responsibilities or Committee functions 

and business has been identified during the period from May 2022 year to sufficiently 
warrant a change to the allowances payable under the scheme. 

 
4.6 Should Council wish to make any change to the Members’ Allowances Scheme at a 

full Council meeting, regard must be had to the Report of the Independent Panel 2022 

Page 172



 

 

 
 

5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED  
 

5.1 A Council’s Members’ Allowance Scheme needs approving by Council before the start 
of the next financial year. 
 

5.2 Proposals were subject to Member Consultation. 
 

6 CONSULTATION  
 

6.1  In advance of this Committee meeting, the proposals were circulated to all political 
groups and parties reflected on Croydon Council.  

 
7. CONTRIBUTION TO COUNCIL PRIORITIES  

 
7.1 Through taking into consideration the recommendations of the current and future IRP 

report, it supports the Council to achieve, priority 4 of the Mayor’s Business Plan: Ensure 
good governance is embedded and adopt best practice. 

 
8. IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1.1 The annual cost of the Members Allowance Scheme for 2023/24, including the 

council’s national insurance contribution, is £1.502m (if the proposed 4.04% is 
agreed by the Committee, related to the previous paper’s recommendation) 
increase for 2022/23 Basic and Special Responsibilities Allowances is applied.  
 

8.1.2 It is assumed that increases in members allowances for inflation in future years will 
also be funded by the corporate provision for pay awards as part of the provision 
for council officers. 

 
8.1.3 Revenue consequences of report recommendation 

 
Current Year 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy – 3 year forecast  

 
2022/23 

£’000 
2023/24 

£’000 
2024/25 

£’000 
2025/26 

£’000 

Current 
Revenue 
Budget 
Available 

1,444 1,502 (£1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

£1,502(£1,444 
if no increase 
for 2022/23) 

£1,502 (£1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

Page 173



 

 

Corporate 
Budget 
Transferred for 
Pay Inflation 

58 (0 if no 
increase for 

2022/23) 

0 0 0 

Revised Budget 1,502 (1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

1,502 (1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

1,502 (1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

1,502 (1,444 if 
no increase for 

2022/23) 

Effect of 
decision from 
report reflected 
in budget 
virement above 

58 (0 if no 
increase for 

2022/23) 

0 0 0 

Remaining 
Budget 

0 0 0 0 

 
 

8.1.4 Comments approved by Lesley Shields, Head of Finance for Resources and 
Assistant Chief Executive on behalf of the Director of Finance. Date 13th February 
2023.  

 
8.2 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
8.2.1 The proposed Council’s Scheme of Members' Allowances complies with the 

relevant provisions of the Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor's Assistant) 
(England) Regulations 2002, Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local 
Government Act 2000. In addition, there are separate provisions, namely sections 
3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the payment of allowances to the 
current civic Mayor and the deputy civic Mayor which Croydon has traditionally 
referenced as part of its Scheme of Members' Allowances . 
 

8.2.2 The 2002 Regulations specifically allows for an elected mayor to be treated as a 
councillor of the local authority for the purposes of schemes relating to basic 
attendance and special responsibility allowances for local authority members as 
set-out within the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
8.2.3 Regulation 19 of the 2003 Regulations provides that the Council must have regard 

to the recommendations of the independent remuneration panel  before making or 
amending a Scheme of Allowances for its members.  

 
8.2.4 Regulation 5(1) of the 2003 Regulations provide that the Scheme can make 

provision for an SRA to be paid to members who have such "special 
responsibilities in relation to the authority as are specified in the Scheme" and are 
within one or more of nine categories of responsibility identified in sub-paragraphs 
(a) - (i). This includes responsibilities such as Elected Mayor or Deputy Elected 
Mayor, acting as a member of an Executive, presiding at meetings of a committee 
or sub-committee and acting as a spokesman of a political group on a committee 
or sub-committee. 
 

Page 174



 

 

8.2.5 Comments approved by Sandra Hebert, the Head of Litigation & Corporate Law  
on behalf of the Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer. Date 20th 
January 2023). 

 
8.5 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS  

 
8.5.1 There are no direct equality implications for the recommendations in this report, 

the provision for annual increases reflected in the scheme however does reflect 
the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel views that allowances should 
be set at a level that enable people from a diverse range of backgrounds to become 
Councillors.  
 

8.5.2 Should councillors require additional support in respect of their Disability, support 
may be sought from Democratic Services under PSED Equality Act 2010.  

 
Approved By; Denise McCausland – 13 February 2023 

 
9       APPENDICES 

9.1 A – Proposed 2023/24 Members Allowance Scheme (Note: The Basic and Special 
Allowance amounts are for 2022/23.  If an increase to 2022/23 (proposed as a 
recommendation in a paper of this same Committee meeting) is agreed, the basic and 
special allowance amounts recommended for agreement at Council for 2023/24 will be 
the uplifted 2022/23 amounts). 

Also, the Independent Remuneration Panel report on Councillor Allowances 2022 
(Appendix to the previous item, in same agenda pack) 

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

 N/A 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSTITUTION OF THE LONDON  
BOROUGH OF CROYDON  

  
PART 6A  

SCHEME OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES  

  
1 The Council has adopted a scheme of Members’ allowances that complies with 

the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (No. 
1021) as amended and having considered the recommendations of the 
London Councils’ Independent Panel 2022 on the Remuneration of Members 
in London.  

  
The Croydon scheme provides for:  

  
• Every Member (for clarity, does not include the directly elected Mayor) to 

receive a basic allowance which shall be inclusive of all travel costs incurred 
within the Borough;  

  
• Members appointed by the Annual Council, or subsequently by virtue of the 

office they hold, shall receive a Special Responsibility Allowance;  
  

• No Member shall receive more than one Special Responsibility Allowance;  
  

• Out-of-Borough travel and subsistence allowances shall be reviewed by the 
General Purposes Committee and paid in line with levels set by the 
Committee, unless already prescribed by Statutory Instrument or Circular. 
Costs related to travel and subsistence outside the Borough only when 
incurred undertaking an approved duty shall be eligible for reimbursement;  

  
• The scheme for reimbursement of costs associated with providing childcare 

or care for a dependent relative incurred by a Member when undertaking 
an approved duty is set out in Appendix A and it shall be reviewed 
periodically by the General Purposes Committee;  

  
• Any Member may elect to forego all or part of the Basic Allowance and if 

appropriate the Special Responsibility Allowance, to which they are entitled, 
by writing to the Monitoring Officer. Otherwise, all allowances due to each 
Member shall be paid automatically each calendar month on the basis of 
one 12th of the total;  

  
• Members do not have access to the Local Government Pension Scheme;  

• The scheme does not provide for the payment of any allowances to co- 
optees, with the exception of the Independent Chair of Audit and 
Governance Committee (who receives a special responsibility allowance 
but no other allowances as a ‘co-optee allowance’).  Where a co-opted 

Page 177



member is suspended or partially suspended from their responsibilities or 
duties any co-optees’ allowance payable to them in respect of the 
responsibilities or duties from which they are suspended or partially 
suspended may be withheld by the authority.   

  

• Members shall only be entitled to a pro-rata payment in respect of a term of 
office which is not for a complete year, which would include any job share 
arrangements;  

  

• The term of office of the Independent Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee is four years and the allowance is payable annually under this 
Scheme.  They shall only be entitled to a pro-rata payment in respect of the 
annual allowance for any period which is not served as a complete year.  

  

• In all other respects, the scheme of allowances as set out here shall remain 
in place until such time as the Council decides otherwise.  

  
2 The respective levels of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances payable 

from May April 20232022 are set out in Appendix B.  
  

3 The Civic Mayor and Deputy Civic Mayor shall receive allowances for 
expenses in accordance with relevant legislation in relation to the discharge of 
their ceremonial and other duties. The level of expenses paid to the Civic 
Mayor and Deputy Civic Mayor are as shown in Appendix B.  

  

4 The level of the Basic Allowance, Special Responsibility Allowances, Civic 
Mayor’s and Deputy Civic Mayor’s Allowances shall be subject to annual 
adjustment in accordance with the annual local government staff pay 
settlement however Members may review this aspect no more frequently than 
annually to determine whether there will be an adjustment for the upcoming 
Council year.  

  

5 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full in the case 
of maternity, adoption, shared parental, paternity and sickness leave (subject 
to the six-month councillor attendance at meetings requirement under Section 
85 of the Local Government Act 1972).  

  
6 In specific circumstances the payment of a Special Responsibility Allowance 

may continue during a period of absence in the case of maternity, adoption, 
shared parental, paternity and sickness leave. Where the SRA is paid at a 
reduced level the payment will be applied proportionately during the period of 
absence. Where members have elected not to receive their SRA no payment 
will be made. The Council, relevant committee/body or Mayor in case of 
Cabinet Members, as appropriate, may depending on the circumstances, 
appoint a temporary replacement to cover the period of absence, who will be  
entitled to an SRA pro-rata for the period of the temporary appointment.  

Page 178



  
7 Full details of entitlement to leave and allowances as a result of maternity, 

adoption, shared parental, paternity and sickness are attached at Appendix C.  

Page 179



Appendix A  
  
  

DEPENDENT CARERS, TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE SCHEMES  
  
  

Members are entitled to claim reimbursement of expenditure incurred on the provision of 
the care of their children and dependent relations requiring care when undertaking an 
Approved Duty, subject to the provisions of the scheme set out below. Members are also 
entitled to claim travel and subsistence expenses incurred in the performance of an 
Approved Duty.  

   
Approved Duties  

  

An Approved Duty shall be one that is specified in the relevant statutory Regulations, 
which currently provide for the following activities:  

1 A meeting of the Executive.  

2 A meeting of a Committee of the Executive.  

3 A meeting of the Authority.  

4 A meeting of a Committee or Sub-committee of the Authority.  

5 A meeting of any other body to which the Member has been appointed or 
nominated by the Authority.  

6 A meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee to which the Member has been 
appointed or nominated by the Authority.  

7 A meeting which has been authorised by the Authority, a Committee or Sub-
Committee or a joint Committee of the Authority or one or more other authorities, 
or a Sub Committee of a joint Committee and to which representatives of more 
than one political group have been invited.  

8 A meeting of a local authority association of which the Authority is a member.  
  

9 Duties undertaken on behalf of the authority in connection with the discharge of 
any function of the Authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering 
or requiring the Authority to inspect or authorised the inspection of premises.  

  
  

The following Rates of Allowances shall be monitored by the General Purposes 
Committee, who shall also have power to revise them.  

Page 180



  
  

The following allowances will be paid as a reimbursement of INCURRED 
expenditure FOR AN APPROVED DUTY, following the submission of receipts or 
other supporting documents, within 2 months of the expenditure being incurred.  

  

  

DEPENDENT CARERS ALLOWANCE    
  

  
1. Expenditure not less than the London Living Wage, currently £11.05 per hour, incurred 

in respect of care provided by a person that is not a member of the Member’s 
household, for:  
o The care of children 15 years of age or under living in the Member’s household; or 
o The care of other dependants where there is medical or social work evidence that 
care is required.  

  
  

TRAVEL ALLOWANCES (payable only for Out-of-Borough travel)    
  

  
Rail or other Public Transport  

Ordinary or cheap fare, at first class rates, plus actual expenditure on:  

[a] Pullman car or similar supplements; reservation of seats; deposit or porterage of 
luggage.  

[b] Sleeping accommodation for an overnight journey (subject to thirty-three and one 
third percent reduction of any subsistence allowance payable for that night).  

   
Taxi-Cab or Cab  

[a] In cases of urgency or where no public service is reasonably available, the amount 
of the actual fare and any reasonable gratuity paid;  

[b] In other cases, the equivalent fare for travel by an appropriate public transport.  
  
  

  

  

RATES OF  

DEPENDENT CARERS, TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES  

TO MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  

Page 181



Private motor vehicle  

The rate for travel by a Member’s private motor vehicle shall not exceed the following 
rates:   
[i] motorcycle, tricar or motor car of cylinder capacity 500cc 25.9p per mile  
[ii] not exceeding 999cc  34.6p per mile 

[iii] 1000cc - 1199cc  39.5p per mile 

[iv] 1200cc and above  48.5p per mile 
[v] For the carriage of each additional Member of the Council (not exceeding four): 3.0p 
per mile for the first passenger and 2.0p per mile for second and subsequent passengers.  

[vi] Expenditure on tolls, ferries, parking fees.  

[vii] Reimbursement of overnight parking charges.  
  

Private bicycle  

The rate for travel by a Member’s private bicycle shall not exceed 24.0p per mile.  
  

Hired Cars  

The rate which would have been applicable had the vehicle belonged to the Member 
who hired it. Subject to the approval of the General Purposes Committee, the rate may 
be increased to an amount not exceeding the actual cost of hiring.  

  

SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES (payable only for Out-of-Borough subsistence)    
  

  
Breakfast Allowance  

More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or a 

lesser period before 11am.  

Lunch Allowance  

More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or a lesser period 
including the lunchtime between noon and 2pm.  

Tea Allowance  

£4.92  
  
  
  

£6.77  
  
  
  

£2.67  

More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or a lesser period including 
the period 3pm to 6pm.  

Page 182



Evening Allowance  

More than 4 hours away from normal place of residence or a 

lesser period ending after 7pm.  

Overnight Absence  

From usual place of residence  

Overnight Absence in London  

£8.38  
  
  
  

£79.82  
  
  

£91.04  

Or for the purpose of attendance at an annual conference (including or 
not including an annual meeting) of the Association of County Councils, 
the Association of Metropolitan Authorities and the Association of District 
Councils or such other association of bodies as the Secretaries of State 
may for the time being approve for the purpose.  

  
For the purposes of the above paragraph, London means the City of  
London and the London Boroughs of Camden, Greenwich, Hackney, 
Hammersmith & Fulham, Islington, Kensington & Chelsea, Lambeth, 
Lewisham, Southwark, Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth and Westminster.  

  
  

NOTE: Any Subsistence Allowances claimed should be reduced by an appropriate 
amount in respect of any meal provided free of charge by the Council or body in 
respect of the meal or the period to which the allowance relates. Additionally, where 
main meals are taken on trains during a period for which there is an entitlement for a 
day subsistence allowance, the reasonable cost of the meals (including VAT) may be 
reimbursed in full. In such circumstances, reimbursement for the reasonable cost of a 
meal replaces the entitlement to the day subsistence allowance for the appropriate 
meal period.  

Page 183



Appendix B  

  
COUNCILLORS’ BASIC AND SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES  
MAY April 2022 2023  

 

    (£)  

Basic Allowance  All Members  11,692  

  Civic Mayor’s Allowance  15,900  

  Deputy Civic Mayor’s Allowance  7950.40  

Special Responsibility Allowances - Paid in addition to Basic Allowance 
(Unless otherwise stated) 

 

  Elected Mayor of the Council [inc. Basic Allowance] 81,894.36  

  Statutory Deputy Mayor 30,352.80  

  Cabinet Members (up to 7 positions)  27,503.20  

  Deputy Cabinet Members (up to 5 positions)  5,491.36 

  Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee  20,942  

  Deputy Chair - Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee  

8,585.60  

  Conservative Group Secretary  8,268  

  Conservative Chief Whip  12,121.80  

  Chair - Licensing Committee  8,246.40  

  Chair - Planning Committee  13,224.80  

  Chair - Pension Committee  7,368  

 Chair – General Purposes Committee 5,615.20 

  Leader of the Labour Group 17,956  

  Deputy Leader of the Labour Group (Up to 2 positions) 6,567.60 

  Shadow Cabinet Members (up to 6 positions)  5,615.20  

  Labour Chief Whip  5,615.20  

  Labour Group Secretary  5,505.60  

  Vice Chair - Scrutiny and Overview Committee  8,585.60  

Co-optee allowance  Chair - Audit and Governance Committee  
[Not eligible for a Basic Allowance] 

8,000.00  

  
 

Page 184



APPENDIX C  

PARENTAL AND SICKNESS LEAVE 
ARRANGEMENTS  

  
Introduction  

  

This Appendix sets out Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, shared parental 
adoption leave and sickness leave and relevant allowances.  

The objective is to ensure that insofar as possible Members are able to take 
appropriate leave at the time of birth or adoption that both parents are able to take 
leave, and that reasonable and adequate arrangements are in place to provide cover 
for portfolio-holders and others in receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) 
during any period of leave taken.  

Improved provision for new parents will contribute towards increasing the diversity 
of experience, age and background of local authority Members. It will also assist 
with retaining experienced Members – particularly women – and making public 
office more accessible to individuals who might otherwise feel excluded from it.  

There is at present no legal right to parental leave of any kind for elected Members. 
This applies to MPs as well as Members and these arrangements can therefore only 
currently be implemented on a voluntary basis by individual Councils.  

1. Leave Periods  

Maternity  

1.1 Members giving birth are entitled to up to 6 months maternity leave from the due 
date, with the option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required.  

1.2 In addition, where the birth is premature, the Member is entitled to take leave 
during the period between the date of the birth and the due date in addition to the 
6 months’ period. In such cases any leave taken to cover prematurity of 28 days or 
less shall be deducted from any extension beyond the initial 6 months.  

1.3 In exceptional circumstances, and only in cases of prematurity of 29 days or 
more, additional leave may be taken by agreement, and such exceptional leave shall 
not be deducted from the total 52 week entitlement.  

Paternity  

1.4 Members shall be entitled to take 2 weeks paternity leave if they are the biological 
father or nominated carer of their partner/spouse following the birth of their 
child(ren). The Member may take one week at a time or two consecutive weeks of 
paternity leave, but not single days or less than a week's duration. Paternity leave 
must be taken within two months of the birth or adoption.  

Shared parental leave  

1.5 A Member is entitled to Shared Parental Leave if they have (or share with the 
other parent) the main responsibility for the care of the child and are either the 

Page 185



Mother, Father, Main Adopter or Other Adopter of the child, or the spouse, civil 
partner or partner of the Mother/Main Adopter.  

A Member may share up to 50 weeks leave if the Mother/Main Adopter curtails their 
maternity/adoption leave before using their full entitlement of 52 weeks. The number 
of weeks available as Shared Parental Leave will be reduced by the number of 
weeks maternity or adoption leave that has already been taken by the Mother or 
Main Adopter.  

Shared Parental Leave can be taken as one continuous block or in multiples of 
complete weeks, but must end no later than one year after the birth/placement of the 
child.  

1.6 Where both parents are Members leave may be shared up to a maximum of 24 
weeks for the first six months and 26 weeks for any leave agreed thereafter, up to 
a maximum of 50 weeks. Special and exceptional arrangements may be made in 
cases of prematurity.  

Adoption  

1.7 A Member who adopts a child through an approved adoption agency shall be 
entitled to take up to six months adoption leave from the date of placement, with the 
option to extend up to 52 weeks by agreement if required.  

Sickness  

A Member who is sick will continue to receive the basic allowance as long as they 
remain a councillor and comply with the attendance requirements regarding council 
meetings under section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972. They will also 
continue to receive any SRA for a period of up to six months during any 12 month 
period subject to review and a possible extension by six months.  

General  

1.8 Any Member who takes maternity, shared parental, adoption or sickness leave 
retains their legal duty under the Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting 
of the Council within a six month period unless the Council Meeting agrees to an 
extended leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six month period.  

1.9 Any Member intending to take maternity, paternity, shared parental, adoption or 
sickness leave will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with the relevant 
notice requirements of the Council as set out in paragraph 4 below, both in terms 
of the point at which the leave starts and the point at which they return.  

1.10 Any member taking leave should ensure that they respond to reasonable 
requests for information as promptly as possible, and that they keep officers and 
colleagues informed and updated in relation to intended dates of return and requests 
for extension of leave.  

2 Basic Allowance  

2.1 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full whilst on 
maternity, paternity, adoption or sickness leave as long as they remain a Member 

Page 186



(subject to the six month councillor attendance at meetings requirement in section 
85 of the Local Government Act 1972.  

  
  
3. Special Responsibility Allowances  

3.1 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to receive 
their allowance in full in the case of maternity, paternity, shared parental, adoption or 
sickness leave for a period of 6 months followed by a further period of 6 months at 
half rate.  

3.2 Where a temporary replacement is appointed to cover the period of absence that 
person shall also receive an SRA on a pro rata basis for the period of the temporary 
appointment.  

3.3 The payment of Special Responsibility Allowances, whether to the primary SRA 
holder or a temporary replacement, during a period of maternity, paternity, shared 
parental, adoption or sickness leave shall continue for a period of six months 
subject to a possible extension for a further six month period or until the Member or 
temporary replacement ceases to be appointed to a position entitling an SRA or is 
up for election whichever is the sooner.  

3.4 Should a Member appointed to act as a temporary replacement for the Member 
on maternity, paternity, shared parental, adoption or sickness leave already hold a 
remunerated position, the ordinary rules relating to payment of more than one 
Special Responsibility Allowances shall apply.  

4. Notification  

4.1 Maternity Leave: The Member should notify the Head of Democratic Services 
of their intention to take maternity leave in writing no later than 28 days before the 
date they wish the period of maternity leave to start and:  

i) Confirm the expected date of childbirth; ii) ) Provide a copy of the 

MATB1 (available from a doctor or midwife);  

iii) Confirm the dates which the Member will be absent.  
  
  
4.2 Paternity Leave: The Member should notify the Head of Democratic Services of 
their intention to take paternity leave in writing no later than 28 days before they 
wish the period of paternity leave to start and:  

i) Confirm the expected date of childbirth; or date the child is expected to be placed 
for adoption (UK Adoption); or the date on which the date on which the child is 
expected to enter Great Britain (Overseas Adoption);  

  

i) Provide a copy of the MATB1 or matching certificate/official notification;  

iii) Confirm the dates which the Member will be absent.  

Page 187



  
  
4.3 Adoption Leave: The Member should notify the Head of Democratic Services of 
their intention to take adoption leave in writing no later than 28 days before the date 
they wish the period of adoption leave to start and:  

i) Confirm they are the Main Adopter and the date the child is expected to be placed 

for adoption (UK Adoption) or the date on which the date on which the child is 

expected to enter Great Britain (Overseas Adoption); ii) ) Provide a copy of the 

matching certificate/official notification;  

iii) Confirm the dates which the Member will be absent  
  
  
4.4 Shared Parental Leave: The Member should notify the Head of Democratic 
Services of their intention to take shared parental leave in writing no later than 28 
days before the date they wish the period of shared parental leave to start and:  

i) Confirm their entitlement to shared parental leave and the expected (or 
actual) date of birth/placement;  

ii) Confirm the start and end dates of the Mother/Main Adopter’s 

maternity/adoption leave, the amount of shared parental leave available and how 

much each parent intends to take; iii) Provide a copy of the MATB1 or matching 

certificate/official notification;  

iv) Confirm the dates which the Member will be absent.  
  
  
4.5 Sickness Leave. The Member should notify the Head of Democratic Services 
where they are likely to be sick for a period in excess of 2 months.  

4.6 If the Member wishes to change the start date of a period of leave they should 
write to the Head of Democratic Services no later than 28 days before either the 
original start date or the new start date (whichever is earlier).  

4.7. If the Member wishes to change the end date of a period of leave they should 
write to the Head of Democratic Services at least 28 days before either the original 
end date or the new end date (whichever is earlier).  

4.8. The Head of Democratic Services will provide confirmation that the information 
on revised dates has been received and that relevant re-instatement or adjustment 
of any SRA has taken place within 10 working days.  

5. Resigning from Office and Elections  

5.1 If a Member decides not to return at the end of their maternity, paternity, and 
shared parental, adoption or sickness leave they must notify the Council at the 
earliest possible opportunity. All allowances will cease from the effective resignation 
date.  

Page 188



5.2 If an election is held during the Member’s maternity, paternity, shared parental, 
adoption or sickness leave and they are not re-elected, or decide not to stand for 
re- election, their Basic Allowance and SRA, if appropriate, will cease from the 
Monday after the election date when they would technically leave office.  

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



1

The Remuneration of 
Councillors in London 
2022
Report of the Independent Panel

Page 191



2

Contents

Summary……………………………………………………..................................................p3  

Background…………………………………………………...................................................p3 

The role of elected members ……………………………....................................................p3 

Recruitment of councillors ……………………………......................................................p4  

The current financial climate …………………....................................................………..p5  

Level of Basic Allowance…………………….....................................................…………..p5  

Special Responsibility Allowances…………......................................................…………p5  

Training and support……………....................................................……………………….p6  

Barriers to being a councillor……….....................................................………………….p6  

Travel and Subsistence Allowances……….......................................................…………p7  

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head………......................................................…………p7

Update for inflation………………….................................................……………………..p7 

Appendix A: Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance  ……………………........ p8

Appendix B: On behalf of the community – a job profile for councilors………………………….p11 

Appendix C: The independent panel members……………………….......................………...p12 

Page 192



3

Summary
At the time of writing this report the country is still responding to the shock of the tragic death of Sir David Amess MP. 
It is a sad reminder of the vital role that all elected representatives play in the life of our country and how your roles 
are at the heart of our democratic and civic society. It is also a reminder of the risks that are linked to your roles. It is 
vital that we have a system of support in place that recognises the full scale of the responsibilities of councillors and 
one that supports residents in both wanting to come forward to undertake these roles and then when they are elected 
enables them to be effective. Our work as an independent remuneration panel can play a part in that endeavour.

The report below details our position as the output for the 2021 review. In short, we are very conscious about the 
huge changes that have taken place as a society during the last few years. Our residents, businesses and communities 
have been dealing with, and continue to deal with, major challenges. The feedback we have received supports our 
view that this has had a major impact on the demands placed on all councillors and of those councillors charged with 
special responsibilities. There is now greater than ever demands for time spent on wider partnership working, the 
situations faced by many residents are ever more challenging and complex, the ease of access afforded by technology 
has increased expectations for almost constant access and rapid responses. The burden of responsibility for effective 
government at a local level is extremely significant. 

At the same time, many aspects of the current situation are still relatively recent. It remains rather unclear how these 
recent patterns of demands and increased expectations will play out and settle over time. With this level of uncertainty, 
we do not believe that at the current time we have the evidence available to recommend any significant changes in the 
remuneration of councillors.

However, given the wider background, we have concluded that, instead of waiting four years to undertake the next 
review, it would be preferable to undertake a review commencing in the summer of 2022 with the aim of concluding it 
in the latter half of 2023. As well as enabling us to re-assess the situation, this timescale would enable us to undertake 
more detailed consultations and seek wider views as part of the evidence gathering that will be needed. 

As well as the substantive recommendations in the report, we therefore recommend that we undertake a further review 
of the remuneration of councillors during 2022-23.

Background
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (‘the Regulations’) authorise the 
establishment by the Association of London Government (now London Councils) of an independent remuneration 
panel to make recommendations in respect of the members’ allowances payable by London boroughs. Such a panel 
(‘the Panel’) was established and reported in 2001, 2003, 2006, 2010, 2014 and 2018. It now comprises Mike Cooke 
(Chair), Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL and Anne Watts CBE.

The Regulations require a review of the scheme every four years as a minimum. The current Panel has therefore 
completed a review of remuneration for councillors in London. We present our findings and recommendations in 
this report.

As a preparation for our work, we invited all London boroughs to give their views on the operation of the existing 
scheme. We are grateful for the feedback, which confirms that the existing London scheme of members’ allowances is 
still fit for purpose. We make recommendations accordingly. However, where issues have arisen from the comments we 
received, we have addressed them in this report.

The role of elected members
In our previous reports we reflected on the importance of the role of elected members. We repeat at Appendix B the ‘job 
profile’ for councillors which we originally included in our 2010 report. 

Our last report reflected on research that identified that councillors oversee million-pound budgets, balancing 
complex financial pressures at a time of severe cutbacks in local authority spending, making decisions which will affect 
their areas for decades to come. These challenges continue and have been exacerbated by the impact of the Covid-19 

Page 193



4

Pandemic and the continuing recovery effort from it. 

In London, each borough is responsible for services crucial to its residents. Each has a revenue budget of up to £1.4bn as 
well as a substantial capital programme. The scale of their turnover and other financial activities are in many instances 
comparable with those of large publicly quoted companies.

Councillors are faced with difficult choices. Demand for local authority services continues to grow. In particular there 
is rapid growth in the number of old people with a corresponding increase in demand for social care. London itself 
faces acute housing problems coupled with higher levels of homelessness than other parts of the country. Councillors 
have an increased responsibility for local and place-based health outcomes. Thus, the strain on and competition for 
resources increase the demands made on elected members.

The feedback we received is that the workload and responsibilities of councillors continues to increase and that their role 
has become more complex, and not only in the areas of social care and housing. There has been a growth in other public 
sector activities including community safety with increasing engagement with the Police, increasing expectations for 
closer working with health services, and in some boroughs more involvement with joint venture partnerships and local 
authority trading companies. Since the start of the Pandemic, there has been an important and significant role for 
councillors in local welfare support and greater liaison with the voluntary sector. This all requires the commitment and 
time of leaders, cabinet members and front-line councillors. The Pandemic has also heightened the significant role of 
councillors as a point contact for information, advice and reassurance for communities. 

While valuable to democracy, the growth in digital connectivity and the availability and use of social media and other 
forms of messaging applications adds to the pressure on councillors by increasing demands from their constituents in 
several different ways. Communication with councillors is not only easier but immediate. The public expects a speedy 
response, so that it is now more difficult for councillors to deal with concerns as quickly as voters expect. Not only does 
social media make it easier for their constituents to access councillors, but they also enable an isolated concern to 
become an organised campaign. The expectations of the public continue to rise. 

Recruitment of councillors
We received feedback that it continues to be challenging to recruit candidates generally but also from a diverse 
background and of a high enough calibre who are prepared to stand for office as councillors. Though financial deterrents 
were cited amongst a number of reasons for this, a major disincentive is the time commitment required of a councillor. 
Time pressures (as well as finance) can make it difficult to combine the role with a job and caring responsibilities. As 
was pointed out in the responses we received, the problem is exacerbated in London, where councillors are on the 
whole younger than in other parts of the country and often in employment. They also face substantially higher costs of 
living which are continuing to rise.

Though the time commitment may be the main disincentive to service as a councillor, it is important that, as far as 
reasonably possible, financial loss does not prevent people from becoming councillors. Allowances are not shown by 
polls to be something which influences councillors to take on the role, though they are instrumental in making it 
possible for some people to do so. Allowances should be set at a level that enables people to undertake the role of 
councillor, while not acting as an incentive to do so. If it is important that there are no financial incentives to being a 
councillor, it is equally important that there should not be a financial disincentive. It is clearly desirable that service 
as a councillor is not confined to those who have retired or with independent means. 

In 2014 the Government removed the possibility of councillors joining the local government pension scheme. Almost 
half of the responses we received cited the lack of pension provision as a factor that influences people whether to run 
for council office. Access to the pension scheme can be an important factor in making service as a councillor financially 
possible for a wider range of people. It is particularly significant for those who, like elected mayors, leaders and portfolio 
holders, give most or all of their time to service in local government and lose the opportunity for advancement in their 
particular profession and to contribute to a pension scheme elsewhere. In view of the importance this could have for 
recruiting a diverse range of councillors in future and to wider issues for local democracy, the Panel intends to look at 
lobbying opportunities on this issue as part of its further review in 2022-23.

Page 194



5

The current financial climate 
Because of the financial climate over the last decade, the local government pay settlement over much of this period 
has been either frozen or severely limited. Since our last report there have been modest increases from 2% in 2018-19 
to 2.75% last year. 

Acutely sensitive to the ongoing financial austerity, our recent reports have made no recommendations for increasing 
the levels of members’ allowances other than continuing provision for annual adjustments in accordance with the 
annual local government pay settlement. 

Our recommendations have led to some convergence of members’ allowances across London. There is now considerable 
congruity in the basic allowance made by London boroughs. 

However, most London boroughs have not adopted our recommendations in their entirety and there remain substantial 
differences in the amount of special responsibility allowances. 

In reaching our views this year, we have been acutely conscious of the continuing financial challenges to council 
budgets including the impact from the Covid-19 Pandemic. This adds to the view that now is not the time to contemplate 
a general increase in councillors’ allowances. 

Level of Basic Allowance
In our last report we recommended that there should be a Basic Allowance paid to every councillor of £11,045. Updated 
for the local government staff pay awards since then (and including an indicative 1.75% award for 2021-22 which is 
still the subject of negotiation), the figure is now £12,014. Given all the circumstances including growth in the volume 
and complexity of the work of councillors and the limited increase in the Basic Allowance since our last report, we 
believe that there is a strong case for looking again at the level of the allowance. The basic allowance is now less than 
the allowances paid by many similar authorities outside London.  In our last report we highlighted that in Wales, for 
example, the government-appointed commission set the basic allowance at £13,400 for members of local authorities 
with populations which are generally substantially lower than those of London boroughs. In its most recent report, 
published in February 2021, this had increased to £14,368.

However, the wider context is one of considerable uncertainty including whether trends in demands will be sustained. 
If they are so, as seems likely, the consequences of the changing patterns of work remains unclear added to which is 
the current financial climate. All this suggests to us that now is not the right moment to recommend major changes to 
the current allowances (beyond the annual updating). Linking the alliances to an annual increase to staff pay awards 
will ensure that councillors can receive annual increases which are in line with those received by staff. We therefore 
recommend that the Basic Allowance be set at £12,014 pending the outcome of the 2021-22 award. We believe that it 
remains sensible to frame recommendations which are common across London.

Special Responsibility Allowances
Given the extent of the responsibilities of leaders of London boroughs, the Panel’s first report in 2001 recommended 
that their remuneration should equate to that of a Member of Parliament. [Our recommendations for other special 
responsibility allowances are related to that recommended for leaders.]  

Since then, the increase in the remuneration of Members of Parliament has substantially exceeded the annual local 
government pay increase to which we tied the special responsibility allowance for the leader of a London borough. At 
the time of our last report an MP received a salary of £76,011 while our recommendation for a borough leader (increases 
having been restricted to the local government staff pay increases) was for a total remuneration of £68,130, a difference 
of £7,881. Updated for the local government pay awards (and indicative 2021-22 award), our recommendation for the 
current total remuneration of a London borough leader would be £74,106. Meanwhile the salary of MPs has increased 
to £81,932, a difference of £7,826. Moreover, MPs continue to be entitled to a pension as well as to other benefits (such 
as termination payments) which are not available to leaders. 

Page 195



6

In our current consultation we enquired whether the remuneration of an MP remains a sound comparator to fix the 
remuneration of a borough leader. In general, the responses suggested that the comparator was appropriate with 
some feedback noting that the Leaders of London boroughs warranted a higher remuneration than an MP, because they 
had greater financial responsibility and legal burdens, and especially given the differential pension arrangements. 
Indeed, a couple of respondent authorities suggested that the direct responsibilities of a Leader should command the 
salary of a junior minister. 

We sympathise with the responses. Certainly, the way in which MPs’ remuneration has progressed compared to that of 
leaders could be argued to warrant a review of the Leaders’ allowances.

We are also aware of the very significant expectations on leaders and leading members to participate in wider cross 
borough, pan-London and partnership working, the demands of which (both in terms of time commitments but 
importantly in terms of responsibility and significance) appear to have increased dramatically over the last 18 months. 
Our report makes no recommendations in respect of remuneration for these roles at this stage but we propose to return 
to this issue as part of the further review that is proposed.

However, for the same reasons which prompt us to maintain the current Basic Allowance,    (namely a significant 
uncertainty over the long term implications of the changes we have been witnessing in the last 18 months, combined 
with the financial challenges faced at this time) we recommend that the special responsibility allowance for a Leader 
should be in accordance with our former recommendation, plus the subsequent local government staff pay awards 
(including an indicative uplift of 1.75% for 2021-22 which is still the subject of negotiation), ie £62,092. We recommend 
the maintenance of its relation to other special responsibility allowances, as set out in the Appendix to this report. 

However, we believe that it is important to undertake a more detailed review, along with the Basic Allowances, of the 
special responsibility allowances having allowed further time for the new patterns of demands and expectations to 
become even clearer. We envisage beginning this review in the summer of 2022 and concluding the review during the 
latter half of 2023.

Training and support
The responsibilities of councillors are substantial, extensive and complex.  We have mentioned the increased role that 
councillors have delivered particularly during the Pandemic. The Pandemic has also resulted in an acceleration of more 
flexible ways of working including greater use of digital technology. While this has provided a range of benefits including 
less travelling for work it has required councillors to have the necessary digital skills. Additionally, the move to audio-
visual conferencing has resulted in a growth in meetings for many contributing to an overall increase in ‘screen time’. 
Training and development is beyond the direct remit of our Panel but is an important part of ensuring that residents 
can step forward and become successful and effective elected local representatives. Addressing the financial aspects 
but not the support aspects would be counter-productive. For this reason, we believe that every borough should have 
an ongoing programme of member training and development and that members should be provided with the logistical 
and clerical support and the appropriate IT equipment to help them deal with their workload.

Barriers to being a councillor
It is important that obstacles to becoming a councillor should be removed wherever possible. Care costs can be a 
significant deterrent to service as a councillor. Our strong view is that in appropriate cases when they undertake their 
council duties, councillors should be entitled to claim an allowance for care of dependents. The dependents’ carers’ 
allowance should be set at the London living wage but (on presentation of proof of expense) payment should be made 
at a higher rate when specialist nursing skills are required. 

One respondent authority stressed that member allowances schemes present an opportunity to better support 
councillors by providing not just remuneration but wider support packages. Our view is that members’ allowances 
schemes should allow the continuance of Special Responsibility Allowances in the case of sickness, maternity and 
paternity leave in the same terms that the council’s employees enjoy such benefits (that is to say, they follow the 
same policies).

Page 196



7

Travel and Subsistence allowances
The Basic Allowance should cover basic out-of-pocket expenses incurred by councillors, including intra-borough travel 
costs and expenses. The members’ allowances scheme should, however, provide for special circumstances, such as 
travel after late meetings or travel by councillors with disabilities. The scheme should enable councillors to claim travel 
expenses when their duties take them out of their home borough, including a bicycle allowance.

Allowances for Mayor or Civic Head
Many councils include the allowances for the mayor (or civic head) and deputy in their members’ allowance scheme. 
However, these allowances do serve a rather different purpose from the ‘ordinary’ members’ allowances, since they are 
intended to enable the civic heads to perform a ceremonial role. There are separate statutory provisions (ss 3 and 5 of 
the Local Government Act 1972) for such allowances and councils may find it convenient to use those provisions rather 
than to include the allowances in the members’ allowance scheme. 

Update for inflation
We continue to recommend that all allowances should be updated annually in accordance with the headline figure in 
the annual local government pay settlement.  

We have been asked whether it is necessary for the annual updating to be formally authorised by the council each year. 
The Regulations do seem to make this obligatory.

Mike Cooke  Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL       Anne Watts CBE

London, 6 January 2022

Page 197



8

Appendix A
Basic allowance £12,014

Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance

The case for special allowances 

The reasons for payment of additional special responsibility allowances should be clearly set out in local allowances 
schemes. Special allowances should come into play only in positions where there are significant differences in the time 
requirements and levels of responsibility from those generally expected of a councillor.

Calculation of special allowances 

The proposed amounts for each band are a percentage of the figure suggested for a council leader depending upon 
levels of responsibility of the roles undertaken and are explained below. We believe that the SRA, which the previous 
panel recommended for the leader of a London council (updated), continues to be appropriate.

Categories of special allowances

The regulations specify the following categories of responsibility for which special responsibility allowances may be paid:

• Members of the executive where the authority is operating executive arrangements 

• Acting as leader or deputy leader of a political group within the authority 

• Presiding at meetings of a committee or sub-committee of the authority, or a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee 

• Representing the authority at meetings of, or arranged by, any other body 

• Membership of a committee or sub-committee of the authority which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as spokesperson of a political group on a committee or sub-committee of the authority 

• Membership of an adoption panel

 • Membership of a licensing or regulatory committee

 • Such other activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as require of the member an 
amount of time and effort equal to or greater than would be required of him by any one of the activities 
mentioned above, whether or not that activity is specified in the scheme.

Local discretion

It is for the councils locally to decide how to allocate their councillors between the different bands, having regard 
to our recommendations and how to set the specific remuneration within the band. They must have regard to our 
recommendations. We believe these should have the merits of being easy to apply, easy to adapt, easy to explain and 
understand, and easy to administer.

BAND ONE 

The posts we envisage falling within band one, include: 

• Vice chair of a service, regulatory or scrutiny committee 

• Chair of sub-committee 

• Leader of second or smaller opposition group 

Page 198



9

• Service spokesperson for first opposition group 

• Group secretary (or equivalent) of majority group 

• First opposition group whip (in respect of council business)

 • Vice chair of council business 

• Chairs, vice chairs, area committees and forums or community leaders 

• Cabinet assistant 

• Leadership of a strategic major topic 

• Acting as a member of a committee or sub-committee which meets with exceptional frequency or for 
exceptionally long periods 

• Acting as a member of an adoption panel where membership requires attendance with exceptional frequency 
or for exceptionally long periods 

• Leadership of a specific major project.

Remuneration

We propose that band one special responsibility allowances should be on a sliding scale of between 20 – 30 per cent of 
the remuneration package for a council leader.

This would be made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band One allowance: £2,807 to £10,218

Total: £14,821 to £22,232

BAND TWO 

The types of office we contemplate being within band two are: 

• Lead member in scrutiny arrangements, such as chair of a scrutiny panel 

• Representative on key outside body 

• Chair of major regulatory committee e.g planning 

• Chair of council business (civic mayor) 

• Leader of principal opposition group 

• Majority party chief whip (in respect of council business).

Remuneration

We propose that band two allowances should be on a sliding scale between 40 – 60 per cent, pro rata of the remuneration 
package for a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance £12,014 

Band two allowances: £17,628 to £32,450

Total: £29,642 to £44,464

Page 199



10

BAND THREE 

We see this band as appropriate to the following posts: 

• Cabinet member

• Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

• Chair of the main overview or scrutiny committee 

• Deputy leader of the council

Remuneration:

We propose that band three allowances should be between 70 – 80 per cent pro rata of the remuneration package for 
a council leader.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014 

Band three allowance: £39,860 to £47,271

Total: £51,874, to £59,285

BAND FOUR 

Leader of cabinet 

This is a full-time job, involving a high level of responsibility and includes the exercise of executive responsibilities. It 
is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions in the public sector, while still 
retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. 

Remuneration:

We propose that the remuneration package for a council leader under band four of our scheme should be £74,106.

This is made up as follows: 

Basic allowance: £12,014

Band four allowance: £62,092.

Total: £74,106

BAND FIVE 

Directly elected mayor 

A directly elected mayor has a full-time job with a high level of responsibility and exercises executive responsibilities 
over a fixed electoral cycle. It is right that it should be remunerated on a basis which compares with similar positions 
in the public sector, while still retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service. However, we believe 
this post remains different to that of the strong leader with cabinet model. The directly elected mayor is directly elected 
by the electorate as a whole. The strong leader holds office at the pleasure of the council and can be removed by the 
council. We believe that the distinction is paramount and this should be reflected in the salary level. 

Remuneration:

We propose that a directly elected mayor should receive a remuneration package of 25 per cent higher than that 
recommended for a council leader and that it should be a salary set at £92,633.

Page 200



11

Published: January 2022

Appendix B 
On behalf of the community – a job profile for councillors

Purposes:

1. To participate constructively in the good governance of the area. 

2. To contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the authority’s policies, budget, strategies and service 
delivery. 

3. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations. 

4. To champion the causes which best relate to the interests and sustainability of the community and campaign for the 
improvement of the quality of life of the community in terms of equity, economy and environment. 

5. To represent the council on an outside body, such as a charitable trust or neighbourhood association.

Key Tasks:

1. To fulfil the statutory and local determined requirements of an elected member of a local authority and the authority 
itself, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct, and participation in those decisions and activities 
reserved to the full council (for example, setting budgets, overall priorities, strategy). 

2. To participate effectively as a member of any committee or panel to which the councillor is appointed, including 
related responsibilities for the services falling within the committee’s (or panel’s) terms of reference, human resource 
issues, staff appointments, fees and charges, and liaison with other public bodies to promote better understanding 
and partnership working. 

3. To participate in the activities of an outside body to which the councillor is appointed, providing two-way 
communication between the organisations. Also, for the same purpose, to develop and maintain a working knowledge 
of the authority’s policies and practices in relation to that body and of the community’s needs and aspirations in 
respect of that body’s role and functions. 

4. To participate in the scrutiny or performance review of the services of the authority, including where the authority 
so decides, the scrutiny of policies and budget, and their effectiveness in achieving the strategic objectives of the 
authority. 

5. To participate, as appointed, in the area and in service-based consultative processes with the community and with 
other organisations. 

6. To represent the authority to the community, and the community to the authority, through the various forums 
available. 

7. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the authority’s services, management arrangements, powers/
duties, and constraints, and to develop good working relationships with relevant officers of the authority.

8. To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the organisations, services, activities and other factors which 
impact upon the community’s well-being and identity.

9. To represent effectively the interests of the ward for which the councillor was elected, and deal with constituents’ 
enquiries and representations including, where required, acting as a liaison between the constituent and the local 
authority and where appropriate other public service providers.

10. To contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active encouragement of the 
community to participate generally in the government of the area. 

11. To participate in the activities of any political group of which the councillor is a member. 

12. To undertake necessary training and development programmes as agreed by the authority. 

13. To be accountable for his/her actions and to report regularly on them in accessible and transparent ways.

Page 201



12

Appendix C 
The independent panel members

Mike Cooke 

Mike Cooke was the Chief Executive of the London Borough of Camden for seven years, where he had also been Director 
of Housing and Adult Social Care and HR Director. He has extensive experience of partnership working across London 
including as the CELC lead on children and chairing the London Safeguarding Children Board. Mike also has worked for 
seven years in financial services where he developed an expertise in remuneration. 

Until November 2020 Mike had been a Non-Executive Director of the Central and North West London NHS Foundation 
Trust where he was chair of the HR Committee. Mike’s current role is the independent Chair of the North Central London 
Integrated Health and Care System.

Sir Rodney Brooke CBE, DL

Sir Rodney Brooke has a long career in local government, including as chief executive of West Yorkshire County Council, 
Westminster City Council and the Association of Metropolitan Authorities. 

He was knighted in 2007 for his contribution to public service. 

Dr Anne Watts CBE

Anne Watts has an extensive career in governance, diversity and inclusion spanning commercial, public and voluntary 
sectors. She has held executive roles for HSBC and Business in the Community and was chair of the Appointments 
Commission. She has carried out reviews of Government departments and the Army. In addition she has been a member 
of Government Pay review bodies and Deputy Chair, University of Surrey where she chaired Remuneration Committee 
and the new Vet School.

She is a non-exec of Newable (previously Greater London Enterprise) where she chairs ESG Committee and is a non-exec 
of Newflex subsidiary. In addition she continues to sit on the Race and Gender Equality Leadership teams for Business 
in the Community.

Page 202



13

Published: January 2022
Published: January 2022

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 
REPORT: 
 

  
Council 

 
DATE OF DECISION 1 March 2023 
REPORT TITLE: 
 

 
The Council’s Budget 2023/24 

 
CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR / 
DIRECTOR:  
 

Katherine Kerswell, Chief Executive 
Jane West, Corporate Director of Resources (Section 151 

Officer) 
LEAD OFFICER: Jane West, Corporate Director of Resources 
LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Jason Cummings Cabinet Member for Finance 
CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION?  

No  

WARDS AFFECTED:  
All 

  
 

1 SUMMARY OF REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to enable the Council to calculate and set the Council Tax 
for 2023/24. 

 
1.2 The Localism Act 2011 made significant changes to the Local Government Finance Act 

1992 (“the Act”), and now requires the billing authority to calculate a Council Tax 
requirement for the year, not its budget requirement as previously. 

 
1.3 The Council has to formally resolve that it calculates certain figures, which broadly are: 

• its gross expenditure, including contingency and levies (but not precepts)  
• its gross income from fees & charges and other sources, specific grants, 

external finance from the Government, and any surplus/deficit on the collection 
fund 

• the difference between the two, being the amount which the Council needs for 
its own services to be paid from the collection fund, defined as the Council Tax 
requirement 

• the basic amount of Council Tax for the net position of all these figures, 
including precepts, and 

• the amount of Council Tax for each other category of dwelling. 
 

1.4 The Council is also required to formally approve the management of the Council’s 
treasury management functions, including the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Prudential Indicators and Minimum Revenue Provision Statement; the 
proposed revenue budget for the General Fund; the Capital Strategy & Programme.  

 

Page 205

Agenda Item 10



 

 

1.5 Members are asked to refer to the Cabinet reports including the appendices and any 
supplementary paper, as the recommendations before Council make specific reference 
to these reports. 

 
1.6 Attached to this report are: 

• Appendix A which is the decision notice of the Cabinet meeting, which will be 
published as an addendum once the decision has been taken. 

• Appendix B is the calculation of the council tax requirement and council tax. 
• Appendix C sets out the Council’s net budget requirement and medium term forecast 

to 2025/26. 
• Appendix D the detailed programme of revenue savings, income, demand pressures 

and legacy budget corrections, by directorate, as recommended by Cabinet of 22 
February 2023. 

 
1.7 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and the Capital Programme & Strategy 

with all related documents were reported to Cabinet separately.  
 

1.8 In light of the above Cabinet recommends the Council to adopt the following  
resolutions as set out below. The effect of adopting these resolutions would be to set 
the Council Tax for a Band D property at £2,239.56 
 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the reasons set out in the report [and its appendices], and as recommended by Cabinet 
of 22 February 2023, Council is recommended: 

 
2.1 To agree an increase in the Croydon element of the 2023/24 council tax charge by 

12.99% (Band D £203.95) 
 

2.2 To agree a 2% increase (Band D £31.40) in the 2023/24 Adult Social Care precept levy. 
 

2.3 To agree the calculation of the council tax requirement of £247.759m and council tax as 
set out in Appendix B and note that the inclusion of the Greater London Authority 
precept will result in a total increase of 13.93% (Band D £273.90) in the overall Croydon 
council tax bill. 

 
2.4 To approve the setting of the Council’s own total net expenditure budget for 2023/24 at 

£340.911m (Appendix C). 
 

2.5 To agree the detailed programme of revenue savings, income, demand pressures and 
legacy budget corrections, by directorate, as recommended by Cabinet of 22 February 
2023 (Appendix D). 

 
2.6 To agree a £10m budget in 2023/24 to support the transformation programme. 

 

Page 206



 

 

2.7 To agree that the Corporate Director of Resources be authorised to collect and recover 
National Non-Domestic Rate and council tax in accordance with the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 (as amended), the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 
2.8 To agree the Council’s 2023/24 to 2026/27 General Fund Capital Programme which 

includes planned expenditure of £305.67m (including capitalisation directions) across 
the four years as recommended by Cabinet on 22 February.  

 
2.9 To agree the Council 2023/24 Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme with a 

total investment planned of £32.62m with borrowing of nil as recommended by Cabinet 
on 22 February.  

 
2.10 To agree the Council’s Capital Strategy, drafted with the support of PwC, as detailed 

within Appendix A of the Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27 
Report to Cabinet on 22 February 2023. 

 
2.11 To agree The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023/24 as set out in the 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 Report to Cabinet on 22 February 

 
2.12 The Prudential Indicators as set out in the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 
Report to Cabinet on 22 February. 

 
2.13 The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement (required by the Local 

Authorities (Capital Financing and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2008SI 2008/414) as set out in Appendix B of the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 Report to Cabinet on 22 February. 

 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 

3.1 The Council is obliged to set a balanced budget and council tax charge in accordance 
with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

3.2 Full Council are required to approve the Council’s Capital Programme under the 
Council’s Constitution and all expenditure of £1m requires Cabinet approval for capital 
spend under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 
3.3 Under the Constitution of the London Borough of Croydon the Full Council is 

responsible for approving the Treasury Management Policy Statement setting out the 
matters detailed in CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
(Prudential Code). 

 
 

4 BACKGROUND AND DETAILS 

Page 207



 

 

4.1 As set out in the reports to Cabinet of 22 February 2023 and the attached Appendices 

5      APPENDICES 

 
 Appendix A  Cabinet Decision Notice (to follow) 

 Appendix B   Calculation of the 2023/24 council tax requirement and council tax 

 Appendix C Net budget requirement and medium term forecast to 2025/26 

 Appendix D Revenue savings, income, demand pressures and legacy budget 
corrections, by directorate 

 Appendix E Scrutiny response to Cabinet on Budget proposals 

Appendix F  Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2023/24 – Cabinet Report 22 
February 2023 

 
Appendix G Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2023/26 – Cabinet 

Report 22 February 2023 
 

 Appendix H  Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2023/24 – Cabinet 
Report 22 February 2023 

 Appendix I EqIA Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2023-24 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208



Appendix B 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 2023/24 
 

 
The Cabinet has considered a report in respect of the level of Council Tax for 2023/24 
and the setting of the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for the forthcoming 
financial year.  In summary the Cabinet recommends for 2023/24 a Band D charge of 
£1,805.42 for the Croydon element of Council Tax: 
 
 2022/23 2023/24 Increase Percentage increase 
Council Tax £1,384.36 £1,588.31 £203.95 12.99% of the 2022/23 Band 

D charge of £1,570.07 
Adult Social Care 
levy 

£185.71 £217.11 £31.40 2% of the 2022/23 Band D 
charge of £1,570.07 

Total Croydon 
Element 

£1,570.07 £1,805.42 £235.35 14.99% 

Greater London 
Authority Precept 

£395.59 £434.14 £38.55 9.74% 

Overall Band D 
Charge 

£1,965.66 £2,239.56 £273.90 13.93% 

 
 
 
 Following detailed consideration, the Cabinet recommends that the Council should: 
 

(1) Approve the 2023/24 net budget requirement of £340.911m. 
 

(2) Approve the 2023/24 Council Tax Requirement of £247.759m. 
 

  

Page 209



Appendix B 
 

 

 

Calculation of Council Tax Requirement £’000 £’000 £’000  
(A) Expenditure and other charges (as set out 

in section 31A(2) (a) to (f) of the Act) 
  

  
   

(i) expenditure on Croydon’s services, local 
precepts and levies 

  1,057,364    

(ii) allowance for contingencies   5,000    

(iii) transfer to General Reserves   0     

(iv) transfer to Earmarked Reserves   0    

(v) transfer from the General Fund from the 
Collection Fund in respect of prior year 
deficit on the Collection Fund,  

  1,986   
 

        1,064,350  

  Less        

(B) Income and other credit items (in Section 
31A(3) (a) to (d) of the Act) 

  
  

   

(i) Income from services   601,934    

(ii) Transfer to the General Fund from the 
Collection Fund in respect of prior year 
surplus on the Collection Fund,  

    

  
 

(iii) Income from Government         

  Capitalisation Directions 63,000      

  Core and unallocated Social Care Grants  42,385      

  Business Rates Top Up Grant 35,921      

  Business Rates Income 42,710      

  Revenue Support Grant  16,711      

(iv) transfer from Earmarked Reserves 13,930      

           

      214,657 816,591  

  Equals        

The Council Tax Requirement, i.e. the 
amount by which the expenditure and other 
charges exceed the income and other 
credits.* 

  
 

(C) 

This is (A) above less(B) above (as per 
Section 31A(4) of the Act) 

  

  

247,759 

 

Calculation of basic amount of council tax        

(C) Council Tax Requirement     247,759  

  Divided by        

(D) The Council’s Tax base     137,230.9  

  Equals        

(E) The Basic amount of Council Tax (i.e., the 
Council Tax for a Band D property to which 
no relief or exemption is applicable) for 
services charged to Croydon’s General 
Fund (This is (C) above divided by the tax 
base at (D) as per Section 31(B) of the Act) 

                 
1,805.42  

 

 * The exact figure is £247,759,411.48   
 

  

Page 210



Appendix B 
 

 

 
 

  (F) The tax for different bands calculated as follows (as per Section 36(1) of the Act): 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

(G) to which is added the following precept (issued by the Mayor of London, in exercise 
of the powers conferred on him by sections 82, 83, 85, 86, 88 to 90, 92 and 93 of 
the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (“the 1999 Act”) and sections 40, 47 and 48 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“1992 Act”) 

 
GLA Precept For 2023/24 
Band A 289.43 
Band B 337.66 
Band C 385.90 
Band D 434.14 
Band E 530.62 
Band F 627.09 
Band G 723.57 
Band H 868.28 

 
(H)  That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at (F) and (G) 

above the Council, in accordance with section 30(2) of the local government finance 
act 1992, hereby set the following amounts as the amounts of council tax for the 
year 2023/24 for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:- 
 

Total Council Tax For 2023/24 

Band A 1,493.04 
Band B 1,741.88 
Band C 1,990.72 
Band D 2,239.56 
Band E 2,737.24 
Band F 3,234.92 
Band G 3,732.60 
Band H 4,479.12 

  

Council Tax for Croydon for 2023/24 
Band A          6/9 x £1,805.42 = £1,203.61 
Band B     7/9 x £1,805.42 = £1,404.22 
Band C 8/9 x £1,805.42 = £1,604.82 
Band D 9/9 x £1,805.42 = £1,805.42 
Band E 11/9 x £1,805.42 = £2,206.62 
Band F 13/9 x £1,805.42 = £2,607.83 
Band G 15/9 x £1,805.42 = £3,009.03 
Band H 18/9 x £1,805.42 = £3,610.84 

Page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

London Borough of Croydon - Medium Term Financial Plan

 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
 £'m  £'m  £'m 

Base Budget (Departmental) 317.055   317.055 317.055
Base Budget (Corporate Items) -0.946 -0.946 -0.946
Demand Pressures 11.283     19.161      24.985      
Legacy Budget Corrections 49.037     49.537      50.037      
Planned Savings -33.098 -40.400 -41.114
Future Savings target 0.000 -20.000 -40.000
Provision for inflation 32.946     49.946 61.946
net cost of borrowing (interest, MRP & investment income) 57.919     64.432 63.461
Risk/contingency provision 5.000       10.000 15.000
Set aside of new adult social care grants 3.734       6.319 6.319
Economic Demand Pressures 5.500       5.500 5.500
Council Tax - Hardship Support 2.000       2.000        2.000
Transformation Investment 10.000     5.000 5.000
Gross Budget Requirement 460.430 467.604 469.243
Use of earmarked reserve (Council tax income guarantee) -1.715 0.000 0.000
Core grant funding -38.651 -42.648 -42.648
Additional Adult Social Care Grants -3.734 -6.319 -6.319
Use of the capitalisation directive -63.000 -38.000 -38.000
Business Rates - compensation grant for underindexing the 
business rates multiplier -12.419 -12.419 -12.419
Net Budget Requirement (as per the budget book) 340.911   368.218    369.857    

Financing
Government Grants:
Revenue Support Grant -16.711 -17.628 -17.628
Croydon Resources
Business rates top-up grant -35.921 -37.864 -40.005
Business rates income -42.506 -45.388 -45.388
Council tax (4.99% increase modelled in 2024/25 and a 
freeze in 2025/26) -247.759 -263.061 -266.034
Prior year collection fund deficit 1.986 0.000 0.000
Total Financing -340.911 -363.941 -369.055

Budget deficit/(surplus) 0.000       4.277        0.802        

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Summary of Departmental Budget Proposals

Savings and Change Proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education -6,920 -2,022 -142 

Adult Social Care & Health -12,243 0 0

Housing -2,305 -1,989 -589 

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery -1,859 -145 17 

Assistant Chief Executive -2,924 0 0

Resources -6,347 -1,646 0

Corporate / Council wide -500 -1,500 0

Total -33,098 -7,302 -714 

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education 0 0 0

Adult Social Care & Health 7,621 740 0

Housing 0 0 0

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 1,180 1,000 2,500

Assistant Chief Executive 1,230 4,932 3,324

Resources 1,195 1,150 0

Corporate / Council wide 57 56 0

Total 11,283 7,878 5,824

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education 5,188 0 0

Adult Social Care & Health 1,648 0 0

Housing 5,286 0 0

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 14,759 0 0

Assistant Chief Executive 2,001 0 0

Resources 11,271 500 500

Corporate / Council wide 8,884 0 0

Total 49,037 500 500

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education -1,732 -2,022 -142 

Adult Social Care & Health -2,974 740 0

Housing 2,981 -1,989 -589 

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 14,080 855 2,517

Assistant Chief Executive 307 4,932 3,324

Resources 6,119 4 500

Corporate /Council wide 8,441 -1,444 0

Total budget change 27,222 1,076 5,610

Savings, demand pressures & legacy budget corrections

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Children, Young People & Education 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

Reference Service Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Children's Social Care Division Improve practice system efficiency -385 

2
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Reduce spend on Children Looked After 

placements
-1,715 -330 

3
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Review support for young people whose 

appeal rights are exhausted
-142 

4 Commissioning and Services to Schools Increase the Education Traded Offer -65 

5 Children's Social Care Division
Service efficiencies through hybrid and flexible 

working
-972 

6 Early Years Team
Refocusing public health funding - parenting 

programmes
-465 

7 Early Years Team
Develop family support centres and introduce 

external funding
-1,300 

8
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Growth reduction -1,200 

9
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Reduce demand for legal services -570 

10 Access, Support and Intervention Restructure of the Youth Engagement Team -202 

11
Quality, Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement Division

Staff vacancy factor of 5% across Quality, 

Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement

-253 

12
Quality, Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement Division

Non-staffing spend across Quality, 

Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement

-36 

13
CYPE Integrated Commissioning and 

Procurement

Increase Health contribution to the Integrated 

Commissioning Team -57 

14 Education Division
Service redesign across education to fully 

utilise grant funding
-44 

15
Systemic Clinical Services and Workforce 

Development

Income generation in Systemic and Clinical 

Practice
-45 

16
Social Work with Families and 0-17 

Children with Disabilities

Reduce spend on Children with Disabilities 

care packages
-324 

17 Quality Assurance and Safeguarding
Local authority contribution to the 

safeguarding partnership
-20 

18
Access, Support and Intervention

Sustaining demand management at the front 

door
-200 

19
Directorate wide

Review all joint funding arrangements across 

education, health and care
-250 

20
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Fostering transformation 

-225 

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

P
age 217



Appendix D

21
Social Work with Families and 0-17 

Children with Disabilities

Calleydown – increasing capacity and 

reducing respite costs -142 -142 

Total of Planned Savings -6,920 -2,022 -142 

P
age 218



Appendix D

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

22
Performance and Business Improvement

Adjustment re prior year capitalisation of 

children and families systems  team costs
216

23 Early Years Team
Refocusing public health funding - parenting 

programmes savings correction
309

24 Children's Social Care Division Capitalisation income budget correction 784

25
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Rebasing the income budget for 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers Children 
3,879

Total of legacy budget corrections 5,188 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-6,920 -2,022 -142 

5,188 0 0

-1,732 -2,022 -142 Net Budget Movement

Children, Young People & Education 

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Reference Service Description

P
age 219



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Adult Social Care & Health 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1
 Disabilities 

 Disabilities operational budget -5,277 

2  Mental Health  Mental health operational budget -834 

3  OBC Commissioning  Contracts review -275 

4  Localities and LIFE  Older People operational budget -3,019 

5  Transitions  Transitions operational budget -260 

6  All  Contracts review -75 

7
 Integrated Contracts & 

Performance 

 Review of staffing portfolio across C&P Services 

(Procurement, Hwa, Place, Cfe And P&B)  
-100 

8

9 Provider Services  Active Lives staffing efficiency -60 

10 All ASC Operations  Fees and Charges increase in line with DWP -150 

11 Provider Services  Closure of the Cherry Orchard Garden Centre -180 

12 Provider Services
 Close Whitehorse Day Centre  (facilities 

management cost only) 
-38 

13
 Integrated Contracts & 

Performance 
 PPE growth hand-back and swap with COMF money. -325 

14 All ASC Operations

 The managing demand programme will deliver a 

revised operating model for Adult Social Care & 

Health. 

-150 

15 All  Staff vacancy factor of 5% -1,000 

16 All ASC Operations  Absorption of inflation within existing budgets -500 

Total of proposed savings -12,243 -            -           

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

17
 All ASC Operations 

 Care packages/placements - inflation above 

corporate allowance 
1,479        

18
 All ASC Operations 

 Demographic & cost pressures re care 

packages/placements 
5,065        

19  OBC Commissioning  Cost inflation on Care UK contract 275           

20
 OBC Commissioning 

 Demographic & inflation pressures to the pooled 

equipment budget. 
61             

21  ASC Improvement 
 Transformation funding ends for project management 

costs 
740           

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

22  Transitions  Transitions Service cost of care growth 278           

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Reference Service Description

DescriptionReference Division

P
age 221



Appendix D

23  Transitions  Transitions Service Demographic growth 463           

Total Demand Pressures 7,621        740           -           

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

24  Cross departmental 
 Refocusing of public health funding - budget 

correction 
1,380        

25
 Commissioning/business 

support 

 Realignment of budgets between the Housing 

Revenue Account and General Fund 
268           

Total Legacy budget corrections 1,648        -            -           

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-12,243 0 0

7,621 740 0

1,648 0 0

-2,974 740 0

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Net Budget Movement

Adult Social Care & Health

Demand pressures

Reference Division Description

P
age 222



Appendix D

Housing 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Housing Needs restructure including Dynamic Purchasing 

System implementation
-625 -625 

2 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Temporary Accommodation occupancy checks -400 -300 

3 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Temporary Accommodation case review (discretionary 

cases)
-600 -450 

4 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Data cleanse & rent accounts (income collection) -300 -200 

5 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Repurpose general needs voids for emergency 

accommodation
-175 -175 

6 Department wide Vacancy factor -302 

7 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Demand Management -239 -414 

8 Homelessness & Assessments Housing association liaison, recharges and nominations -78 

Total proposed savings -2,305 -1,989 -589 

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

9 Department wide

Housing legacy structural budget deficit, first identified in 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy report in November 

and subsequently managed down from £5.2m

3,286

10 Department wide HRA recharges staffing corrections 1,500

11 Temporary Accommodation

Inclusion of the leased properties for Concord Sycamore 

& Windsor within the General Fund (part of the HRA/GF 

realignment)

500

Total legacy budget corrections 5,286 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-2,305 -1,989 -589 

5,286 0 0

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Service Description

Division Description

Housing

Reference

Reference

P
age 223



Appendix D

2,981 -1,989 -589 Net Budget Movement

P
age 224



Appendix D

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 

Savings and Change Proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Highways and Parking Parking charges increase -200 

2 Independent Travel
Review and reduction of the Neighbourhood Operations 

Team (NSO)
-150 

3 Independent Travel Adult travel assistance - joint review -50 

4 Independent Travel Bus re-tender contract savings -80 

5 Skills & Economic Development Economic development team streamlined service -46 

6 Community safety Anti Social behaviour charging -6 

7 Community safety CCTV merger -4 

8 Community safety CCTV footage charge for insurance claims -2 

9 Community safety
Review CCTV control room and functions following 

council telephony upgrade
-152 

10 Arts, Entertainment & Culture Reduced museum activity -71 

11 Independent Travel Muster points -8 

12 Independent Travel Coach income (from bus hires) -20 

13 Leisure Redesign leisure sports development service -45 -45 

14 Directorate Fund the General Fund element of the Croydon 

Museum through the Growth Zone fund for a period of 2 

years whilst transforming the service delivery model

-200 

15 
Planning and sustainable 

regeneration

The charging of a percentage of salaries in Planning and 

Regeneration to income sources other than General 

Fund eg Growth Zone, Community Infrastructure Levy 

and external grants

-115 17

16 
Planning and sustainable 

regeneration

Further use of Community Infrastructure Levy instead of 

General Fund funding where appropriate
-250 

17 Highways and Parking
Removal of a school crossing patrol budget that is no 

longer required
-60 

Reference

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

DescriptionService

P
age 225



Appendix D

18 Departmental wide
One-off investment of public health grant in libraries 

(£0.200m) and physical activities (£0.200m)
-400 400

19 Building Control Building control -300 

20 Highways and Parking Parking Policy -200 

Total of proposed savings -1,859 -145 17

Transformation Projects

P
age 226



Appendix D

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

21 Independent Travel
Increase in Special Education Need pupil numbers 

requiring transport
680

22 Waste & Recycling Refuse contract 500 2,500

23 Highways and Parking
Highways maintenance growth - previous planned 

growth delayed by 1 year to 2024/25. 1,000

Total  of demand pressures 1,180 1,000 2,500

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

24 Arts, Entertainment & Culture Fairfield Halls management fee -119 

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

25 Building Control Building control stabilisation 900

26 Development Management
Correction to legacy income budget in Development 

Management that is unachievable
1,000

27 Environmental Health Loss of Public Health Grant contribution to Food Safety 

Team budget
293

28 Environmental Health

Reversal of unachievable income budget in relation to 

the previously proposed Selective Licensing Scheme, if 

this scheme goes ahead in the future the income will be 

required to fund the operation of the scheme

1,586

29 Community safety Correction of legacy shortfall in budget 215

30 Public Realm Correction of legacy shortfall in budget 299

31 Highways and Parking
Parking and traffic - unachievable savings from prior 

years.
10,585

Total legacy budget corrections 14,759 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-1,859 -145 17

1,180 1,000 2,500

14,759 0 0

14,080 855 2,517

DescriptionDivisionReference

Reference Division Description

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Net Budget Movement

Demand pressures

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Assistant Chief Executive 

Savings and Change proposals All figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Croydon Digital Service
Extensions of procurements for CORE IT 

contracts
-250 

2 Human Resources Reduction in previously agreed growth -51 

3 Croydon Digital Service Workforce restructure -1,000 

4 Croydon Digital Service Deletion of legacy oracle financials -60 

5 Human Resources
Human Resources management team 

reorganisation
-210 

6 

Policy, Programme and 

Performance
Contract Review -800 

7 Assistant Chief Exec
Delete Director of Service Quality, 

Improvement & Inclusion Post
-122 

8 Croydon Digital Service
New graves site at Mitcham Road and 

Queens Road
-91 

9 Croydon Digital Service
Visual Tribute system at Croydon 

Crematorium
-31 

10 Mayor's Office Reduced support -40 

11 Human Resources
Corporate Learning and Development budget 

-100 

12 
Human Resources - but Council 

wide

Reduce non-contractual overtime and non- 

essential overtime. 
-97 

13 Bereavement and Registrars Additional income from fees and charges -72 

Total of proposed savings -2,924 0 0

Demand Pressures

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

14 
Croydon Digital Service

Increase in the Croydon contribution to the 

TfL freedom pass scheme
1,230 4,932 3,324

Total demand pressures 1,230 4,932 3,324

Legacy Budget Corrections

Reference Service Description

Reference Division Description

Draft Officer Papers for Discussion - Strictly Private and Confidential

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 229



Appendix D

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

15 

Policy, Programme and 

Performance

Reinstatement of an elections canvass 

budget
65

16 Croydon Digital Service Decapitalise employee costs 1,130

17 
Coroners

Rebase the Croydon contribution in line with 

actual costs
558

18 Department wide

Budget correction regarding the charge made 

to Public Health for the provision of support 

services

248

Total legacy budget corrections 2,001 0 0

Net Budget Movement

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-2,924 0 0

1,230 4,932 3,324

2,001 0 0

307 4,932 3,324

Reference Division Description

Assistant Chief Executives

Legacy budget corections

Net Budget Movement

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Budget Pressues

Proposed Savings

P
age 230



Appendix D

Resources - Budget Proposals

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

1 Finance ICT operational savings -47 

2 Commercial Investment Savings on building closures/disposals -12 

3 Commercial Investment

Review and release of additional space in Bernard 

Weatherill House or disposal with part sale and leaseback 

option

-315 

4 Finance Restructure technical support & development teams -30 -30 

5 Finance Finance staffing review -125 -125 

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

6 Finance Premier supplier commission -200 -100 

7 Finance Improvement costs met from reserves -250 

8 Commercial Investment Saving from duplicated interest budget -2,445 

9 Commercial Investment

Base budget adjustment  regarding fees & charges, 

landlord income, and HRA mast income (partially offsets 

the saving in the duplicated interest budget)

809

10 Finance Recovery of housing benefit overpayments -663 

11 Commercial Investment PMI Contract Manager - Invest to Save proposal 79 -79 

12 Finance
Reduction in running costs in Finance including Revenues, 

Benefits, Business Rates and the Debt Team
-100 

13 Finance Additional Court Cost income -500 

14 
Insurance, Risk & Anti 

Fraud
Additional HRA recharge for insurance -500 

15 Commercial Investment Additional commercial rental income -150 

16 Pensions Reduction in banking contract budget -22 

17 Pensions Contribution from pensioners budget being underspent -40 

18 Finance
Vacancy factor to be deducted from the General Fund 

salary budget
-308 

19 Finance Forecast increase in street naming income -45 

20 Finance Housing benefit review -1,483 -1,312 

Total of proposed savings -6,347 -1,646 0

Reference Service Description

Transformation Projects

P
age 231



Appendix D

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

21 Commercial Investment

Increase in business rates payable by Croydon in line with 

the 2022 Rates Revaluation 1,000    750       

22 Finance Forecast shortfall in land charges income 195

23 
Insurance, Risk & Anti 

Fraud
Insurance Fund growth 400

Total of Demand Pressures 1,195 1,150 0

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

24 Finance
Housing Benefit Subsidy - Loss on HB Payments with Care 

Package Element 9,000    500       500

25 
Procurement / 

Commissioning
Decapitalisation of employee costs 150

26 Investment & Assets Rebasing of prior year income budgets 90

27 Legal Budget correction regarding legal recharges 1,600

30 Commercial Investment Reversal of legacy unachievable income 431

Total  legacy budget corrections 11,271 500 500

Net Budget Movement

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-6,347 0 0

1,195 1,150 0

11,271 500 500

Net Budget Movement 6,119 1,650 500

Reference Division Description

Legacy Budget Corrections 

Resources

Demand Pressures

Proposed Savings

Reference Division Description

P
age 232



Appendix D

Corporate / Council wide - Budget Proposals

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Council wide Customer access (council wide) -1,500 

2 Council wide
Consider new structures through layers and spans 

review
-250 

3 Council wide Business Intelligence -250 

Total of proposed savings -500 -1,500 -           

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

4 Corporate Items Increase in external levies 42             43           

5 Corporate Items Apprenticeship levy 15             13           

Total demand pressures 57             56           -           

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

6 Council wide

 Realignment of Housing Revenue Account and 

General Fund Budgets. Total budget £9.544m of 

which £2.268m is so far shown within departmental 

growth. £8.237m of the growth represents a saving to 

the Housing Revenue Account 

7,276        

7  Council wide 

 Realignment of employee overhead budgets 

(national insurance and superannuation/pension 

contributions) 

         1,608 

Total legacy budget corrections 8,884        -          -           

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

 Reference Division Description

 Reference Division Description

 Reference Division Description

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

P
age 233



Appendix D

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-500 -1,500 0

57 56 0

8,884 0 0

Net Budget Movement 8,441 -1,444 0

Proposed Savings

Demand Pressures

Legacy Budget Corrections 

Corporate / Council Wide

P
age 234



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON 

REPORT: Cabinet 

DATE 22 February 2023 

REPORT TITLE: 

 

Report of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee:  

Budget Scrutiny 2023-24 

LEAD OFFICER: Stephen Lawrence-Orumwense 

Director of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 

Adrian May 

Interim Head of Democratic Services  

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor Rowenna Davis 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 

ORIGIN OF ITEM: As part of the consideration of the Council Tax and Budget 
Report, the Cabinet is required to consider feedback from the 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee. 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Scrutiny & 
Overview Committee scrutinises the entirety of the budget 

proposals and reports its findings to Cabinet as part of the budget 
setting process. The findings of the Committee, together with the 

response of the Administration will be presented at the Budget 
Council meeting. 

KEY DECISION? No 

PUBLIC/EXEMPT: Public 

WARDS AFFECTED: All  

1.  THE BUDGET SCRUTINY REPORT 

1.1. The Scrutiny & Overview Committee is required in the procedure rules set out in the 
Council’s Constitution to report to the Cabinet the findings from its scrutiny of the 
budget setting process. This report is being provided to Cabinet alongside the Budget 

Page 235



 
papers to respond to the conclusions and recommendations of the Committee. Both 
this report and the response of the Cabinet will be included in the budget papers to 
be considered by Council on 1 March 2023. 

1.2. The level of scrutiny given to the process for setting 2023-24 budget has been in line 
with the expanded scope conducted for the 2022-23 budget, as it was found that this 
approach allowed the members of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee to have a 
greater understanding of the potential risks to the delivery of the budget. A summary 
of the budget process is set out in section 2 of this report. 

1.3. The Scrutiny & Overview Committee had a final opportunity to review the budget 
proposals at its meeting on 16 February 2023. It was at this meeting that the 
Committee, taking account of its work over the preceding months, reached its 
conclusions on the budget. These conclusions are set out for the consideration of the 
Cabinet in section 3 of this report. It should be noted that the Committee did not 
make any specific recommendation on the proposed budget. 

2. BUDGET SCRUTINY PROCESS 2023-24 

2.1. Although the Scrutiny & Overview Committee first considered a report on the setting 
of the 2023-24 budget at its meeting on 6 December 2023, the Committee had 
prioritised monitoring the delivery of 2022-23 budget earlier in the year.  The 
Financial Monitoring Reports prepared for Cabinet have also been considered at 
meetings of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee, in addition to a report on the 
‘Opening the Books’ process commissioned by Mayor Perry. This has allowed the 
Committee to identify key areas of risk it wanted to scrutinise in greater detail and 
provided reassurance that the Council was effectively managing its in-year budget. 

2.2. In advance of the first budget scrutiny meeting on 6 December 2022, members of the 
Committee received two training sessions on best practice for budget scrutiny, 
delivered by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny and the Local Government 
Association respectively.  The Committee also received a briefing from the Council’s 
Section 151 Officer on the key budget principles and the approach to setting the 
budget prior to the meeting on 29 November 2022.  

2.3. At the Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 6 December 2022, consideration was 
given to the 2023-24 Budget and the Three Year Medium Term Financial Strategy 
report. From its discussion of the information provided, the Committee identified a 
number of areas for further investigation, including reviewing the support provided by 
the Council to the voluntary & community sector and a deep dive on transformation 
projects to provide reassurance that a robust framework was in place for these 
projects and that they were properly resourced.  

2.4. The Scrutiny & Overview Committee met again on 30 January 2023, to receive these 
reports on Transformation Project Deep Dives, and Voluntary Community & Faith 
Sector Support. The Committee welcomed confirmation from both the Council and 
Croydon Voluntary Action of their commitment to building a deeper relationship 

Page 236



 
between the Council and the voluntary, community, and faith sector in the borough. 
However, serious concern was raised about whether new ways of working would be 
in place in time to support organisations with the transition away from the Community 
Fund when it ended in March 2023. In conclusion, the Committee stressed that 
tangible support plans needed to be a priority and treated with urgency to prevent the 
risk to services and activities being lost. 

2.5. On the Transformation item, the Committee concluded it would like to see further 
evidence of the transformation programmes being mapped out with key milestones 
and timelines, once available. For example, the two projects reviewed by the 
Committee were still in their infancy and in the process of being mapped out. This 
meant that any assurance on these projects would need to be reserved until further 
information was available. Given the urgent and important role transformation needs 
to play in helping turn the Council around, more work needs to be done to create 
concrete delivery plans behind the aspirations. 

2.6. The Committee welcomed confirmation that the Programme Management Office was 
leading a project to introduce a new project management system, as it was agreed 
that improved reporting was essential to ensuring there was a robust system in place 
to monitor the various transformation projects. Members were also supportive of the 
decision not to include savings targets, attributed to the transformation projects in the 
30 November 2022 Cabinet report, in the 2023-24 budget unless it was clear how 
they would be delivered in the next year. 

2.7. The four scrutiny Sub-Committees (Children & Young People, Health & Social Care, 
Streets & Environment, and Homes) each met with the respective Cabinet Members 
and Corporate Directors for their relevant remits to identify key areas of risk to review 
at their meetings in January/February 2023. The areas scrutinised were:- 

   
Meeting Budget Challenge Items 
Scrutiny & Overview Committee 
 
Link to Committee papers: 
Tuesday, 6th December, 2022 

2023-24 Budget Update, Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and Savings 
Proposals  
 

Children & Young People Sub-
Committee 
 
Link to Sub-Committee papers: 
Tuesday, 17th January, 2023 

• The review of care packages for 
children with disabilities aged 0-17 

• The impact of the reduction in spend 
on the adolescent service 

• Impact of the review of the Front 
Door and practices 

 

Health & Social Care Sub-
Committee 
 

• 2022/23 Period 7 (October 2022) 
budget and savings position. 

Page 237

https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=166&MId=2927&Ver=4
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=167&MId=2934&Ver=4


 
Meeting Budget Challenge Items 
Link to Sub-Committee papers: 
Tuesday, 24th January, 2023 

• 2023/24 indicative savings (as of 10 
January 2023). 

• The Council’s position in relation to 
the benchmarked key performance 
indicators. 

 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee 
 
Link to Committee papers: 
Monday, 30th January, 2023 
 

Voluntary, Community & Faith Sector 
Support 
Transformation Project Deep Dives 

Streets & Environment Sub-
Committee 
 
Link to Sub-Committee papers: 
Tuesday, 31st January, 2023 
 

• Parking Services (including 
information on the Parking Policy 
review) 

• Planning Service (including 
information on the Planning 
Transformation programme) 

• Building Control (including a short 
update on the Building Control 
transformation programme) 

 

Homes Sub-Committee 
 
Link to Sub-Committee papers: 
Monday, 6th February, 2023 

• Housing Revenue Account P7 
outturn position. 

• Housing Revenue Account Business 
Plan key headlines. 

• Housing General Fund budget. 
• Housing General Fund P7 outturn 

position. 

2.7. The Chairs of the Sub-Committees reported the findings from their respective budget 
challenge items to the main Committee at the meeting on 16 February 2023. From 
the feedback provided there was a reasonable level of assurance given the 
respective Cabinet Members and officers had a good understanding of their budgets 
and the potential risks to delivery. There was a reoccurring concern across the Sub-
Committees about the capacity of the organisation to deliver the level of 
transformation planned in services, which was exacerbated by the challenges with 
recruiting and retaining staff. Reassurance was that this had been acknowledged and 
assurance was given that capacity restraints had been calculated into the process.  

2.8. The Chairs of Children & Young People Sub-Committee and the Health & Social 
Care Sub-Committee advised that they had been reasonably reassured following 
their budget sessions, that that the services had a firm handle on their budgets and 

Page 238

https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=168&MId=2940&Ver=4
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=166&MId=3486&Ver=4
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=170&MId=2946&Ver=4
https://democracy.croydon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=485&MId=3444


 
would be able to deliver the proposed savings without significantly increasing the 
potential risk to the safety of service users. 

2.9. The Chair of the Health & Social Care Sub-Committee provided further reassurance, 
highlighting that the Council has benefitted from a good working relationship with 
Croydon Health Service NHS Trust, which meant that many of the challenges facing 
other councils and local NHS hospital trusts such as bed blocking or long waits for 
operations were not such a threat locally. That said, threats to Croydon remain, 
especially workforce issues within the health and care system, with a sustainable 
workforce plan needed.   

2.10. A full summary of the conclusions reached by the Scrutiny Sub-Committees, along 
with those from earlier budget scrutiny items considered by the Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee can be found attached at Appendix A. 

2.11. As it was known that the report on the Administration’s budget would not be available 
until 14 February 2023 (two days before the Committee meeting) a briefing was 
arranged for the Committee members with the Section 151 Officer on 15 February to 
provide an overview of the budget and answer questions arising from the Committee. 
The Committee appreciates the difficulty of circulating a budget before hearing from 
third parties about settlements, but it was emphasised that in future the chance to at 
least look at drafts would help the Scrutiny process do a better job.  

2.12. On 15 February 2023 the Committee held an online Question and Answer session for 
members of the public, which gave residents the opportunity to question the budget 
proposals. The purpose of this session was to allow the Committee to learn about the 
main concerns of the public on the proposed budget, which could then be used to 
inform the questions of the Committee at its Budget Scrutiny meeting on 16 February 
2023. From the session with the public the following common themes were noted: - 

• Why was a 15% Council Tax increase being proposed and how had the 
Council been allowed to make the increase without the normal requirement for 
a referendum on increases above 5%? 

• Why should the residents of Croydon have to pay to rectify the mistakes of 
others?  

• What was being done to hold those responsible to account? 

• What support would be available for those unable to afford the increased 
payments, with concern about the use of enforcement. 

2.13. The Committee would like to give its thanks to the Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Councillor Jason Cummings and the Corporate Director of Resources and Section 
151 Officer, Jane West, for giving up their time to attend this meeting and answer the 
public’s questions.  

Page 239



 
2.14. The final meeting in the budget scrutiny cycle was held on 16 February 2023. At this 

meeting, the Committee considered the budget report presented before Cabinet to 
finalise its conclusions on what was proposed. The conclusions of the Committee are 
set out in the next section of this report.  

3. CONCLUSIONS OF THE SCRUTINY & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ON 
THE BUDGET 2023-24 PROPOSALS 

3.1. At the meeting on 16 February 2023, the Committee had the opportunity to question 
Croydon’s Mayor, Jason Perry, the Cabinet Member for Finance, Councillor Jason 
Cummings, the Chief Executive, the Corporate Director for Resources and other 
Members of the Corporate Management Team on the Mayor’s budget proposals. The 
questioning of the Committee focused on five key themes, which were the Council 
Tax increase, Debt, Risks, Savings & Safety and Transformation. From its 
questioning, the Committee was looking to reach a conclusion on the following areas:  

1. Are the savings deliverable, sustainable and an acceptable level of risk? 

2. Is the impact on service users and the wider community understood? 

3. Have all reasonable alternative options been explored and do no better options 
exist? 

3.2. From its consideration of the budget there was a consensus that in the short term, 
the proposed budget for next year had been based on prudent assumptions, that it 
was conservative with a small “c” and from the information provided, it was 
reasonable to conclude that it was deliverable. It was agreed that it could be taken as 
a positive example of the changing culture of the Council, that its development had 
been based upon a worst case scenario approach, rather than being planned with an 
optimism bias of delivery. The Committee noted that there are still outstanding issues 
that might present a significant risk to the delivery of the budget for next year, 
particularly the three years of outstanding accounts. 

3.3. The Committee was reasonably reassured that the budget proposed was safe and 
that there were sufficient controls within the Adult and Children’s services to mitigate 
as far as possible any potential risk to service users. It was accepted that there would 
always be a certain level of risk within these services that required active monitoring 
and management on an ongoing basis. 

3.4. The biggest risk to 2023-24 budget at the time of the meeting was that the 
Government had not given any indication on whether it would be granting the 
Council’s request for capitalisation. Given the Council has a statutory deadline of 11 
March 2023 by which it must have agreed its budget, it was far from ideal that there 
had not been any indication received from Government on the outcome, particularly 
as this would determine the Council’s ability to set a balanced budget for 2023-24. It 
was appreciated that further assurance on this could not be provided by those 
present and this was the reason why the Committee had extended an invite for a 
representative from the Department of Levelling-up, Homes and Communities to 
attend the meeting, which had disappointingly not been taken up. 

Page 240



 
3.5. Although it was concluded that the proposed budget was built on coherent and 

sensible assumptions that built in contingencies for risks over the next year, concerns 
were acknowledged about the Council's long term debt problem and its sustainability 
as a local authority, which could not be solved by this budget or by the Council alone. 
Key to this was the Government’s response to the request to write-off part of the 
Council’s debt, as without this being agreed the cost of servicing the debt placed an 
unsustainable burden on the general fund revenue budget. The reassurance given by 
the Mayor that both the political and officer leadership of the Council were actively 
engaging with Government on this issue was welcomed. However, given it was 
acknowledged that there was currently no legal framework for writing off local 
authority debt and no indication had been given that it would be permitted, the debt 
would remain a serious risk to the long-term health of the Council and its ability to 
become financially sustainable. 

3.6. One of the main areas of discussion for the Committee was the proposed 15% 
Council Tax increase. Half the members of the Committee, including the Chair, had 
outstanding concerns about whether increasing Council tax by the full 15% was the 
only option, especially when other local authorities given permission to exceed the 
Council Tax cap would not be setting rates this high. It was accepted that some 
increase in Council Tax may well be needed to help the Council balance its budget, 
but some members of the Committee did not feel that the report presented sufficient 
justification as to why it had to be 15%.   

3.7. The other half of the members of the Committee felt that they had been presented 
with reasonable justification for the proposed increase and that given the 
circumstances facing the Council there were no other viable alternatives. 

3.8. Given the Council had only received confirmation from the Government that it would 
be allowed to make a 15% increase to Council Tax on 6 February 2023, it was 
accepted that there had been little time to engage with residents on the increase. 
However, it needed to be acknowledged that the proposed increase would have 
significant financial consequences for Croydon residents already struggling in a cost 
of living crisis and that they may feel unfairly punished for past mistakes that were 
not theirs.  

3.9. As there had only been a short period of time to analyse the impact from the 
proposed 15% Council Tax increase, the Committee concluded that further analysis 
was urgently needed to understand the potential scale of this impact. It was also 
suggested that some mention of an increase in Council Tax could have been 
mentioned in the Council's formal survey given it was one of the options being 
considered. Residents from Scrutiny's public Q&A repeatedly stressed that they felt 
their views had not been taken into account. 

3.10. As the criteria for the £2m Hardship Fund, that was being introduced to mitigate 
against the potential impact of the Council Tax rise, was in development, the 
Committee welcomed confirmation that there would be an opportunity for it to review 
the proposed scheme before it is launched to gain reassurance that it would be able 
to reach the residents who needed it the most. Confirmation from the Cabinet 

Page 241



 
Member for Finance that the scheme would continue to be closely monitored and 
reviewed to ensure it was targeted correctly was welcomed.  

3.11. It was highlighted that some of the residents who would most need to access the 
Hardship Fund could also be the hardest to reach. As such careful consideration 
needed to be given as to how the availability of the fund was communicated to 
residents and the routes to access the fund needed to be made as straightforward as 
possible, with a preference towards automatic entitlement rather than the need to go 
through applications.  

3.12. In reaching the above conclusions on the proposed budget, the Committee would like 
to highlight that their views have been based upon the assumptions set out in the 
Cabinet report, including that there would be a positive outcome to the Council’s 
request for capitalisation from the Government. The Committee would ask for the 
opportunity to revisit its recommendations should the Government’s response 
significantly vary from the assumptions made in the budget report.   

4 APPENDICES 

4.1. Appendix A: Conclusions from Previous Budget Scrutiny items considered by the 
Scrutiny & Overview Committee & Sub-Committees 

5 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

5.1. None 

 
  

Page 242



 
Appendix A 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee 

16th February 2023 

Budget Scrutiny 2023-24: Conclusions from Previous Budget Scrutiny items 
considered by the Scrutiny & Overview Committee & Sub-Committees 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee – 6 December 2022 

2023-24 Budget Update, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Savings Proposals 

1. The Committee was highly concerned that the Council had the potential to become stuck 
in a ‘debt trap’ and agreed that it endorsed the efforts of the political and administrative 
leadership in focussing on reducing the Council’s debt with support from national 
government, as without support in this area it was difficult to envision how the Council 
could become a sustainable authority in the long term.  

2. The Committee was concerned that this year’s budget was being drafted on a series of 
Microsoft Word and Excel documents, and strongly welcomed the Council’s intention to 
move towards a more professional system of budget recording next year, which it believes 
is imperative.  

3. The Committee noted that work continued towards the integration of the full range of 
functionality within the Fusion finance system, to ensure it was delivering the maximum 
benefit for the Council. 

4. The Committee wanted to see more detail about the transformation projects proposed, as 
the projects listed often felt more like ‘salami slicing’ rather than true transformation. The 
Committee also wanted more reassurance that the Council would be able to meet the 
scale of transformation needed to achieve financial sustainability with the capacity 
constraints that it currently has.  

5. The Committee agreed that it would look in further detail at one or two of transformation 
projects proposed in the Cabinet report, at its January meeting to provide reassurance that 
a robust framework was in place for these projects including ensure they were properly 
resourced and at their conclusion could provide a definitive evaluation of their success.  

6. Although the Committee accepted the rationale for and the explanation of the timeline 
leading up to the Section 151 Officer issuing the Section 114 notice for 2023-24 budget 
year, some Members of the Committee felt there could have been additional emphasis 
placed on highlighting the potential risk of the Council needing to issue another Section 
114 earlier in the year as contributory risks materialised. 

7. The Committee welcomed confirmation that the Council would be engaging with the Audit 
Reporting and Governance Authority to provide reassurance that the Council was taking a 
best practice approach to its financial processes. 

Page 243



 
8. The Committee also welcomed confirmation that the Council had started to engage with 

London Councils on using London-wide data to inform modelling of future parking income. 

Scrutiny & Overview Committee – 30 January 2023 

Voluntary, Community & Faith Sector Support 

1. The Committee welcomed confirmation from both the Council and Croydon Voluntary 
Action of their commitment to building a deeper relationship between the Council and the 
important voluntary, community and faith sector in our borough.  

2. There were serious concerns flagged about the risk that the new ways of working with the 
voluntary, community and faith sector would be in place in time to support some of the 
organisations with the transition away from the funding provided by the Community Fund 
when it ended in March 2023.  Given the risk that some community groups may not be 
able to adapt to the new arrangements in time, the need to implement tangible support 
plans needed to be a priority and treated with urgency to prevent the risk to services and 
activities being lost. 

3. The Committee welcomed the commitment to looking at creative ways of providing support 
to the sector, particularly reviewing the use of social value in contract arrangements. 

Transformation Project Deep Dives 

1. It was accepted that the two projects reviewed by the Committee were still in their infancy 
and in the process of being mapped out. This meant that any assurance on these projects 
would need to be reserved until further information was available.  

2. The Committee would like to see further evidence of the transformation programmes being 
mapped out with key milestones and time lines, once available. This will provide 
reassurance that processes are being followed and enable the Committee to hold people 
to account through timetabling further scrutiny at the appropriate time. 

3. The Committee welcomed confirmation that work was underway to map out the Council’s 
contracts, as this was an area of work that had previously been flagged as a concern by 
Scrutiny. 

4. Confirmation that that the Programme Management Office was leading a project to 
introduce a new project management system was welcomed, as improved reporting was 
essential to ensuring there was a robust monitoring system in place.  

5. Confirmation was welcomed that the savings targets attributed to the transformation 
projects in the 7 December 2022 Cabinet report had not been included the 2023-24 budget 
unless it was clear how it would be delivered. 

6. It was agreed that a range of intended outcomes for the transformation projects, beyond 
purely financial savings, needed to be set out during the mapping phase of each project to 
ensure clarity of purpose. 

Page 244



 
Children & Young People Sub-Committee – 17th January 2023 

Budget Scrutiny Challenge 

1. The Sub-Committee were reassured by the answers provided by officers during the 
meeting. 

2. The Sub-Committee welcomed the possibility of a transformation project looking at 
expanding the offer at Calleydown Residential Home. 

3. The Sub-Committee acknowledged the demand led nature of the services provided by the 
Children, Young People and Education Directorate and were reassured that officers were 
managing this well with the information that was available. 

4. The Sub-Committee were encouraged by the work being done in the three areas that had 
been presented but acknowledged that services were in new territory as recovery from 
COVID continued. 

5. The Sub-Committee were hopeful that the departments succeeded in delivering the budget 
and intended savings for 2022/23 and 2023/24 and were encouraged that this was on 
track from the discussion in the meeting. 

  

Page 245



 
Health & Social Care Sub-Committee – 24 January 2023 

Adult Social Care & Health Directorate - Budget & Performance 

1. The Sub-Committee were of the view that the Adult Social Care and Health directorate 
were in a reasonably strong position in managing its budget. 

2. The Sub-Committee were of the view that the Corporate Director for Adult Social Care and 
Health had a good understanding of the risks involved in delivering the 2022/23 and 
2023/24 budgets. 

3. The Sub-Committee were confident that the Adult Social Care department were on track to 
deliver the 2022/23 budget. 

4. The Sub-Committee were of the view that, as discussions on other options were ongoing, 
they could not reach a view on whether better options for savings existed. 

5. The Sub-Committee were of the view that the Cabinet Member and department 
understood the impact of savings proposals on service users and the wider community. 

6. The Sub-Committee were of the view that proposed budget for 2023/24 appeared to be 
deliverable, sustainable and did not present an unacceptable risk. 

  

Page 246



 
Streets & Environment Sub-Committee – 30th January 2023 

Budget Scrutiny Challenge 

1. The Sub-Committee thanked officers for the detailed report and responses to Members 
questions in the meeting. 

2. The Sub-Committee acknowledged that adequate staffing and resourcing in all three 
department areas covered in the report was vital to ensure that there was sufficient 
capacity to deliver transformation plans alongside statutory duties. 

3. The Sub-Committee were of the view that officers and Cabinet Members had a good 
understanding the risks in delivering the 2023/24 budget and that sufficient mitigations and 
risk management was in place. 

4. The Sub-Committee acknowledged that difficulty in recruiting to posts across all three 
service areas impacted on service delivery. 

5. The Sub-Committee were of the view that they would like to scrutinise how fee income 
targets were calculated at a future meeting. 

  

Page 247



 
Homes Sub-Committee – 6 February 2023 

Update on the Housing Revenue Account and Housing General Fund Budget 

The conclusions of the Homes Sub-Committee were reported to the Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee during the meeting on 16 February 2023. 

Homes Sub-Committee meeting on 6 February 2023 

1. The Sub-Committee concluded that there was insufficient budgetary detail provided in 
the report to enable it to reach a decision on whether it was reassured on the 
deliverability of the budget.   

2. As such, it was agreed that a briefing would be arranged for the Sub-Committee to seek 
further assurance on the budget. The outcome from this session would be reported to 
the Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 16 February 2023, to inform its consideration of 
the wider Council budget.   

Briefing – 14 February 2023 

3. Although it was noted that there was a current overspend of £4.6m the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) revenue budget, the Sub-Committee agreed that the Service 
had a good understanding of the reasons for this, which included rising utility costs, 
increased in legal disrepair costs and void rents.    

4. Due to the work on the HRA recharging issue the revenue budget was likely to be 
balanced at the year end. However, without the recharge correction, it was reasonable 
to assume that reserves would have been used to cover the overspend. As the current 
level of reserves held for the HRA are healthy, this could have been managed as a one-
off.   

5. The Sub-Committee was reassured that most of the above causes of the overspend 
had been incorporated within the HRA revenue budget over the three year period of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, but there was a concern about the possibly optimistic 
assumption made for inflation on expenditure from April 2023 being set at 8% and at 3% 
from April 2024, given current levels of inflation exceeded 10%.  

6. The Sub-Committee recognised that a significant amount of work had been invested in 
understanding the full scale of the issues related to the historic recharging to the HRA 
and the Sub-Committee understood the reasons for the readjustment included 
rightsizing corporate costs. However, further work was required to ensure that costs had 
been properly recharged from individual services’ service level agreements, with a 
further update requested by the Sub-Committee on this work.   

7. The Sub-Committee accepted that the future budgets presented to them adequately 
accounted for the future needs of the service, including the planned transformation 
work. However, there remained a concern about whether there was sufficient capacity 
within the Service to deliver the scale of transformation planned.  

Page 248



 
8. The Sub-Committee accepted that while not ideal, the current HRA Business Plan 

including its capital programme was based on a 5% sample of housing stock as an 
initial starting point and focussed on clear priorities such as buildings at the end of life, 
large panel systems and large scale disrepair. Confirmation was welcomed that going 
forward the Business Plan would be informed by an ongoing programme of stock 
condition surveys.  

9. The Sub-Committee welcomed the approach not to pursue further borrowing over the 
next couple of years, considering the healthy reserve balance. It was also reassured 
that the future capital programme included a healthy budget to manage the upcoming 
legislative building safety changes.  

10. The Sub-Committee questioned whether, considering the rising cost of utilities, further 
resources could have been allocated to the Net Zero workstream beyond the £1m 
allocated in the capital budget.  

11. The Sub-Committee recognised that Housing General Fund activities, mainly 
homelessness and temporary accomodation services faced significant challenges with 
demand outweighing supply.  

12. The Sub-Committee noted that the Council had been facing a significant reduction in its 
Homelessness Prevention Grant, but following lobbying from London Councils, this 
decision had been reversed and an additional winter pressures grant provided, which 
had helped to minimise the overspend for these services.  

13. The Homelessness Prevention Grant was below the needs of the Council and as the 
Winter Pressures Grant was a one-off, it was agreed that the Council should continue to 
lobby Government for additional support to manage the homelessness pressures in the 
borough. 

14. The Sub-Committee recognised the placement by other boroughs of people in to 
temporary accomodation in Croydon created a significant cost pressure for the Council 
and welcomed confirmation that the Council was actively engaging with these 
authorities to manage this issue.  

15. The Sub-Committee welcomed the strand of the Transformation Programme which 
aimed to refocus the Service towards homelessness prevention, as this would help to 
reduce expenditure on temporary accomodation. However, due to the wider issue of 
poor quality data in the service, which was being addressed, it was recognised that 
some of the assumptions could not be more robust. 

16. The Sub-Committee welcomed confirmation of one-off Public Health funding to allow 
the service to take a more holistic approach to alcohol and substance abuse issues. 
Confirmation of a Government grant to support the Council to meet its statutory duties 
towards domestic abuse victims was also welcomed, particularly as Croydon had one of 
the highest levels of domestic abuse in London.  

 

Page 249



 
 

 

Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Summary of Departmental Budget Proposals

Savings and Change Proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education -6,920 -2,022 -142 

Adult Social Care & Health -12,243 0 0

Housing -2,305 -1,989 -589 

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery -1,859 -145 17 

Assistant Chief Executive -2,924 0 0

Resources -6,347 -1,646 0

Corporate / Council wide -500 -1,500 0

Total -33,098 -7,302 -714 

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education 0 0 0

Adult Social Care & Health 7,621 740 0

Housing 0 0 0

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 1,180 1,000 2,500

Assistant Chief Executive 1,230 4,932 3,324

Resources 1,195 1,150 0

Corporate / Council wide 57 56 0

Total 11,283 7,878 5,824

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education 5,188 0 0

Adult Social Care & Health 1,648 0 0

Housing 5,286 0 0

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 14,759 0 0

Assistant Chief Executive 2,001 0 0

Resources 11,271 500 500

Corporate / Council wide 8,884 0 0

Total 49,037 500 500

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'000s £'000s £'000s

Children, Young People & Education -1,732 -2,022 -142 

Adult Social Care & Health -2,974 740 0

Housing 2,981 -1,989 -589 

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 14,080 855 2,517

Assistant Chief Executive 307 4,932 3,324

Resources 6,119 4 500

Corporate /Council wide 8,441 -1,444 0

Total budget change 27,222 1,076 5,610

Savings, demand pressures & legacy budget corrections

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Children, Young People & Education 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

Reference Service Description 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Children's Social Care Division Improve practice system efficiency -385 

2
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Reduce spend on Children Looked After 

placements
-1,715 -330 

3
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Review support for young people whose 

appeal rights are exhausted
-142 

4 Commissioning and Services to Schools Increase the Education Traded Offer -65 

5 Children's Social Care Division
Service efficiencies through hybrid and flexible 

working
-972 

6 Early Years Team
Refocusing public health funding - parenting 

programmes
-465 

7 Early Years Team
Develop family support centres and introduce 

external funding
-1,300 

8
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Growth reduction -1,200 

9
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Reduce demand for legal services -570 

10 Access, Support and Intervention Restructure of the Youth Engagement Team -202 

11
Quality, Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement Division

Staff vacancy factor of 5% across Quality, 

Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement

-253 

12
Quality, Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement Division

Non-staffing spend across Quality, 

Commissioning and Performance 

Improvement

-36 

13
CYPE Integrated Commissioning and 

Procurement

Increase Health contribution to the Integrated 

Commissioning Team -57 

14 Education Division
Service redesign across education to fully 

utilise grant funding
-44 

15
Systemic Clinical Services and Workforce 

Development

Income generation in Systemic and Clinical 

Practice
-45 

16
Social Work with Families and 0-17 

Children with Disabilities

Reduce spend on Children with Disabilities 

care packages
-324 

17 Quality Assurance and Safeguarding
Local authority contribution to the 

safeguarding partnership
-20 

18
Access, Support and Intervention

Sustaining demand management at the front 

door
-200 

19
Directorate wide

Review all joint funding arrangements across 

education, health and care
-250 

20
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers
Fostering transformation 

-225 

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

P
age 293



Appendix D

21
Social Work with Families and 0-17 

Children with Disabilities

Calleydown – increasing capacity and 

reducing respite costs -142 -142 

Total of Planned Savings -6,920 -2,022 -142 

P
age 294



Appendix D

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

22
Performance and Business Improvement

Adjustment re prior year capitalisation of 

children and families systems  team costs
216

23 Early Years Team
Refocusing public health funding - parenting 

programmes savings correction
309

24 Children's Social Care Division Capitalisation income budget correction 784

25
Social Work with Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Rebasing the income budget for 

Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers Children 
3,879

Total of legacy budget corrections 5,188 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-6,920 -2,022 -142 

5,188 0 0

-1,732 -2,022 -142 Net Budget Movement

Children, Young People & Education 

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Reference Service Description

P
age 295



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Adult Social Care & Health 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1
 Disabilities 

 Disabilities operational budget -5,277 

2  Mental Health  Mental health operational budget -834 

3  OBC Commissioning  Contracts review -275 

4  Localities and LIFE  Older People operational budget -3,019 

5  Transitions  Transitions operational budget -260 

6  All  Contracts review -75 

7
 Integrated Contracts & 

Performance 

 Review of staffing portfolio across C&P Services 

(Procurement, Hwa, Place, Cfe And P&B)  
-100 

8

9 Provider Services  Active Lives staffing efficiency -60 

10 All ASC Operations  Fees and Charges increase in line with DWP -150 

11 Provider Services  Closure of the Cherry Orchard Garden Centre -180 

12 Provider Services
 Close Whitehorse Day Centre  (facilities 

management cost only) 
-38 

13
 Integrated Contracts & 

Performance 
 PPE growth hand-back and swap with COMF money. -325 

14 All ASC Operations

 The managing demand programme will deliver a 

revised operating model for Adult Social Care & 

Health. 

-150 

15 All  Staff vacancy factor of 5% -1,000 

16 All ASC Operations  Absorption of inflation within existing budgets -500 

Total of proposed savings -12,243 -            -           

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

17
 All ASC Operations 

 Care packages/placements - inflation above 

corporate allowance 
1,479        

18
 All ASC Operations 

 Demographic & cost pressures re care 

packages/placements 
5,065        

19  OBC Commissioning  Cost inflation on Care UK contract 275           

20
 OBC Commissioning 

 Demographic & inflation pressures to the pooled 

equipment budget. 
61             

21  ASC Improvement 
 Transformation funding ends for project management 

costs 
740           

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

22  Transitions  Transitions Service cost of care growth 278           

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Reference Service Description

DescriptionReference Division

P
age 297



Appendix D

23  Transitions  Transitions Service Demographic growth 463           

Total Demand Pressures 7,621        740           -           

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

24  Cross departmental 
 Refocusing of public health funding - budget 

correction 
1,380        

25
 Commissioning/business 

support 

 Realignment of budgets between the Housing 

Revenue Account and General Fund 
268           

Total Legacy budget corrections 1,648        -            -           

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-12,243 0 0

7,621 740 0

1,648 0 0

-2,974 740 0

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Net Budget Movement

Adult Social Care & Health

Demand pressures

Reference Division Description

P
age 298



Appendix D

Housing 

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Housing Needs restructure including Dynamic Purchasing 

System implementation
-625 -625 

2 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Temporary Accommodation occupancy checks -400 -300 

3 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Temporary Accommodation case review (discretionary 

cases)
-600 -450 

4 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Data cleanse & rent accounts (income collection) -300 -200 

5 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation

Repurpose general needs voids for emergency 

accommodation
-175 -175 

6 Department wide Vacancy factor -302 

7 
Emergency and Temporary 

Accommodation
Demand Management -239 -414 

8 Homelessness & Assessments Housing association liaison, recharges and nominations -78 

Total proposed savings -2,305 -1,989 -589 

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

9 Department wide

Housing legacy structural budget deficit, first identified in 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy report in November 

and subsequently managed down from £5.2m

3,286

10 Department wide HRA recharges staffing corrections 1,500

11 Temporary Accommodation

Inclusion of the leased properties for Concord Sycamore 

& Windsor within the General Fund (part of the HRA/GF 

realignment)

500

Total legacy budget corrections 5,286 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-2,305 -1,989 -589 

5,286 0 0

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Service Description

Division Description

Housing

Reference

Reference

P
age 299



Appendix D

2,981 -1,989 -589 Net Budget Movement

P
age 300



Appendix D

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 

Savings and Change Proposals Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Highways and Parking Parking charges increase -200 

2 Independent Travel
Review and reduction of the Neighbourhood Operations 

Team (NSO)
-150 

3 Independent Travel Adult travel assistance - joint review -50 

4 Independent Travel Bus re-tender contract savings -80 

5 Skills & Economic Development Economic development team streamlined service -46 

6 Community safety Anti Social behaviour charging -6 

7 Community safety CCTV merger -4 

8 Community safety CCTV footage charge for insurance claims -2 

9 Community safety
Review CCTV control room and functions following 

council telephony upgrade
-152 

10 Arts, Entertainment & Culture Reduced museum activity -71 

11 Independent Travel Muster points -8 

12 Independent Travel Coach income (from bus hires) -20 

13 Leisure Redesign leisure sports development service -45 -45 

14 Directorate Fund the General Fund element of the Croydon 

Museum through the Growth Zone fund for a period of 2 

years whilst transforming the service delivery model

-200 

15 
Planning and sustainable 

regeneration

The charging of a percentage of salaries in Planning and 

Regeneration to income sources other than General 

Fund eg Growth Zone, Community Infrastructure Levy 

and external grants

-115 17

16 
Planning and sustainable 

regeneration

Further use of Community Infrastructure Levy instead of 

General Fund funding where appropriate
-250 

17 Highways and Parking
Removal of a school crossing patrol budget that is no 

longer required
-60 

Reference

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

DescriptionService

P
age 301



Appendix D

18 Departmental wide
One-off investment of public health grant in libraries 

(£0.200m) and physical activities (£0.200m)
-400 400

19 Building Control Building control -300 

20 Highways and Parking Parking Policy -200 

Total of proposed savings -1,859 -145 17

Transformation Projects

P
age 302



Appendix D

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

21 Independent Travel
Increase in Special Education Need pupil numbers 

requiring transport
680

22 Waste & Recycling Refuse contract 500 2,500

23 Highways and Parking
Highways maintenance growth - previous planned 

growth delayed by 1 year to 2024/25. 1,000

Total  of demand pressures 1,180 1,000 2,500

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

24 Arts, Entertainment & Culture Fairfield Halls management fee -119 

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

25 Building Control Building control stabilisation 900

26 Development Management
Correction to legacy income budget in Development 

Management that is unachievable
1,000

27 Environmental Health Loss of Public Health Grant contribution to Food Safety 

Team budget
293

28 Environmental Health

Reversal of unachievable income budget in relation to 

the previously proposed Selective Licensing Scheme, if 

this scheme goes ahead in the future the income will be 

required to fund the operation of the scheme

1,586

29 Community safety Correction of legacy shortfall in budget 215

30 Public Realm Correction of legacy shortfall in budget 299

31 Highways and Parking
Parking and traffic - unachievable savings from prior 

years.
10,585

Total legacy budget corrections 14,759 0 0

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-1,859 -145 17

1,180 1,000 2,500

14,759 0 0

14,080 855 2,517

DescriptionDivisionReference

Reference Division Description

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery

Proposed savings

Legacy budget corrections

Net Budget Movement

Demand pressures

P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

Assistant Chief Executive 

Savings and Change proposals All figures are incremental 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Croydon Digital Service
Extensions of procurements for CORE IT 

contracts
-250 

2 Human Resources Reduction in previously agreed growth -51 

3 Croydon Digital Service Workforce restructure -1,000 

4 Croydon Digital Service Deletion of legacy oracle financials -60 

5 Human Resources
Human Resources management team 

reorganisation
-210 

6 

Policy, Programme and 

Performance
Contract Review -800 

7 Assistant Chief Exec
Delete Director of Service Quality, 

Improvement & Inclusion Post
-122 

8 Croydon Digital Service
New graves site at Mitcham Road and 

Queens Road
-91 

9 Croydon Digital Service
Visual Tribute system at Croydon 

Crematorium
-31 

10 Mayor's Office Reduced support -40 

11 Human Resources
Corporate Learning and Development budget 

-100 

12 
Human Resources - but Council 

wide

Reduce non-contractual overtime and non- 

essential overtime. 
-97 

13 Bereavement and Registrars Additional income from fees and charges -72 

Total of proposed savings -2,924 0 0

Demand Pressures

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

14 
Croydon Digital Service

Increase in the Croydon contribution to the 

TfL freedom pass scheme
1,230 4,932 3,324

Total demand pressures 1,230 4,932 3,324

Legacy Budget Corrections

Reference Service Description

Reference Division Description

Draft Officer Papers for Discussion - Strictly Private and Confidential

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

P
age 305



Appendix D

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

15 

Policy, Programme and 

Performance

Reinstatement of an elections canvass 

budget
65

16 Croydon Digital Service Decapitalise employee costs 1,130

17 
Coroners

Rebase the Croydon contribution in line with 

actual costs
558

18 Department wide

Budget correction regarding the charge made 

to Public Health for the provision of support 

services

248

Total legacy budget corrections 2,001 0 0

Net Budget Movement

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-2,924 0 0

1,230 4,932 3,324

2,001 0 0

307 4,932 3,324

Reference Division Description

Assistant Chief Executives

Legacy budget corections

Net Budget Movement

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Budget Pressues

Proposed Savings

P
age 306



Appendix D

Resources - Budget Proposals

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

1 Finance ICT operational savings -47 

2 Commercial Investment Savings on building closures/disposals -12 

3 Commercial Investment

Review and release of additional space in Bernard 

Weatherill House or disposal with part sale and leaseback 

option

-315 

4 Finance Restructure technical support & development teams -30 -30 

5 Finance Finance staffing review -125 -125 

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

6 Finance Premier supplier commission -200 -100 

7 Finance Improvement costs met from reserves -250 

8 Commercial Investment Saving from duplicated interest budget -2,445 

9 Commercial Investment

Base budget adjustment  regarding fees & charges, 

landlord income, and HRA mast income (partially offsets 

the saving in the duplicated interest budget)

809

10 Finance Recovery of housing benefit overpayments -663 

11 Commercial Investment PMI Contract Manager - Invest to Save proposal 79 -79 

12 Finance
Reduction in running costs in Finance including Revenues, 

Benefits, Business Rates and the Debt Team
-100 

13 Finance Additional Court Cost income -500 

14 
Insurance, Risk & Anti 

Fraud
Additional HRA recharge for insurance -500 

15 Commercial Investment Additional commercial rental income -150 

16 Pensions Reduction in banking contract budget -22 

17 Pensions Contribution from pensioners budget being underspent -40 

18 Finance
Vacancy factor to be deducted from the General Fund 

salary budget
-308 

19 Finance Forecast increase in street naming income -45 

20 Finance Housing benefit review -1,483 -1,312 

Total of proposed savings -6,347 -1,646 0

Reference Service Description

Transformation Projects

P
age 307



Appendix D

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

21 Commercial Investment

Increase in business rates payable by Croydon in line with 

the 2022 Rates Revaluation 1,000    750       

22 Finance Forecast shortfall in land charges income 195

23 
Insurance, Risk & Anti 

Fraud
Insurance Fund growth 400

Total of Demand Pressures 1,195 1,150 0

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

24 Finance
Housing Benefit Subsidy - Loss on HB Payments with Care 

Package Element 9,000    500       500

25 
Procurement / 

Commissioning
Decapitalisation of employee costs 150

26 Investment & Assets Rebasing of prior year income budgets 90

27 Legal Budget correction regarding legal recharges 1,600

30 Commercial Investment Reversal of legacy unachievable income 431

Total  legacy budget corrections 11,271 500 500

Net Budget Movement

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-6,347 0 0

1,195 1,150 0

11,271 500 500

Net Budget Movement 6,119 1,650 500

Reference Division Description

Legacy Budget Corrections 

Resources

Demand Pressures

Proposed Savings

Reference Division Description

P
age 308



Appendix D

Corporate / Council wide - Budget Proposals

Savings and Change proposals Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

1 Council wide Customer access (council wide) -1,500 

2 Council wide
Consider new structures through layers and spans 

review
-250 

3 Council wide Business Intelligence -250 

Total of proposed savings -500 -1,500 -           

Demand Pressures Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

4 Corporate Items Increase in external levies 42             43           

5 Corporate Items Apprenticeship levy 15             13           

Total demand pressures 57             56           -           

Legacy Budget Corrections Figures are incremental

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

6 Council wide

 Realignment of Housing Revenue Account and 

General Fund Budgets. Total budget £9.544m of 

which £2.268m is so far shown within departmental 

growth. £8.237m of the growth represents a saving to 

the Housing Revenue Account 

7,276        

7  Council wide 

 Realignment of employee overhead budgets 

(national insurance and superannuation/pension 

contributions) 

         1,608 

Total legacy budget corrections 8,884        -          -           

Net Budget Movement Figures are incremental

 Reference Division Description

 Reference Division Description

 Reference Division Description

Incremental/New savings identified in the 2023/24 Medium Term Financial Plan

Incremental/New growth identified in the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan

Transformation Projects

P
age 309



Appendix D

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000 £000 £000

-500 -1,500 0

57 56 0

8,884 0 0

Net Budget Movement 8,441 -1,444 0

Proposed Savings

Demand Pressures

Legacy Budget Corrections 

Corporate / Council Wide

P
age 310



Page 311



Page 312



Page 313



Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



Page 323



Page 324



APPENDIX E

Croydon - Grants Forecast based on the 2023/24 Final Local Government Finance Settlement

Budget
Final 

LGFS Comments

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'m £'m £'m £'m

Lower Tier Service Grant 0.681 -  -  Grant ended in 23/24.

Improved Better Care Fund 9.978 9.978 9.978 9.978 

Services Grant 5.104 2.994 0

New Homes Bonus 4.115 1.646 0 -  

EFA Education Services Grant 1.967 1.967 1.967 1.967 Not yet confirmed

Local C/Tax Support Admin Grant 0.448 Grant rolled into RSG.

DWP Hsg Benefit Admin Grant 1.350 1.350 1.350 1.350 Not yet confirmed

Social Care Grant 11.120 18.999 28.257 28.257

  Independent Living Fund* -0.960 -0.960 -0.960 Grant rolled into Social Care Grant

Centrally Retained DSG** 2.570 2.056 2.056 2.056 Subject to review against actual commitments

One-off Business Rates levy surplus 

distribution 2022 to 2023
0.621 

New allocation announced in the Final 2023/24 

LGFS. Payable in 2022/23 but assumed for use 

in 2023/24

  Core Grant Funding 37.333 38.651 42.648 42.648 Budgeted for Corporately

New Adult Social Care discharge fund -  1.399 2.331 2.331 Budgeted for within Adult Social Care

  Market sustainability and Improvement fund 0.946 3.281 4.934 4.934 Budgeted for within Adult Social Care

  Adult Social Care Grants 0.946 4.680 7.265 7.265 

  Revenue Support Grant 14.646 16.711 17.628 17.628

  Total All Grants 52.925 60.042 67.541 67.541

Net movement against the prior year

Core Grants 1.318 3.997 0.000

Revenue Support Grant 2.065 0.917 0.000

General Grants 3.383 4.914 0.000

Adult Social Care 3.734 2.585 0.000

7.117 7.499 0.000

* The Independent Living Fund grant is budgeted for within Adult Social Care.

The grant forms part of the social care grant allocation for 2023/34. To equalise the base 2023/24 position

it is shown as a deduction from core grants as this funding will need to offset the ASC pressure.

** Local authorities can apply for protection if their historical prudential borrowing costs exceed the 2023/24 grant allocation

Review is in progress to establish if Croydon may receive such protection. The current forecast assumes it does not.

*** The 2024/25 forecast is based on analysis by London Council's (22 December 2022)

A grant freeze is assumed for 2025/26 pending any update on fair funding and other reforms.

Future Forecast

P
age 325



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  F

Business Rates - Forecast

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£'m £'m £'m

Section 31 grant for underindexing the 

business rates multiplier
12.419 12.419 12.419 In line with the NNDR1 Return for 2023/24

Business Rates-top-up grant
35.921 37.864 40.005

2023/24 as per the LGFS. 2024/25 uprated in line with London 

Councils modelling

In-Year Business Rates Income

32.168 33.909 33.909
Croydon 30% share of business rates income collected. 

Estimate based on the 2023/24 NNDR1.

Other section 31 grants (for business rate 

reliefs)
10.338 11.479 11.479 Based on NNDR1 for 2023/24. Future years updated 

Prior Year Adjustments -12.215 0 0 Arising from prior year rebates

Draw down from business rates reserve

12.215 0 0

Reserve c/fwd to 23/24 of £19.633m funded from section 31 

grants received for covid business rate reliefs. This is matched 

against  the prior year adjustments.

Total - All Business Rates 90.846 95.671 97.812

Croydon Budget Presentation

Section 31 grant for underindexing the 

business rates multiplier 12.419 12.419 12.419

Business Rates Income 78.427 83.252 85.393

Total 90.846 95.671 97.812

Notes:

1. A business rates revaluation is effective from 1 April 2023.

The impact should be neutral but the split between income and the top-up grant may change.

Transitional reliefs may also apply and change the level of section 31 grants.

2. This forecast is based on the NNDR1 submitted in January 2023.

3. The business rates system is due to be rebased from 2025/26.

For the purpose of this forecast the impact is assumed to be neutral.

4. Croydon will carry forward a business rate relief reserve of £19.633m to 2023/24

This was funded from government section 31 grant received in respect of business rate reliefs 

provided during Covid.

The reserve is now matched against the prior year business rate adjustments arising 

from the impact of Covid.

P
age 327



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 329



Page 330



Page 331



Page 332



Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 335



Page 336



Page 337



Page 338



Page 339



Page 340



Page 341



Page 342



Page 343



Page 344



Page 345



Page 346



Page 347



Page 348



Page 349



Page 350



Page 351



Page 352



Page 353



Page 354



Page 355



Page 356



Page 357



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX   J

Adult Social Care & Health 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

Market sustainability and Fair Cost of Care (FCoC).

The government has recognised that the state of the care market is due, in part, 

to the rates paid by local authorities (LA). They have introduced reforms which 

are designed to bring current LA rates paid to a fair cost over a 3 year period. 

This is also in line with the authorities duties under the Care Act 2014. A 

nationwide exercise started in 2022 with the results being made public 01/02/23. 

This is likely to cause significant noise. Risk shown is the current best guess of 

the impact spread equally across 3 years, however its likely that this will 

increase in subsequent as the FCoC is based on 22/23 rates so is likely 

outdated before its fully met.

If the grant funding is not available to the department either the likely grant 

conditions will not be met of the departmenrt will overspend.

Hospital Discharge 1

In late 2022 the ASC Discharge Grant was introduced to relieve pressures in the 

healthcare system. The grant was awarded to LAs and ICBs and was managed 

via the Better Care Fund S75 agreement. The grant has strict conditions and 

requires fortnightly activity reporting.

This grant has been extended to 23/24, no further guidelines have been issued 

but it is highly likely to have the same or similar conditions.

In addition the introduction of the FCoC will increase the costs of care for 

discharges.If the grant funding is not available to the department either the likely grant 

Hospital Discharge 2

It was announced 9 January 23 that the Department of Health & Social Care 

(DHSC) are to spend £250m buying residential care beds. This has a number of 

potentially unfortunate consequences for LAs.

This will likely increase the cost of residential care further, one providers have 

publicly stated that they consider this to be a high cost service.

Part of the issue with discharge is the lack of therapy services available. Using 

these care home beds is not going change this situation and is highly likely to 

lead to care dependency for which the LA is liable to fund.

There is no clarity around how these patients care will actively be managed. The 

worse case is that there are essentially "warehoused" which is inappropriate for 

the patient and potentially costly for the LA.

As these plans have only just been announced and no guidance has been 

issued, the above is a best guess until we have further information

Inflation

Inflation has been budgeted for at up to 9%, however providers are currently 

approaching commissioners for increases of between 12 and 25%. These 

requests are outside the Fair Cost of Care exercise. In some instances the 

departmant may need to pay inflationary increases to ensure provider stability.

Financial Risks

Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

All Care 3,500 3,500 3,500

All Care 3,000-5,000 TBA TBA
Use of the 2023/24 ASC Discharge grant and manage 

volume of patients being discharged. 

All Care 0 - 1000

All Care TBA TBA TBA
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-

speed-up-hospital-discharge

Use of Market Sustainability grant 

Risk

Service Area 

P
age 359

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/up-to-250-million-to-speed-up-hospital-discharge


APPENDIX   J

Childrens and Young People

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

Children’s Social Care 

Division
Underfunding of employee pension budget 1,198 1,198 1,198 Covered from in-year vacancies

Housing

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

Budget for inflationary pressures

Implement savings measures as planned including 

restructure; use of HRA stock; occupancy review etc.

Use financial data to target most cost effective property 

as homelessness accommodation

Temporaryand 

Emergency 

Accommodation

External pressures from other public bodies such as the increased need to 

provide services to asylum seekers housed in Croydon by the Home Office, 

large numbers of people being housed in Croydon by other London Boroughs 

and people housed in Croydon by the Probation service.

TBA

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

 Highways and Parking 

Income Risk for Penalty Charge Notices (PCN) due to delays in Conduent 

Contract for Automatic Number Plate Recognition
TBA

 Highways and Parking 

and Strategic Transport 

There is a risk given the current financial situation at TFL that anticipated 

funding for infrastructure projects may be delayed or rescinded which may result 

in additional capital borrowing needed by the council be that to cover loss of 

income or to complete projects.

TBA

 Development Control 

Continued down turn in the number of planning applications impacting ability to 

achieve income budgets.
TBA

 Highways and Parking 

Although there has been a rightsizing of the Parking Budget the current cost of 

living crisis, continued changes in the number of people working from home 

since the pandemic and other economic factors may affect the number of 

people using Parking in Croydon. This will affect both Pay & Display and PCN 

Income.

TBA

Sustainable Communities Regeneration & Economic Recovery 
Risk

 Service Area  Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

Risk

Service Area Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

Early intervention to mitigate the number of children 

becoming children looked after

Considered use of agency staff to cover gapsHomelessness Service disruption due to restructure of housing resource 1,000

Homelessness
Availability of private rental properties is low leading to high inflation and 

increased use of nightly paid accommodation
3,000 2,000

Service Area Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

Risk

Social Work with 

Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Increased children looked after numbers and/or clients existing/new young 

people in high-cost placements
1,200  1,200  1,200

P
age 360



APPENDIX   J

 All Areas 

Given the current rate of inflation the there is a risk that continuation of this 

economic factor may affect further contractual prices and create additional 

budgetary pressures. This is most likely in connection with fuel, energy and 

services with a large sub contracted workforce

TBA

 All Areas 

Given the current cost of living crisis and inflationary pressures on both 

residents and businesses within the borough there is likely to be a knock affect 

on various income streams with the Services, as people and businesses tighten 

the purse strings or regrettably in some cases cease trading.

TBA

 All Areas 

Given the current financial situation of the council and a highly competitive 

external market (cost wise) in direct competition with some of our services 

recruitment and retention issues are risk that needs to be taken into account 

which may affect some of the services we deliver

TBA

 Development 

Management  Building 

Control and Licensing 

There is currently consideration being given or already in place reagarding 

statutory requirements and statutory legislation in these areas which are likely to 

be realised in the next financial year. There is a risk that changes may affect 

income or costs for these services.

TBA

 Public Realm 

A new statutory duty on public bodies and large organisations to physically 

protect public spaces (“Martyn’s law) is due to be published in Spring 2023. This 

is expected to place several statutory duties on the council, which will not be 

funded from central government. Measures could range from Hostile Vehicle 

Mitigation to organisational policy, CCTV, recruitment and other changes. 

Where existing sites are owned by the council the cost of retrofitting measures 

are potentially significant.

TBA

Work will be undertaken with counter-terrorism police 

to identify potential sites although until the draft bill is 

released it is not possible to fully determine the criteria 

for vulnerable locations (which will directly affect the 

quanta of financial risk). A Protect Board will oversee 

this work across departments and the partnership, and 

co-ordinate activity. This will also ensure that any 

changes to planning policy and regulatory policy can 

be embedded in practice to mitigate future costs

Assistant Chief Executives and Resources
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

Elections National changes occuring TBA
Offset against any additional government funding for 

new burdens

CORPORATE
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26

£000s £000s £000s

Council Wide 1% increase in borrowing costs (due to interest rate rises) 1,880 Review in-year Treasury Management Strategy

Total Risks Quantified (mid-point taken when a range identified) 22,278        16,498       5,898          

Take account of any income loss within any decision to 

dispose of assets. Adjust the MTFS accordingly.

Elections - Local Reserve for local election TBA
Review the future contributions to the reserve to 

spread any forecast cost increase.

Resources- Investment 

& Assets
Disposal programme of assets will lead to reduction of income in revenue TBA

Risk

Service Area Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

The impact will be in future years. The risk shown 

would reduce rates income to the minimum level 

(safety net threshold) guaranteed by the government.

Business Rates Reduction in income due to business closure/lower economic activity 0 8,600         0

Service Area Short description of risk Potential Mitigation

Council Wide
Upturn in inflation - pay award and contract inflation 1% higher than currently 

modelled
6,000

Review and management of contracts.             

Potential offset against the cost of living contingency.

P
age 361



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 363



Page 364



Page 365



Page 366



Page 367



Page 368



Page 369



Page 370



Page 371



Page 372



Page 373



Page 374



Page 375



Page 376



Page 377



Page 378



Page 379



Page 380



Page 381



Page 382



Page 383



Page 384



Page 385



Page 386



Page 387



Page 388



Page 389



Page 390



Page 391



Page 392



Page 393



Page 394



Page 395



Page 396



Page 397



Page 398



Page 399



Page 400



Page 401



Page 402



Page 403



Page 404



Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418



Page 419



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



Page 439



Page 440



Page 441



Page 442



Page 443



Page 444



Page 445



Page 446



Page 447



Page 448



Page 449



Page 450



Page 451



Page 452



Page 453



Page 454



Page 455



Page 456



Page 457



Page 458



Page 459



Page 460



Page 461



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1.  Introduction  
  
1.1  Purpose of Equality Analysis  
  
The Council has an important role in creating a fair society through the services we provide, the people we employ and the money we spend. Equality is 
integral to everything the Council does.  We are committed to making Croydon a stronger, fairer borough where no community or individual is held back.  
  
Undertaking an Equality Analysis helps to determine whether a proposed change will have a positive, negative, or no impact on groups that share a protected 
characteristic.  Conclusions drawn from Equality Analyses helps us to better understand the needs of all our communities, enable us to target services and 
budgets more effectively and also helps us to comply with the Equality Act 2010.    
  
An equality analysis must be completed as early as possible during the planning stages of any proposed change to ensure information gained from the 
process is incorporated in any decisions made.   
  
In practice, the term ‘proposed change’ broadly covers the following:-   

• Policies, strategies and plans;  
• Projects and programmes;  
• Commissioning (including re-commissioning and de-commissioning);  
• Service review;  
• Budget allocation/analysis;  
• Staff restructures (including outsourcing);  
• Business transformation programmes;  
• Organisational change programmes;  
• Processes (for example thresholds, eligibility, entitlements, and access criteria.  
  
  
  
  

Equality Analysis : Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 
2023/24

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 463



2.  Proposed change  
  
Directorate  All  
Title of proposed change  Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2023/24 
Name of Officers carrying out Equality Analysis  Gavin Handford, Denise McCausland, Felisha Dussard, Laura McCartney 

 
2.1 Purpose of proposed change 
  
The Council is obliged to set a balanced budget and council tax charge in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 
This equalities impact assessment relates to the 2023/24 revenue budget proposals regarding: 
 
- A council tax increase of 12.99% and a 2% increase in the adult social care precept levy. 
- Proposed savings, demand pressures, and inflation. 
- Legacy financial issues and budget corrections 
- Fees and charges (only brief summary is given in this EQIA, as a separate EQIA has been prepared in relation to fees and charges) 
- Budget risks, reserves and balances. 
- An update on discussions with Central Government. 
 
 
Context for Change 
 
Changing Demographics 
 
Data from the 2021 census shows that Croydon’s population has grown by 7.5% since the 2011 census to 390,800. This is slightly lower than the increase for 
London (7.7%). Other comparative data from 2021 Census: 
- Croydon ranked 16th for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England.  
- Croydon has the highest population in London.   
- The number of households has increased to close to 160,000 compared to 145,000 recorded in Census 2011. 
- Croydon is the 10th least densely populated of London’s 33 local authority areas 
 
In Croydon, 
- 52% of the population are female. 
- 19.3% of the population are under 15 and 13.6% over 65 
 
Based on the age bandings for delivering services in Croydon: 
- 23.1% of residents in Croydon are aged 0-17 years 
- 63.3% are aged between 18 and 64 years 
- 13.6% are aged 65 years or over 

P
age 464



 
A number of the proposals within the Revenue Budget may impact council officers directly, data presented to the council’s Equality Diversity and Inclusion Board 
in January 2023 provided an overview of the officer make up of various protected groups.  This is included in the appendix. 
 
 
A council tax increase of 12.99% and a 2% increase in the adult social care precept levy. 
 
On Monday 06 February 2023 the Local Government Settlement was published by the Department for Levelling Up, Homes, and Communities (DLUCH). As part 
of that settlement announcement, DLUHC set the level of increase in council tax, or, set the council tax cap that councils can consider charging. For most 
councils in the country the cap is a 4.99% increase to council tax bills.  
 
However, the Government has given Croydon Council (along with Slough, and Thurrock) permission to increase council tax above the 4.99% cap. Because of 
the seriousness of the financial situation, Croydon has been given permission to increase council tax above that national 4.99% cap by 10% to 14.99%.  
 
Without this proposed increase the council would need to identify and deliver a further £20 million in savings, in addition to the £36 million that are already being 
put forward within the budget that this EQIA accompanies.  
 
The council have so far made savings of £90m to service budgets over the last two years, and the DLUCH appointed Improvement and Assurance Panel have 
been clear that we cannot continue to make cuts at this level. 
 
The council recognises that this is a significant increase, and that the scale of our financial problems means that we must look at every option possible to protect 
vital services. In addition, it is important that all residents are supported to pay the council tax due for their households. The council has a Council Tax Support 
Scheme in place to support those on low incomes and has proposed as part of this budget an additional £2m Hardship Fund from 2023/24 onwards which will be 
available for households struggling to pay the council tax increase to access. The council takes an ethical approach to council tax collection focussing on 
collecting debts swiftly from households that can pay and supporting households that are struggling to make ends meet. In response to questions from the 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee, details of the council’s approach to debt collection are attached as Annex A to this EQIA. 
 
As of July 2022, there were 7,028 low-income families in Croydon where their monthly income is below their estimated costs.  (This figure represents households 
that claim benefit through the council, only).  If costs were increased by £19.62 a month for these households (this is by working out a monthly 15% increase on 
a Croydon band D house) then there would be a further 262 households with a monthly income below their estimated costs.  There are mitigations being put in 
place to support these households, and those like them, which can be found in section 5 of this Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
 
Proposed savings, demand pressures, and inflation. 
 
Adult Social Care accounts for more expenditure at Croydon than any other service (31% of net budget).  The pressures in this area are felt across the country.  
However, we know that our cost base is too high and we can learn from other Councils.  Working closely with an external LGA Adults and Finance expert, we 
have reviewed every aspect of our savings and transformation plan, and modelled these based on LGA recommendations.  
 
 

P
age 465



 
The service offer remains the same, and as outlined in the principles below: 
 
• Our adult social care services reflect the relevant legislation underpinning social care and health through the Care Act (2014). 
• All packages are assessed or reviewed, proportionately, through a strengths based approach, considering safeguarding, to meet the needs of the 
individual and carers. 
• Residents can access appropriate services provided in-house or commissioned by the Council, or delivered independently by the voluntary and 
community sector. 
• Where people have the financial means to pay a contribution, or to pay for their care in full, this will be in line with the self-funding legislations outlined in 
the Care Act and wider National policy. 
 
Within Council services supporting Children, Young People, Families and Education there are a range of proposals to improve the effectiveness of services, with 
practices improvements, restructures and service efficiencies.  These are not expected to have an impact on residents/clients.  Where there are restructures, 
separate EQIAs will be undertaken to understand the impact on staff, and this will be shared with trade unions and affected staff.  
 
Legacy financial issues and budget corrections 
 
The legacy financial issues that Croydon Council are facing are well documented, and form part of the rationale behind both the proposed Council Tax increase, 
and the proposed savings already referred to.  Within the Revenue Budget there are also a number of accounting proposals to ensure that services are funded 
at the appropriate level, from the appropriate budget(s). 
 
A significant proportion of the budget proposals are accounting corrections and amendments.  Whilst these have an impact on the budget overall, they do not 
directly impact on service changes, and therefore do not impact on protected characteristics. 
 
Fees & Charges:  See separate EQIA 
 
Residents and customers currently pay specific fees and charges for a wide range of activities and services such as building control services, planning 
application, land charges fees, leisure activities, care related charges etc. Some of these fees and charges are set nationally and the council is legally required to 
adopt these levels, whilst other fees and charges are set at levels using the council’s discretion.  The Council has a need to balance its budget which an increase 
in fees would support.  The Council is also mindful of the impact of an increase on the residents that it delivers its services to may have. 
 
A separate EQIA has recently been completed solely focusing on Fees and Charges. 
 
There are mitigations in place which the Council currently provide to support those in need and these are detailed in section five of this Equality Impact 
Assessment. 
 
Conversations with Central Government 
 
DLUHC and the Improvement and Assurance Panel have been fully involved in the discussion around the council tax increase and agree that this is the next 
step to take, along with Central Government continuing to support the council financially. 

P
age 466



 
 
3.  Impact of the proposed change  
  
Important Note: It is necessary to determine how each of the protected groups could be impacted by the proposed change. Who benefits and how (and who, 
therefore doesn’t and why?) Summarise any positive impacts or benefits, any negative impacts and any neutral impacts and the evidence you have taken into 
account to reach this conclusion.  Be aware that there may be positive, negative and neutral impacts within each characteristic.    
Where an impact is unknown, state so.  If there is insufficient information or evidence to reach a decision you will need to gather appropriate quantitative and 
qualitative information from a range of sources e.g. Croydon Observatory a useful source of information such as Borough Strategies and Plans, Borough and 
Ward Profiles, Joint Strategic Health Needs Assessments  http://www.croydonobservatory.org/  Other sources include performance monitoring reports, complaints, 
survey data, audit reports, inspection reports, national research and feedback gained through engagement with service users, voluntary and community 
organisations and contractors.  
  
3.1  Deciding whether the potential impact is positive or negative        
  
Table 1 – Positive/Negative impact  
 For each protected characteristic group show whether the impact of the proposed change on service users and/or staff is positive 

or negative by briefly outlining the nature of the impact in the appropriate column.  If it is decided that analysis is not relevant to 
some groups, this should be recorded and explained.  In all circumstances you should list the source of the evidence used to 
make this judgement where possible.  
 
PLEASE NOTE:  As this report covers a wide range of Council services, the equalities impact caused by a change in charges will 
differ in line with the service in question, and the demographics of those individuals &/or communities who use or benefit from the 
service.   
 
This EQIA addresses the general impact of a review of fees and charges, along with any planned mitigations to the impact on 
groups and individuals that share protected characteristics and utilises data currently available.   
 
The fees and charges subject to increase will impact on all residents that use those services, some fees and charges will have 
more of an impact on some characteristics than others and are detailed below.  Mitigating actions are in place for all of these and 
detailed in later in the EQIA. 
 
 

Protected characteristic 
group(s)  

  

Negative Impact  Positive impact Source of evidence  

Age   
The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 may have an impacts that 
vary across this protected characteristic 

The budget seeks to 
reduce spend on looked 
after children 
placements.  Less 
children will be exposed 

 
 
Croydon’s population continues to age with those over 
65 increasing by 19.7% since the 2011 Census. The 

P
age 467

http://www.croydonobservatory.org/


group. In some cases the impact may be 
significantly greater than for other residents. 
 
 
The mitigations for any potential negative 
impacts listed below are laid out in section 
five of this report.  
 
As set out in the separate EQIA, there are 
fees that may affect younger / older 
residents more.  However, the impact is 
considered to be low as the fee increase is 
below overall inflation levels.  In relation to 
adult social care, financial assessments are 
in place for these services. 
 
Savings are proposed from placement costs 
for looked after children.  This is primarily 
achieved through gatekeeping controls on 
costs at the point of identifying suitable 
placements; ensuring effective support is 
provided to enable children to remain living 
at home or within their wider family 
network.   
 
Proposed savings may impact upon 
provision for 18-25 year olds with no 
recourse to public funds, with an All Rights 
Exhausted immigration status.  The 
approach is to ensure that accommodation 
and subsistence is provided to former UASC 
young people in line with legislation and 
home office guidance.  

Savings are proposed through the removal 
of Non-Contractual Overtime (NCO) – there 
is a possibility that NCO is largely 
undertaken by certain roles within the 
council which may impact some groups 
more than others.  For example, NCO is 
less common in senior roles.  Therefore this 
may have a negative impact on some of our 

to the negative impacts of 
being ‘in care’. 

Changes to the fostering 
service will see fostering 
hubs set up around the 
borough to support foster 
carers better, as well as 
the children in their 
care.  Foster carers are 
being included in the 
information gathering 
stages to inform this. 

 

median age also increased by two years, from 35 to 37 
years of age. 
 
The borough data regarding age is as follows:  
 

• 97,900 0-19 year olds.  This is the highest in 
London. (2021 Census) 

• 239,700 20-64 year olds.  This is the highest in 
London.  (2021 Census) 

• 53,100 65+ year olds.  This is the 3rd highest in 
London.  (2021 Census) 

 

P
age 468



junior colleagues, who – on average – are 
younger. 

Proposed changes to Youth Services may 
see a reduction in provision for young 
people. 

Disability   The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 may have an impact on this 
protected characteristic group that is 
significantly greater than any other resident. 
 
Where a claimant or partner are disabled 
and not working a deduction may be 
introduced for any other adult living in the 
property. 
 
For Disabled claims where the claimant or 
partner are working they may be impacted, 
along with all other working age claims by 
the final outcome on the proposal to change 
the rate by which the income bands are 
increased 
 
The mitigations for any potential negative 
impacts listed below are laid out in section 
five of this report. 
 
External factors mean some disabled 
residents face higher costs in areas such as 
energy use, which may in turn impact their 
ability to meet any increased costs proposed 
by Croydon Council. 
 
In terms of Council Tax increases it is 
reasonable to expect those already in 
receipt of Council Tax Support to be further 
impacted by a rise in Council Tax, the 
mitigating factors shown later in the EQIA 
will therefore be essential to supporting this 
group of residents. 
 

 

 
 
Employment rates for disabled people, across all 
ages, are significantly lower than those of non-
disabled people.  
 
The employment of disabled people 2021 - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 
 
 In 28% of Council Tax Support claims either the 
claimant or partner are disabled and neither are in 
work, and 3% of claims are classified as disabled 
working claims meaning either the claimant or partner 
are disabled and either are in work.     
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 
 
 
 
 

P
age 469

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021#:~:text=Employment%20rates%20for%20disabled%20people,where%20they%20start%20to%20decrease.
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021/the-employment-of-disabled-people-2021#:~:text=Employment%20rates%20for%20disabled%20people,where%20they%20start%20to%20decrease.


The proposed closures of the Cherry Hub 
garden centre and Whitehorse centre are 
likely to have a negative impact on people 
with a learning disability: 
 
The service provides a specialised 
opportunity in the form of supported 
volunteering which may be difficult to 
replicate even in alternative volunteer 
opportunities such as charity shops. 
 
The proposed closure may affect the needs 
of carers / family of those attending if the 
alternative offered is not accepted or 
transition to a new service is not successful.  
 

Sex   The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 are unlikely to have any 
impact on this protected characteristic group 
that is greater than any other resident 
unless a service is utilised by one sex one 
sex more than another. 
 
A separate EQIA has been completed in 
relation to fees and charges, where there 
may be some impact on this protected 
characteristic. 
 

  
203,000 (51.9%) residents in Croydon are female and 
187,600 are male (48.1%). 
 
(Source 2021 Census) 
 
Of 16,260 Council Tax Support single claims by 
females, 11,795 are from working age claimants and 
of the 6,263 male claims 4,187 are working age.  
These claimants will be effected by the change to the 
amount the income bands will be increased.   
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 
 

Gender reassignment/ 
identity    

The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 are unlikely to have any 
impact on this protected characteristic group 
that is greater than any other resident. 
 
A separate EQIA has been completed in 
relation to fees and charges, where there 
may be some impact on this protected 
characteristic. 
  

 
 

According to the ONS Census 2021, of all the Croydon 
residents aged 16 years and over who responded, 
91.6% stated that their gender identity was the same 
as their sex registered at birth. 
 
7.5% of those who responded did not answer the 
gender identity question 
Only 0.9% stated that they had a different gender 
identity.  
 
 

P
age 470



Marriage or Civil 
Partnership   

The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 are unlikely to have any 
impact on this protected characteristic group 
that is greater than any other resident. 
 
The changes in registrars’ fees will impact 
on individuals from all characteristics who 
have with the intention of entering into 
marriage or civil partnership.  This is 
detailed in the separate Fees and Charges 
EQIA. 
 
 

  
Wedding costs – source: 
https://www.compareweddinginsurance.org.uk/blog/av
erage-cost-uk-wedding.php 
 
The borough data on marital status is as follows: 
 

• 32.8% Married 
• 34.1% Single 
• 8.5% Divorced or Separated3.7% Widowed 
• 20.6% No response to question 

 
493 people were registered in a same sex civil 
partnership 
279 people were registered in an opposite sex civil 
partnership. 
 
(Source: Census 2021) 
 
4107 (15%) claims of Croydon’s Council Tax Support 
Scheme current case load are those made by couples, 
the remaining 22,559 (85%) are from single claimants.   
  
Whether or not the couples are married or in a civil 
partnership, or are unmarried partners does not affect 
the way the claims are calculated.  We do not hold 
specific details regarding if a couple are married or not 
as we do not ask that specific question in our application 
form, rather if they have a partner. 
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 

Religion or belief   The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 are unlikely to have any 
impact on this protected characteristic group 
that is greater than any other resident. 
 
The changes in bereavement fees may 
impact residents based on their religion or 
belief.    This is detailed in the separate 
Fees and Charges EQIA.  The fee increases 
are below inflation and the percentage 

 The predominant religion of Croydon is Christianity. 
According to the 2021 census, the borough has over 
190,880 Christians (48.9%), 40,717 Muslims (10.4%) 
and 23,145 Hindu (5.9%) residents. 
101,119 (25.9%) Croydon residents stated that they 
are atheist or non-religious in the 2021 Census. 
6.9% did not answer the question on religion. 
 

P
age 471



change between burial and cremation is 
consistent.  
 

 

Race  The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 may have an impact on this 
protected characteristic group that is 
significantly greater than any other resident. 
 
Residents who identify as Black are the 
largest group in receipt of Council Tax 
support (although nearly half of recipients 
have not declared).  
 
In respect of Housing Benefit support, the 
risk that the resident or landlord does not 
meet the criteria and that they can no longer 
stay in the property is more likely to affect 
Black African and Black Caribbean 
claimants as they make up the largest 
percentage of the caseload (excluding the 
unknown category) 
 
The proposal to reduce Non-Contractual 
Overtime (NCO) may impact officers sharing 
this protected characteristic as there is a 
possibility that NCO is largely undertaken by 
certain roles within the council which may 
impact some groups more than others.  For 
example, workforce data shows that our 
workforce is less diverse in more senior 
roles.  NCO is less common in senior 
roles.  Therefore this may have a negative 
impact on Global Majority officers. however 
this will be mitigated in appropriate planning, 
reviews and consultation.  Risks and issues 
associated with this will be managed within 
the appropriate project resource 
 
 
 
 

  
 
Broad Ethnic Group Changes in Croydon  
from Census 2011 to Census 2021 
 
 White Black  Asian  Mixed Other 
2011 55.1

% 
20.2
% 

16.4
% 

6.6% 1.8% 

2021 48.4
% 

22.6
% 

17.5
% 

7.65 3.9% 

 
 
 
In 2021, 22.6% of Croydon residents identified their 
ethnic group within the "Black, Black British, Black 
Welsh, Caribbean or African" category, up from 20.2% 
in 2011. The 2.5 percentage-point change was the 
largest increase among high-level ethnic groups in this 
area. 
 
Across London, the percentage of people from the 
"Black, Black British, Black Welsh, Caribbean or 
African" ethnic group increased from 13.3% to 13.5%, 
while across England the percentage increased from 
3.5% to 4.2%. 
 
In 2021, 48.4% of people in Croydon identified their 
ethnic group within the "White" category (compared 
with 55.1% in 2011), while 17.5% identified their ethnic 
group within the "Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh" 
category (compared with 16.4% the previous decade). 
 
The percentage of people who identified their ethnic 
group within the "Mixed or Multiple" category 
increased from 6.6% in 2011 to 7.6% in 2021. 
 
Languages in Croydon 
 

P
age 472



A separate EQIA has been completed in 
relation to fees and charges, where there 
may be some impact on this protected 
characteristic.  However, the impact is 
considered to be low. 
 
Where service data is held there is not 
currently a proposal within the revenue 
budget that negatively impacts on racial 
group over any other. 

According to the Census 2021,  
• 84.0% of the residents who can speak in 

Croydon speak English as their first language. 
• 7.8% speak a European language. 
• 6.3% speak an Asian language. 

 
Mayor urges Government to tackle the cost of living 
crisis | London City Hall 
 
December 2022 - GLA YouGov Cost of living poll 
results.pdf (airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-
1.amazonaws.com) 
 
Where a Council Tax Support Scheme claimant has 
provided their race this has been recorded and the 
current caseload is broken down as follows:   

  
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 

P
age 473

https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-warning-over-the-cost-of-living-crisis
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-warning-over-the-cost-of-living-crisis
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/gla-poll-results-cost-of-living-2022/2023-01-06T18%3A04%3A28/December%202022%20-%20GLA%20YouGov%20Cost%20of%20living%20poll%20results.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20230124%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20230124T164505Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=b5cfa84f6e8d9ff2f439ce0383a643637e3b81797b6c889dd2b2b7bde440f25d&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/gla-poll-results-cost-of-living-2022/2023-01-06T18%3A04%3A28/December%202022%20-%20GLA%20YouGov%20Cost%20of%20living%20poll%20results.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20230124%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20230124T164505Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=b5cfa84f6e8d9ff2f439ce0383a643637e3b81797b6c889dd2b2b7bde440f25d&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host
https://airdrive-secure.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/london/dataset/gla-poll-results-cost-of-living-2022/2023-01-06T18%3A04%3A28/December%202022%20-%20GLA%20YouGov%20Cost%20of%20living%20poll%20results.pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAJJDIMAIVZJDICKHA%2F20230124%2Feu-west-1%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20230124T164505Z&X-Amz-Expires=300&X-Amz-Signature=b5cfa84f6e8d9ff2f439ce0383a643637e3b81797b6c889dd2b2b7bde440f25d&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host


Sexual Orientation   Our data does not identify that any of the 
proposed changes are anticipated to impact 
this protected characteristic group more 
than other residents with regard to the 
majority of services. However we are 
improving our data collection and usage in 
this area to ensure that our services pay due 
regard to sexual orientation.  
 

  
According to the ONS Census 2021, of the residents 
aged 16 years and over who responded to the survey: 
 

• 87.8% self-classified as Straight or 
Heterosexual. 

• 1.5% stated they were Gay. 
• 1.2% stated they were Bi-Sexual 
• 0.4% stated All other sexual orientations 
• 9.1% did not respond to the question 

Within the current Council Tax Support Scheme case 
load there are 4107 claims made by couples, of those 
29 are from couples where each partner is of the same 
sex.  
We do not ask for details of claimants sexual 
orientation as part of the application process, so are 
unable to identify the breakdown for those who have 
made a single application form. 
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 

Pregnancy or Maternity   The Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
Levels 2023/24 may impact residents that 
are pregnant or on maternity if they are not 
working.  
 
However, additional benefits are provided 
for residents in this situation and therefore 
the proposed changes are expected to have 
minimal impact. 
 
Due regard will be taken to ensure that any 
proposed organisational restructure in early 
years support considers impact on 
pregnancy/maternity through a separate 
equality impact assessment.  
  

A proposal to create 
Family Hubs – bringing 
services closer to families 
may provide benefit to 
those on maternity. 
 

Maternity leave: Cost of living crisis highlights need for 
support (personneltoday.com) 
 
There were 5,252 births in Croydon in 2020. 
An estimated 30,000 women lose their jobs as a result 
of pregnancy every year, according to the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission (EHRC).  
 
We currently have 38 active Council Tax Support 
Scheme claims where the claimant or partner are in 
receipt of maternity pay which is recorded on our 
system.   
We do not record if someone is pregnant at the time of 
application. 
 
(Source: Croydon Council Tax Support Scheme EQIA, 
2023) 

P
age 474

https://www.personneltoday.com/hr/maternity-leave-cost-of-living/
https://www.personneltoday.com/hr/maternity-leave-cost-of-living/


 Note: Data disaggregating level of service use by protected characteristic group is unavailable or available in sufficient granularity 
to draw conclusions in many cases. This will be explored and refined iteratively to inform mitigating strategies wherever practical 
to do so. 
 
Important note: You must act to eliminate any potential negative impact which, if it occurred would breach the Equality Act 2010.  
In some situations, this could mean abandoning your proposed change as you may not be able to take action to mitigate all 
negative impacts.   
 
See Mitigations and data held in Appendix 3. 
  
When you act to reduce any negative impact or maximise any positive impact, you must ensure that this does not create a 
negative impact on service users and/or staff belonging to groups that share protected characteristics.  Please use table 4 to 
record actions that will be taken to remove or minimise any potential negative impact   

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
 
 
3.2  Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change      
  
Table 2 – Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change  
If you need to undertake further research and data gathering to help determine the likely impact of the proposed change, outline the information needed in 
this table.  Please use the table below to describe any consultation with stakeholders and summarise how it has influenced the proposed change. Please 
attach evidence or provide link to appropriate data or reports:  

Additional information needed and or Consultation Findings  Information source  Date for completion  
The council’s current data collection of protect characteristics is weak in some 
areas and rich in others.  We are currently carrying out a project to tackle this 
imbalance with the support of the Head of Profession for Business Intelligence and 
the Equalities Manager as well as analysts and services across the organisation.   
 
The Corporate Management Team and the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Board 
are the driving force behind this work stream.   
 
Currently an ‘as is’ exercise is taking place to identify areas of weakness in 
collection that needs to be addressed.  This will be followed by a ‘to be’ looking at 
the information across the council that we will want to collect and how we go about 
doing this.  Due to having to implement new process for collection this project will 
take place in phases. 

Index of Deprivation by Lower Layer Super 
Output Areas (gov.uk).  

Other data sources to be identified and 
investigated.  

Iterative 

 
For guidance and support with consultation and engagement visit https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-
andhttps://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultationengagement/starting-engagement-
or-consultation   
  

P
age 475

https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation
https://intranet.croydon.gov.uk/working-croydon/communications/consultation-and-engagement/starting-engagement-or-consultation


 
3.3  Impact scores  
  
Example   
If we are going to reduce parking provision in a particular location, officers will need to assess the equality impact as follows;  
  

1. Determine the Likelihood of impact.  You can do this by using the key in table  5 as a guide, for the purpose of this example, the likelihood of impact 
score is 2 (likely to impact)  

2. Determine the Severity of impact.  You can do this by using the key in table 5 as a guide, for the purpose of this example, the Severity of impact score 
is also 2 (likely to impact )  

3. Calculate the equality impact score using table 4 below and the formula Likelihood x Severity and record it in table 5, for the purpose of this example - 
Likelihood (2) x Severity (2) = 4   

  
  
Table 4 – Equality Impact Score 

  
3  

  
3  

  
6  

  
9  

  
2  

  
2  

  
4  

  
6  

   
1  

  
1  

  
2  

  
3  

Key    
  

  
1  

  
2  

  
3  

 

  
Likelihood of Impact   

Risk Index  Risk Magnitude  
– 9  High  
– 5  Medium   
– 3  Low  

   
   

   
Se

ve
rit

y 
of

 Im
pa

ct
 P

age 476



   

Equality Analysis  
    

15  
  

Table 3 – Impact scores  
Note: The data to populate is table is not available to inform the Equality Impact Score. Evidence for the above is drawn from the Index of Deprivation 
Score for the 5% most deprived areas in the country and should not be used to draw conclusions. Further research is planned to develop a more reliable 
indicator. And as stated previously, individual fee changes will require their own assessment, the table below represents a generic view: 
 
The scores below have been taken on the basis of the Council Tax decision impacting on all residents, and therefore impacting on residents 
with protected characteristics.  These scores are not intended to suggest that protected characteristic groups will be impacted more than 
others. 
 

Column 1  
  

PROTECTED GROUP  

Column 2  
  

LIKELIHOOD OF IMPACT SCORE  
  

Use the key below to score the 
likelihood of the proposed change 
impacting each of the protected groups, 
by inserting either 1, 2, or 3 against 
each protected group.  
  
1 = Unlikely to impact  
2 = Likely to impact  
3 = Certain to impact  

Column 3  
  

SEVERITY OF IMPACT SCORE  
  

Use the key below to score the 
severity of impact of the proposed 
change on each of the protected 
groups, by inserting either 1, 2, or 3 
against each protected group.  
  
1 = Unlikely to impact  
2 = Likely to impact  
3 = Certain to impact   

Column 4  
  

EQUALITY IMPACT SCORE  
  

Calculate the equality impact score for 
each protected group by multiplying 
scores in column 2 by scores in column 
3. Enter the results below against each 
protected group.  

  
Equality impact score = likelihood of 
impact score x severity of impact 
score.  

Age   3 2 6 
Disability  3 2 6 
Sex  3 2 6 
Gender reassignment  3 2 6 
Marriage / Civil Partnership  3 2 6 
Race   3 2 6 
Religion or belief  3 2 6 
Sexual Orientation  3 2 6 
Pregnancy or Maternity  3 2 6 

P
age 477



   

Equality Analysis  
    

16  
  

 
4.   Statutory duties  
  
4.1  Public Sector Duties  

Tick the relevant box(es) to indicate whether the proposed change will adversely impact the Council’s ability to meet any of the Public Sector Duties in the 
Equality Act 2010 set out below.    
 
Advancing equality of opportunity between people who belong to protected groups                                     X  
  
Eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation  
  
Fostering good relations between people who belong to protected characteristic groups                             X  
  
Important note: If the proposed change adversely impacts the Council’s ability to meet any of the Public Sector Duties set out above, mitigating actions must 
be outlined in the Action Plan in section 5 below.  

  
  
5.  Action Plan to mitigate negative impacts of proposed change  
Important note: Describe what alternatives have been considered and/or what actions will be taken to remove or minimise any potential negative impact 
identified in Table 1.  Attach evidence or provide link to appropriate data, reports, etc:  
 
 
  

P
age 478



   

Equality Analysis  
    

17  
  

Mitigations 

Residents currently pay Council Tax, and specific fees and charges for a wide range of activities and services such as building control services, planning 
application, car parking, leisure activities, care related charges etc.  An increase in Council Tax will impact all residents who pay, and an increase in fees 
will affect all those in, and out of the borough, who pay to use specific service(s). It appears that there is no significant disproportionate impact on groups 
or individuals that share one or more protected characteristic. With regard to the increase in Council Tax there are four specific key mitigations: 

- The council’s Council Tax Support Scheme for those with a low income 
- The Revenue Budget proposals include plans to introduce a new hardship fund to support residents who are not eligible for Council Tax Support 

but who are finding it hard to make ends meet in these difficult times.  
- A dedicated hub to help with the rising cost of living has also been set up on the Council’s website 
- The council’s ethical approach to council tax collection.   

With regard to the wider increase in fees & charges the Council has in place various schemes to support residents who experience financial difficulty, 
some of whom will fall within the protected characteristic groups and may be affected by the proposed increases, to help mitigate impact.  Listed below 
are some examples of what support is currently available, taken from a wide range of support schemes across the council. 

• The council in partnership with Nimbus Disability offer a discount card to all children and young people on our disability register. The card is free 
and is part of a national access card scheme, giving benefits and discounts to facilities and activities across the country, such as leisure, sports 
and fitness, cinema etc. 

• There are discounted rates for all leisure centre activities for Croydon residents with disabilities. If a disabled person needs a carer with them in 
order to access leisure centre services, the carer is entitled to free entry.  

• Croydon council Leisure Centres offer discounted rates for residents Seniors 60+ years and Juniors 4-15 years 
• Croydon Council Money Advice Service for advice on paying your bills and debt worries. All advice is independent and confidential. 
• Council tax discount for care leavers, single person occupier, residents with disabilities, full-time students. 
• Healthy Homes is Croydon Council’s free energy advice service aimed at Croydon residents on low incomes, and those more vulnerable to the 

effects of living in a cold home (especially families with young children, older residents, and residents with pre-existing medical conditions). 
• The council has a statutory duty to protect those on low or, or no income, and supports with claims for Council Tax support, Housing Benefit, 

Universal Credit. 
• Adult Social Care users are subject to a means tested financial assessment which will assess affordability to contribute to, or not, to service 

provision required (as defined by the Care Act 2014). 

P
age 479

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/get-help-rising-cost-living


   

Equality Analysis  
    

18  
  

The review of Discretionary Housing Placements may impact residents, however a lack of data regarding protected characteristics means it is not 
currently possible to identify any impact to groups sharing protected characteristics at this stage.  Further work will be undertaken by the service to 
improve data collection. In terms of mitigation, every household will be given the appropriate financial support or advice to help them move into 
alternative private rented sector accommodation. 

 

In respect of specific proposals, it is likely that some proposals may result in new policy or service changes.  In this instance each proposal 
will be accompanied by an equality analysis and / or consultation which will inform the final proposal and its implementation, on a case by case 
basis.  

 

Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 

Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 

Age 1. Savings are proposed from 
placement costs for looked after 
children – specific impacts are 
unknown due to the long term 
nature of some of these 
proposals, and the consultations 
that will be required before 
agreeing a definitive course of 
action. 

2. Proposed savings may impact 
upon provision for 18-25 year 
olds with no recourse to public 
funds, with an All Rights 
Exhausted immigration status. 

3. Savings are proposed through 
the removal of Non-Contractual 
Overtime (NCO) – there is a 

1. The Council will continue to meet 
needs and statutory duties, and 
the gatekeeping of such services 
will be governed by policy and 
procedures that ensure fair 
treatment of protected groups 

2. Human rights assessments 
ensure that young people are 
supported in the appropriate 
pathways, provision of 
accommodation subsistence is 
provided appropriately to those in 
need. 

3. This will be mitigated in 
appropriate planning, reviews and 
consultation.  Risks and issues 
associated with this will be 

1. Debbie Jones 
2. Sherry 

Coppin 
3. Dean 

Shoesmith 

1. Proposal specific 
EQIAs from 28/02/23 

2. Proposal specific 
EQIA due 30/04/23 

3. TBC 

P
age 480



   

Equality Analysis  
    

19  
  

Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 

Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 

possibility that NCO is largely 
undertaken by certain roles 
within the council which may 
impact some groups more than 
others.  For example, NCO is 
less common in senior 
roles.  Therefore this may have 
a negative impact on some of 
our junior colleagues, who – on 
average – are younger. 

managed within the appropriate 
project resource. 

 
 

Disability   1. The closure of the Cherry Hub 
garden centre and Whitehorse 
centre services is likely to have a 
negative impact on people with a 
learning disability. 

2. Council Tax Scheme  
Where a claimant or partner are 
disabled and not working a 
deduction may be introduced for 
any other adult living in the 
property  
For Disabled claims where the 
claimant or partner are working 
they may be impacted, along with 
all other working age claims 
depending on the outcome in 
relation to the proposal to change 

1. The mitigation for affected users 
and their cares will be offered 
through consultation to re assess 
their needs ensure that the 
remaining two services are able to 
meet their needs or whether an 
alternative service needs to be 
commissioned and through the 
exploration of alternative service 
which service users could be 
signposted to.  

2. Council Tax Scheme  
Proposal is to exclude any non-
dependents who are receiving 
carers allowance for the claimant 
or partner 

1. Annette 
McPartland 

2. Jane West   

 

1. Proposal specific 
EQIA due end of 
Feb 2023 

2. April 2023 

P
age 481



   

Equality Analysis  
    

20  
  

Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 

Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 

the rate by which the income 
bands are increased. 

 

A hardship fund is available for 
those affected by the changes to 
support with the reduction in 
support 

Sex  1. Council Tax  
 
Of the 16,260 single claims by 
females, 11,795 are from working 
age claimants and of the 6,263 male 
claims 4,187 are working age.  
These claimants may be affected by 
the change to the amount the 
income bands will be increased 
depending on the final decision 
reached by Council. 

 

1. Council Tax  

A hardship fund is available for those 
affected by the changes to support 
with any reduction in benefit. It will 
help to provide transitional support to 
bridge the gap between residents old 
and new entitlement.  

 

N/A N/A 

Gender reassignment / 
identity 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Marriage / Civil 
Partnership 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Sexual orientation N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Race 1. The proposal to reduce Non-
Contractual Overtime (NCO) 
may impact officers sharing this 

1. This will be mitigated in 
appropriate planning, reviews and 
consultation.  Risks and issues 

1. Dean 
Shoesmith 

1. TBC 

P
age 482



   

Equality Analysis  
    

21  
  

Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 

Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 

protected characteristic as there 
is a possibility that NCO is 
largely undertaken by certain 
roles within the council which 
may impact some groups more 
than others.  For example, 
workforce data shows that our 
workforce is less diverse in more 
senior roles.  NCO is less 
common in senior 
roles.  Therefore this may have 
a negative impact on Global 
Majority officers 

 
2. Council Tax:  Residents who 

identify as Black are the largest 
group in receipt of Council Tax 
support (although nearly half of 
recipients have not declared).  

 
3. Housing Benefit Review  
The risk that the resident or landlord 
does not meet the criteria and that 
they can no longer stay in the 
property is more likely to affect Black  
African and Black Caribbean 
claimants as they make up the 

associated with this will be 
managed within the appropriate 
project resource. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Council Tax Scheme  
A hardship fund is available for those 
effected by the changes to support 
with the reduction in benefit. It will 
help to provide transitional support to 
bridge the gap between residents old 
and new entitlement.  

3. Housing Benefit Review  
We will work with providers to support 
them to get up to standard and 
maintain their supported 
accommodation classification.  We 
have sign off to recruit to a new team 

P
age 483



   

Equality Analysis  
    

22  
  

Complete this table to show any negative impacts identified for service users and/or staff from protected groups, and planned actions mitigate them. 

Protected characteristic Negative impact Mitigating action(s) Action owner Date for completion 

largest percentage of the caseload 
(excluding the unknown category) 

 

who will be solely focused on these 
claims and will be able to work with 
providers.   If we can’t classify a 
provider as supported, or a tenant is 
deemed to no longer require this 
accommodation we will work with 
Housing to look for alternative 
accommodation and the tenant will be 
able to claim universal credit to 
support with their housing costs. 

 
Religion or belief N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Pregnancy or maternity N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

  

P
age 484



   

Equality Analysis  
    

23  
  

 
  
Table 6. Decision on proposed change   
  
Based on the information outlined in this Equality Analysis enter X in column 3 (Conclusion) alongside the relevant statement to show your conclusion.  

Decision  Definition  Conclusion -  
Mark ‘X’ 
below   

No major 
change   

Our analysis demonstrates that the policy is robust. The evidence shows no potential for discrimination and we have taken 
all opportunities to advance equality and foster good relations, subject to continuing monitoring and review. If you reach 
this conclusion, state your reasons and briefly outline the evidence used to support your decision.  
 
 
 

 

Adjust the 
proposed 
change   

We will take steps to lessen the impact of the proposed change should it adversely impact the Council’s ability to meet any 
of the Public Sector Duties set out under section 4 above, remove barriers or better promote equality.   We are going to 
take action to ensure these opportunities are realised. If you reach this conclusion, you must outline the actions you 
will take in Action Plan in section 5 of the Equality Analysis form  
 
Whilst changes in fees and charges may impact in some cases, this impact is considered to be minimal as set out in the 
information above. 
Mitigations and adjustments are already in place to support residents that may help them manage debt or financial 
vulnerability detailed.  This includes signposting and discretionary support. 
Service departments will need to collate data on their service users to monitor impact. Some departments will have existing 
service level data regarding some protected characteristics and not others. Where data does not currently exist, each 
service must create an action around collecting data across all protected characteristics. As data is received the EQIA 
should be updated, demonstrating data and evidence where change has been made.  
 
Residents should be provided with details of support organisations in both digital and non-digital formats 
 

X  

P
age 485



   

Equality Analysis  
    

24  
  

Continue the 
proposed 
change   

We will adopt or continue with the change, despite potential for adverse impact or opportunities to lessen the impact of 
discrimination, harassment or victimisation and better advance equality and foster good relations between groups through 
the change.  However, we are not planning to implement them as we are satisfied that our project will not lead to unlawful 
discrimination and there are justifiable reasons to continue as planned.  If you reach this conclusion, you should clearly 
set out the justifications for doing this and it must be in line with the duty to have due regard and how you reached 
this decision.  
 
 

  

Stop or 
amend the 
proposed 
change  

Our change would have adverse effects on one or more protected groups that are not justified and cannot be mitigated.  
Our proposed change must be stopped or amended.   
  
    

  

Will this decision be considered at a scheduled meeting? MAB / Cabinet   Meeting title: Cabinet and Council 
Date: Cabinet:  22 February; Council:  1 March 

  
 
7.  Sign-Off  
  
  
Officers that must 
approve this decision  

  

Equalities Lead  Name:   Gavin Handford 
Date:  15 Feb 2023 
Position: Director of Policy, Programmes & Performance 
  

Corporate Director   Name:   Jane West 
Date:  20 February 2023 
Position: Corporate Director of Resources 

  

P
age 486



   

Equality Analysis  
    

25  
  

Appendix:  Deprivation data 
 

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INFOGRAPHIC 1

In Croydon, 1567 people live amongst the 5% most deprived in the country (Dark 
Blue)

In this area,

50% are male (Croydon 49%)
27% are 0-15 (Croydon 22%)
30% are White ethnic group (Croydon 55%)
35% are Black / African / Caribbean / Black British ethnic group (Croydon 20%)
24% are Asian / Asian British ethnic group (Croydon 16%)
7% are Mixed / multiple ethnic group (Croydon 7%)
4% are Other ethnic group (Croydon 2%)

P
age 487



   

Equality Analysis  
    

26  
  

Appendix:  Croydon Council staff data 
 

 
 

              
 
 
 

P
age 488



   

Equality Analysis  
    

27  
  

 
 
 

 
 

P
age 489



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes
	Draft Minutes, Council, 1 February 2023
	Minutes


	7 Review of Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24
	Appendix 2. Survey_Responses_Report
	Appendix 3. Council Tax Scheme EQIA with sign off
	EqIA1
	Council Tax Support (CTS)
	Reductions, Discounts and Exemptions
	Council Tax Recovery and Enforcement

	Hardship Scheme
	Council Tax Support Transitional Funding 2022/23 & 2023/24
	Council Tax Support Fund 2023/24
	Council Tax Hardship Scheme 2023/24
	Household Support Fund 2022/23
	Discretionary Housing Payment
	Interest Free Budget Loan
	Croydon Health Homes
	Free school meals
	Partner Referrals – Vulnerability & Debt Advice


	8 Croydon Pay Policy Statement 2023/24
	Appendix 1 Croydon Council Pay Policy Statement - 2023-24
	Appendix 1a
	Appendix 1b
	Appendix 1c
	Appendix 1c
	Allowances and Mileage Rates
	This will be paid in accordance with the HMRC approved amount which is 20p per mile.
	Change of Vehicle

	Appendix 1d
	1.	Scope and purpose of scheme
	2.	General
	3.	Early retirement by reason of redundancy
	4.       Redundancy
	5.	Early retirement in the interests of the efficiency of the service
	6.	  Complying with legislation
	7.	Data protection
	Appendix 1: “ready reckoner” for statutory redundancy pay

	Appendix 1e

	9 Scheme of Members' Allowances
	Appendix 1 - Scheme of Members Allowances Annual Increase
	Appendix 1A Basic and SRA Allowances
	Appendix 2 - Scheme of Members Allowances 2023-24
	Appendix 3 - Proposed 2023-24 Scheme with tracked changes
	Appendix 4 - IRP 2022

	10 Council Tax and Budget Report
	Appendix B - Council Tax Rec live
	Recommendations for Council Tax Requirement 2023/24
	(G) to which is added the following precept (issued by the Mayor of London, in exercise of the powers conferred on him by sections 82, 83, 85, 86, 88 to 90, 92 and 93 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (“the 1999 Act”) and sections 40, 47 and 48 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“1992 Act”)

	Appendix C - Budget Forecast
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.1
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.2
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.3
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.4
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.5
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.6
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.7
	Appendix D - Budget Changes.8
	Appendix E - Scrutiny response to Cabinet on Budget proposals
	2.	BUDGET SCRUTINY PROCESS 2023-24
	2.1.	Although the Scrutiny & Overview Committee first considered a report on the setting of the 2023-24 budget at its meeting on 6 December 2023, the Committee had prioritised monitoring the delivery of 2022-23 budget earlier in the year.  The Financial Monitoring Reports prepared for Cabinet have also been considered at meetings of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee, in addition to a report on the ‘Opening the Books’ process commissioned by Mayor Perry. This has allowed the Committee to identify key areas of risk it wanted to scrutinise in greater detail and provided reassurance that the Council was effectively managing its in-year budget.
	2.2.	In advance of the first budget scrutiny meeting on 6 December 2022, members of the Committee received two training sessions on best practice for budget scrutiny, delivered by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny and the Local Government Association respectively.  The Committee also received a briefing from the Council’s Section 151 Officer on the key budget principles and the approach to setting the budget prior to the meeting on 29 November 2022.
	2.3.	At the Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 6 December 2022, consideration was given to the 2023-24 Budget and the Three Year Medium Term Financial Strategy report. From its discussion of the information provided, the Committee identified a number of areas for further investigation, including reviewing the support provided by the Council to the voluntary & community sector and a deep dive on transformation projects to provide reassurance that a robust framework was in place for these projects and that they were properly resourced.
	2.4.	The Scrutiny & Overview Committee met again on 30 January 2023, to receive these reports on Transformation Project Deep Dives, and Voluntary Community & Faith Sector Support. The Committee welcomed confirmation from both the Council and Croydon Voluntary Action of their commitment to building a deeper relationship between the Council and the voluntary, community, and faith sector in the borough. However, serious concern was raised about whether new ways of working would be in place in time to support organisations with the transition away from the Community Fund when it ended in March 2023. In conclusion, the Committee stressed that tangible support plans needed to be a priority and treated with urgency to prevent the risk to services and activities being lost.
	2.5.	On the Transformation item, the Committee concluded it would like to see further evidence of the transformation programmes being mapped out with key milestones and timelines, once available. For example, the two projects reviewed by the Committee were still in their infancy and in the process of being mapped out. This meant that any assurance on these projects would need to be reserved until further information was available. Given the urgent and important role transformation needs to play in helping turn the Council around, more work needs to be done to create concrete delivery plans behind the aspirations.
	2.6.	The Committee welcomed confirmation that the Programme Management Office was leading a project to introduce a new project management system, as it was agreed that improved reporting was essential to ensuring there was a robust system in place to monitor the various transformation projects. Members were also supportive of the decision not to include savings targets, attributed to the transformation projects in the 30 November 2022 Cabinet report, in the 2023-24 budget unless it was clear how they would be delivered in the next year.
	2.7.	The four scrutiny Sub-Committees (Children & Young People, Health & Social Care, Streets & Environment, and Homes) each met with the respective Cabinet Members and Corporate Directors for their relevant remits to identify key areas of risk to review at their meetings in January/February 2023. The areas scrutinised were:-
	3.	CONCLUSIONS OF THE SCRUTINY & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ON THE BUDGET 2023-24 PROPOSALS
	4	APPENDICES
	5	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

	Appendix F Revenue Budget and Council Tax Levels 2023-24
	Appendix F1
	F2.1
	F2.2
	F2.3
	F2.4
	F2.5
	F2.6
	F2.7
	F2.8
	Appendix F3
	Appendix F4
	Appendix F5
	Appendix F6
	Appendix F7
	Appendix F8.1
	Appendix G Capital Programme and Capital Strategy 2022-23 to 2026-27
	Appendix G1
	Appendix H Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum
	Appendix I
	1.1 	Purpose of Equality Analysis
	2.1 Purpose of proposed change
	3.1 	Deciding whether the potential impact is positive or negative
	Table 1 – Positive/Negative impact

	3.2 	Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change
	Table 2 – Additional information needed to determine impact of proposed change
	Table 4 – Equality Impact Score
	Key

	4.1 	Public Sector Duties
	Table 6. Decision on proposed change




